

Assessment of the Potential of Probiotics to Impact Upon Dementia Onset and Progression

Sophie Elizabeth Thomas

Division of Infection and Immunity, School of Medicine, Cardiff University

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Philosophy

February 2022

This project was funded by Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS) in partnership with Cardiff University and Cultech Ltd.

Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS) is a pan-Wales higher level skills initiative led by Bangor University on behalf of the HE sector in Wales. It is part funded by the Welsh Government's European Social Fund (ESF) convergence programme for West Wales and the Valleys.

Word count: 34,725

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank both of my supervisors Dr Tim Hughes and Dr Tom Webberley for their guidance and support throughout this project. Thank you both for putting up with my constant questions, stress and worries. You have taught me so much over the years that I have known you both and I will be forever grateful for the opportunities you have provided me with. I would also like to say thank you to Dr Gaynor Smith for her input in this project.

This project was carried out with Cultech Ltd. as the industrial partner. I would like to thank Dr Sue Plummer at Cultech Ltd. for allowing me to spend most of my time during this project in the labs at Cultech, providing useful feedback and for being so accommodating, especially during a global pandemic. I would like to thank Dr Jordanna Dally for imparting all of her cell culture wisdom to me. I would like to thank Josh Kerry-Smith and Megan Rees for their support and for providing comic relief during some very stressful moments in the TC lab. I would also like to thank all my other colleagues at Cultech Ltd. for their help and support, with a special thank you to Tamsin, Victoria, Rhiannon, Niall and Harry for being so welcoming and friendly throughout my time spent there.

I would like to thank the staff at BIOSERV in Cardiff University for providing training for my animal license and for their support in the animal facility. Thank you to Caroline Fahey for taking such good care of the mice during their time there. I would also like to thank Dr Mathew Clement for his help and expert guidance with the flow cytometry work that was carried out.

I would like to thank my mum Tracey for all the words of encouragement, love and hugs she has given me through every step of this process. I would like to thank my dad Stuart for all the many walks and head clearing discussions we have shared during this time. You both mean the world to me and I hope to continue making you both proud. I would also like to thank my grandparents for their continued support in my academic endeavours and for always believing in my abilities, especially in the moments when I do not.

I would like to thank my friends for their unwavering support, calming advice and patience with me throughout my masters. A special thank you to Emily Harding for always being at the other end of the phone and for checking in on me during the rough patches, I don't know what I would do without you.

Finally, I would like to thank Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarship (KESS) for providing the funding for this project. It has been such a rewarding and insightful learning experience and I am incredibly grateful for this opportunity.

Project summary

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a major neurodegenerative condition affecting over 44 million people worldwide. Cases are projected to continue rising due to the increase in life expectancy of the global population. Current treatments that are available are not very effective and are often targeted at treating symptoms rather than preventing initial disease onset and progression. Therefore, finding an alternative therapeutic strategy to ease the socio-economic burden of the disease is vital.

Gut function is critical for maintaining our overall health. The intestines contain trillions of bacteria that exist in a well-balanced ratio. Any upset of this ratio due to poor diet or stress can result in dysbiosis which has been closely linked to AD. Dysbiosis may result in the induction of the inflammatory response and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. This increase in systemic inflammation has also been shown to contribute to the onset and severity of AD. In order to counteract dysbiosis, probiotics may be used as a means of replenishing the microbiome to give rise to a more desirable gut environment, which in turn may improve inflammatory status and potentially slow the progression of AD.

Previous work has suggested that bacterial based probiotics are beneficial to the 3xTg AD mouse model by showing improved neuronal cell survival, behaviour and inflammation status after supplementation. Based on these findings, this thesis aims to assess the impact of the Lab4 consortia of probiotics on key immune cells in the brain, known as microglia, in order to investigate the mechanisms behind these previous beneficial results and to determine if probiotics have the potential to impact upon microglial function using *in vitro* and *in vivo* techniques.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Project summary	iv
Table of contents	v
List of figures	viii
List of tables	xi
List of abbreviations	xii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Alzheimer's disease	2
1.1.1 Prevalence of AD	2
1.1.2 AD symptoms, pathology and mechanisms	2
1.1.3 Factors determining AD onset	
1.1.4 Current AD therapeutics	
1.2 Inflammation in AD	
1.2.1 The role of microglia	
1.3 The gut	19
1.3.1 The gut microbiome	
1.3.2 The microbiome-gut-brain axis	
1.3.3 Immunity and the gut	
1.3.4 Links between the gut microbiome, aging and AD	
1.4 Probiotics	29
1.4.1 Potential health benefits of probiotics	30
1.5 Research question, hypothesis and aims	
Chapter 2. Materials and methods	
2.1 Cell culture and experimental seeding	35
2.2 Crystal violet assay	
2.3 Lab4 consortia of probiotics	
2.4 Conditioned media preparation	
2.5 Synthetic amyloid <i>in vitro</i> assays	
2.6 RT-qPCR	
2.7 Animal cohort	
2.8 Mouse serum generation	39
2.9 Mouse behavioural testing	40

2.10 Use of EthoVision XT [™] for behavioural analysis	. 41
2.11 Isolation of cells from mouse brains	. 42
2.12 Preparation of cells for flow cytometry	. 43
2.13 Use of FlowJo [™] software for flow cytometry analysis	. 44
2.14 Statistical analysis	. 45

•	
3.1 Introduction	48
3.2 Results	53
3.2.1 Determining optimum conditions for in vitro experimentation with BV-2 cells	53
3.2.2 Assessment of BV-2 cell viability in response to Lab4b and Lab4P p conditioned media	robiotic 55
3.2.3 Assessment of changes in BV-2 gene expression in response to Lab4b and conditioned media	Lab4P 57
3.2.4 Effects of low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned me BV-2 cells	edia on 63
3.3 Discussion	68
3.3.1 Summary of data	68
3.3.2 Induction of high Levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to Lab4b Lab4P probiotic conditioned media	and 70
3.3.3 Use of crystal violet assay for BV-2 cell viability	72
3.3.4 Use and limitations of the BV-2 cell line	73
3.3.5 Conclusion	77

4.1 Introduction7	9
4.2 Results	0
4.2.1 Assessment of food and water intake of C57BL/6J fed control or Lab4P supplemented chow for two-weeks	0
4.2.2 Morphometric analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice fed a Lab4P supplemented chow diet for two weeks	51
4.2.3 Behavioural assessment of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P ir chow diet for two-weeks	า 3
4.2.4 Flow cytometric analysis of homogenised wild-type mouse brains	5
4.3 Discussion	3
4.3.1 Summary of data10	3

4.3.2 Use of young wild-type mice	105
4.3.3 Length of study and dose of probiotic1	106
4.3.4 Behavioural analysis 1	107
4.3.5 Use of flow cytometry	109
4.3.6 Conclusion	111

Chapter 5. Assessment of BV-2 microglial cell response to mouse serum and amyloid (1-42) challenge

1-42) challenge	113
5.1 Introduction	114
5.2 Results	115
5.2.1 Assessment of BV-2 gene expression in response to control and Lab4P treate mouse serum	əd 115
5.2.2 BV-2 cell response to synthetic amyloid β (1-42) treatment	118
5.2.3 Assessment of the effects of mouse serum on BV-2 cells with the addition of synthetic amyloid β (1-42) challenge	121
5.3 Discussion	123
5.3.1 Summary of data	123
5.3.2 Impact of Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 gene expression in the presence of amyloid (1-42)	127
5.3.3 Use of mouse serum	129
5.3.4 Use of DMSO solubilised synthetic amyloid (1-42)	130
5.3.5 Conclusion	132

C	hapter 6. General discussion 1	
	6.1 Project summary	135
	6.2 Summary of main research findings	136
	6.3 Future work	136
	6.3.1 Further work in vitro	136
	6.3.2 Further work <i>in vivo</i>	142
	6.4 Context and long-term impact of present study	143
	6.5 Conclusion	145

Appendix	146
References	151

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Comparison of the non-amyloidogenic and amyloidogenic pathways initiated by processing of amyloid precursor protein (APP).

Figure 1.2 Diagram showing the deposition of amyloid- β (A β) in a brain affected by Alzheimer's disease.

Figure 1.3 The development of tau neurofibrillary tangles in the brain during Alzheimer's disease.

Figure 1.4 Schematic diagram showing the effects of Alzheimer's disease pathology on the brain.

Figure 1.5 Phenotypic changes and cytokine production of innate immune central nervous system (CNS) microglial cells.

Figure 1.6. Schematic diagram of the key organs of the gastrointestinal tract, the layers of the intestinal tissue and the intestinal villi.

Figure 1.7. Diagram outlining the effects of loss of integrity of the gut epithelial lining.

Figure 2.1 Layout of arenas used for 3 phases of behavioural testing.

Figure 2.2. Flow cytometry gating strategy for determining populations of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial cells from homogenised brains of C57BL/J6 wild-type mice.

Figure 3.1. Assessment of BV-2 cell viability over time at different seed densities.

Figure 3.2. BV-2 cell viability in response to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media.

Figure 3.3. Assessment of BV-2 expression of target genes in response to 4-hour treatment with 50% (v/v) probiotic conditioned media (CM).

Figure 3.4. Assessment of BV-2 expression of target genes in response to 16 hour treatment with 50% (v/v) probiotic conditioned media (CM).

Figure 3.5. Assessment of BV-2 cell viability in response to 4-, 8- and 16-hour treatment with low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media (CM).

Figure 3.6. Assessment of BV-2 expression of target genes in response to 4-, 8- and 16hour treatment with low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media (CM). **Figure 3.7.** Comparison of gene expression determined via RNA-seq between LPS stimulated BV-2 microglial cells and primary microglial cells after a 4-hour period.

Figure 4.1. Assessment of food and water intake in C57BL/6J wild-type mice fed a Lab4P supplemented chow diet for two-weeks.

Figure 4.2. Body weight assessment of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P in a chow diet for two weeks.

Figure 4.3. Control chow and Lab4P chow fed mouse post-mortem organ weights after a two-week period.

Figure 4.4. Open field movement analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet over two-weeks.

Figure 4.5. Open field perimeter analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks.

Figure 4.6. Movement analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to a chow diet for two weeks in the familiar object habituation test.

Figure 4.7. Assessment of object exploration of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks in familiar object habituation test.

Figure 4.8. Discrimination ratios for object preference in the familiar object habitation test.

Figure 4.9. Movement analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks during novel object recognition testing.

Figure 4.10. Analysis of object exploration of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks during novel object recognition testing.

Figure 4.11. Discrimination ratios for object preference in the novel object recognition test.

Figure 4.12. Flow cytometry analysis of populations of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial cells from homogenised brains of control and Lab4P supplemented wild-type mice.

Figure 4.13. Assessment of TNF- α expression in microglial populations from mice fed a control and Lab4P supplemented diet.

Figure 4.14. Assessment of IL-6 expression in microglial populations from mice fed a control and Lab4P supplemented diet.

Figure 4.15. Assessment of IL-10 expression in microglial populations from mice fed a control and Lab4P supplemented diet.

Figure 4.16. Flow cytometry analysis of concatenated populations of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial cells from homogenised brains of control and Lab4P supplemented wild-type mice.

Figure 4.17. Use of concatenated flow cytometry data to assess microglial cell populations positive for inflammatory biomarkers.

Figure 5.1. Effect of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression over a 4 and 16-hour treatment period.

Figure 5.2. BV-2 cell viability response to synthetic amyloid treatment.

Figure 5.3. BV-2 gene expression in response to synthetic amyloid treatments.

Figure 5.4. Effects of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression in the presence of amyloid β (1-42) challenge over a 4- and 8-hour treatment period.

Figure 5.5. Gene expression and cytokine production levels over time in THP-1 macrophages following stimulation with LPS.

List of tables

Table 1.1. Summary of the six Braak stages for defining the development of Alzheimer's disease in the human brain.

 Table 2.1. Primers used for RT-qPCR.

Table 2.2. qPCR thermal cycle conditions used to assess gene expression.

Table 2.3. Composition of collagenase buffer for digestion of homogenised brain tissue.

Table 2.4. Anti-mouse antibody panel used for staining of cells for flow cytometry. Antibody clone, associated fluorochromes, dilution of each antibody used and source are also shown.

Table 6.1. Summary of genes of interest for future work.

List of abbreviations

AD – Alzheimer's Disease AICD – APP Intracellular Domain **APOE** – Apolipoprotein APP – Amyloid Precursor Protein ATP – Adenosine Triphosphate $A\beta$ – Amyloid Beta **BBB** – Blood Brain Barrier **BIOSV** – Biological Services **CANTAB** – Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery **CD68** – Cluster of Differentiation 68 cDNA - Complementary DNA **CFU** – Colony Forming Units **cm** – centimetre **CM** – Conditioned Media cm² – Centimetre squared **CNS** – Central Nervous System CO₂ – Carbon Dioxide **CSF** – Cerebrospinal Fluid **CV** – Crystal Violet **DAM** – Disease Associated Microglia **DAMP** – Danger Associated Molecular Pattern **DMEM** – Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium DMSO - Dimethyl Sulfoxide dNTP - Deoxynucleoside Triphosphate **EAE** – Experimental Autoimmune Encephalitis **ECs** – Enterochromaffin Cells

FACS – Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting FB – FACs Buffer FBS – Foetal Bovine Serum FFAR – Free Fatty Acid Receptor GABA - Gamma Aminobutyric Acid **GAD** – Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase GALT – Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissue **GI** – Gastrointestinal **GOI** – Gene of Interest **GPCRs** - G-protein Coupled Receptors **GWAS** – Genome Wide Association Study H₂O – Water HCI – Hydrochloric Acid HDACs - Histone Deacetylases Iba-1 - Ionised Calcium Binding Adapter Molecule **IBS** – Irritable Bowel Syndrome **ICC** – Immunocytochemistry **IDE** – Insulin Degrading Enzyme IgA – Immunoglobulin A **IHC** – Immunohistochemistry IL-10 - Interleukin 10 IL-17 – Interleukin 17 **IL-1** β – Interleukin 1 Beta IL-6 – Interleukin 6 ILF - Isolated Lymphoid Follicles iNos – Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase **iPSCs** – Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells JKAP – JNK Pathway Associated

Phosphate

LDH – Lactate Dehydrogenase
LOAD – Late Onset Alzheimer's Disease
LPS – Lipopolysaccharide
LTA – Lipoteichoic Acid
M – Molar
MAPK – Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MAPT – Microtubule Associated Protein Tau
MCI – Mild Cognitive Impairment
MD20 – Maltodextrin 20
MFI – Median Fluorescence Intensity
mg – milligrams
MGBA – Microbiome-Gut-Brain Axis
mL – millilitre

mM – Millimolar

MRS – DeMan Rogosa Sharpe

MTT – 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2-5diphenyltetrazolium bromide

MUC2 – Mucin 2

NaOH – Sodium Hydroxide

NFTs – Neurofibrillary Tangles

ng – Nanogram

NGS – Next Generation Sequencing

nm – Nanometres

NMDA – N-methyl-D-aspartate

TACE - Tumour Necrosis Factor-α Converting Enzyme

TEER – Transendothelial electrical resistance

T_H1 – T-helper 1

T_H17 – T-helper 17

TLR – Toll Like Receptor

TMEM119 – Transmembrane Protein 119

WHO – World Health Organisation

NMR – Nuclear Magnetic Resonance

NOR – Novel Object Recognition

P/S – Penicillin/Streptomycin

PAMPs – Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern

PBS – Phosphate Buffered Saline

PD – Parkinson's Disease

PET - positron emission tomography

PFA – Paraformaldehyde

PPs – Peyer's Patches

PSEN1 – Presenilin 1

PSEN2 – Presenilin 2

RNA – Ribose Nucleic Acid

ROS – Reactive oxygen species

RT – Reverse Transcription

RT-qPCR – Reverse Transcriptase Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

SCFA – Short Chain Fatty Acids

SD – Standard Deviation

SDS-PAGE - Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate – Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

SEM – Standard Error of Mean

sIL-6R - Soluble interleukin 6 receptor

SOD - Superoxide Dismutase

 $TNF-\alpha$ – Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha

T-reg – T-regulatory

U/mL – Units per millilitre

- UK United Kingdom
- v/v Volume per volume
- w/v Weight per volume

```
WT – Wild Type
```

- $^{\circ}\mathbf{C}$ Degrees Celsius
- $\mu L \text{Microlitre}$
- $\boldsymbol{\mu}\boldsymbol{M}-\text{Micromolar}$
- μm Micrometre

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Alzheimer's Disease

1.1.1 - Prevalence of AD

With the life expectancies of the global population continuing to rise, it is not surprising that there has been a subsequent increase of age-related maladies in parallel. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is neurodegenerative in nature and accounts for over a third of dementia cases (Alzheimer's Association 2019). Globally around 44 million people currently suffer from AD (Alzheimer's Association 2015). Since the millennium, the number of deaths related to AD have increased by almost 150% (Alzheimer's Association 2015). It has been predicted that by 2050 over 100 million people may be suffering with AD if there is no advancement in current available treatment options (Brookmeyer et al. 2007). It is a disease that not only creates huge socio-economic burden due to care and treatment costs, but it is also devasting for families and for the sufferers themselves (Hurd et al. 2013).

1.1.2 - AD symptoms, pathology and mechanisms

AD symptoms initially include the decline of memory, motor skills and co-ordination due to the settling of AD pathology (Nabeshima and Nitta 1994). The diagnosis of AD is typically given later in life and can only be truly confirmed post-mortem. This is because the disease symptoms do not typically manifest until old age in the case of late onset Alzheimer's disease (LOAD), however the development of underlying pathology and the start of neurodegeneration may begin decades before the onset of symptoms (Amieva et al. 2008).

The key hallmarks of AD are well documented and include the development of intracellular neurofibrillary tau tangles and the deposition of extracellular amyloid beta (A β) plaques which arise due to aggregation of A β monomers (Arnold et al. 1991, Tseng et al. 1999). Subsequently, this pathogenesis results in increased levels of neuroinflammation and oxidative stress which are also thought to contribute to the progression of AD (Kinney et al. 2018, Buccellato et al. 2021). The key trigger to AD development is still a topic of heated debate.

Amyloid plaques

A widely accepted hypothesis is that AD development is governed by the amyloid cascade (Hardy and Higgins 1992). This is the suggestion that AD begins with either the

deposition of A β plaques, the lack of clearance of A β plaques or a combination of both which creates a knock-on effect causing other pathologies such as tau tangles and the induction of inflammation. The production of amyloid peptide aggregates derives from the cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) via the amyloidogenic pathway (Figure 1.1). A more common non-amyloidogenic pathway of APP processing also exists and results in small, soluble fragments of amyloid known as p3, that typically do not contribute to A β plaque formation (Naslund et al. 1994).



the action of β -secretase creating a 99 residue C terminal fragment before being cleaved by the γ -secretase complex (containing Presenilin 1 and 2) to produce insoluble A β 40/42 monomers which aggregate into fibrils to form amyloid plaques. This cleavage leaves behind the APP intracellular domain (AICD) Alternatively, in non-amyloidogenic processing proteolytic cleavage occurs via α -secretase and γ -secretase which produces a shorter p3 fragment. The product of this cleavage is soluble and so does not aggregate, preventing plaque formation.

APP is an intrinsic membrane protein found in neuronal and glial cells. This is produced in many isoforms due to alternative splicing of the gene, however the most abundant form in the brain is isoform 695 which is expressed in neurons (Belyaev et al. 2010). The amyloidogenic pathway begins with the proteolytic cleavage of APP via secretases, namely β -secretase and subsequently the γ -secretase complex which results in the formation of insoluble A β 40/42

monomers, the ratio of which may determine AD severity (Citron et al. 1996, Selkoe and Wolf 2007, Thinakaran and Koo 2008). These monomers are then able to aggregate if not adequately degraded and form A β fibrils which can establish themselves to form the characteristic and problematic A β plaques which spread over different brain regions as disease severity increases (Figure 1.2 A, B and C).



development of A β plaques over time in the AD brain begins in the hippocampus region and surrounding areas before moving into the frontal lobe and occipital lobes. Finally, in severe AD the A β plaque is present across the cortex and covers most of the brain regions. (**B**) Image adapted from Querol-Vilaseca et al. 2019, *Scientific Reports.* (**C**) Figure part adapted from Masters et al. 2015, *Nature.*

These extracellular deposits of A β plaque contribute to synaptic impairment and neuronal cell damage and death (Masliah et al. 1994, Scheff et al. 2007). However, the amyloid cascade hypothesis has been disputed (Herrup 2015). Many therapies targeting A β plaque specifically have proved ineffective, suggesting that while the deposition of A β plaque may be a contributor

to AD development, this process may not be the sole cause of the disease (Seubert et al. 2008, Salloway et al. 2009, Golde et al. 2011).

Neurofibrillary tau tangles

The development of aberrantly phosphorylated tau protein also contributes to AD pathology (Figure 1.3 A, B and C). Tau proteins are produced from the alternative splicing of the microtubule associated protein tau (MAPT) gene (Goedert et al. 1989). Tau proteins play a major role in cellular structure as they support the formation of microtubules via interactions with tubulin proteins (Weingarten et al. 1975). The six Braak stages can be used to define AD progression and severity based on the development of neurofibrillary tau tangles (NFTs) in key brain regions (Table 1.1).



Figure 1.3 The development of tau neurofibrillary tangles in the brain during Alzheimer's disease. One of the main elements of Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology is the development of tau tangles in the brain. (**A**) In healthy neurons tau proteins allow for stability of the intraceullar cytoskeleton. However, in AD neuronal microtubules become comprised due to the development of tau protein tangles which results in a comprised microtubule structure and loss of integrity of neuronal cell structure. (**B**) Immunohistochemical staining of neurofibrillary tau tangles in the brain. (**C**) Typically, the tau tangles begin in the hippocampal region of the brain (Braak stages I and II) before moving into the surrounding areas and transentorhinal region (Braak stages III and IV) before finally moving into the cortex region (Braak stages V and VI). (**B**) Image adapted from LaFerla and Oddo 2005, *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. (**C**) Figure part adapted from Masters et al. 2015, *Nature*.

Table 1.1 Summary of the six Braak stages for defining the development of Alzheimer's disease in the human brain. NFTs = Neurofibrillary Tangles (Braak and Braak 1991)

Braak Stage	Description
0	No NFTs present in any brain region.
I	 NFTs present in transentorhinal region of the brain.
II	 Possibly some NFTs present in CA1 region of hippocampus.
	Little to no change in cortex.
III	 NFTs present in the transentrorhinal region and limbic region, particularly
IV	the hippocampus and amygdala.
	Possibly some NFTs in cortex.
V	 NFTs present in transentorhinal, limbic and cortex regions.
VI	

The effect of both extracellular A β plaques and intracellular tau NFT pathology results in neuronal cell damage and death. In AD, neuronal cell death usually originates in the CA1 region of the hippocampus due to NFTs and plaque deposition impacting heavily on learning and memory capabilities which is often the first noticeable symptom of AD (Braak and Braak 1991, Lace et al. 2009). Significant neuronal cell death results in atrophy of the brain causing this impairment of memory and cognitive function (Gosche et al. 2002) (Figure 1.4).



generated using Servier Medical Art provided by Servier, licensed under a Creative

1.1.3 Factors determining AD onset

Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License.

Genetics

There are a range of factors that contribute to the onset of AD pathology. Apart from old age, one of the major factors that determines predisposition for AD development is genetic in nature and can be categorised as familial or sporadic, as determined by the presence of different AD-related risk genes. In familial AD there are 3 key genes that when mutated give rise to autosomal dominant AD manifestation. Mutations in the *APP* gene located on chromosome 21, Presenilin 1 (*PSEN1*) gene located on chromosome 14 and Presenilin 2 (*PSEN2*) gene located on chromosome 1 give rise to early onset AD (Goate et al. 1991, Sherrington et al. 1995, Rogaev et al. 1995).

It is estimated that 1 in 10 people over the age of 65 develop AD and that this increases to 4 in 10 people after the age of 80 (Schultz et al. 2004, Kumar et al. 2015). This sub-type of AD is known as sporadic LOAD and is the most common AD type (Alzheimer's Association 2018). One of the main genetic components that determines LOAD is the apolipoprotein (*APOE*) gene which has 3 alleles: $\epsilon 2$, $\epsilon 3$ and $\epsilon 4$ (Ashford 2004). The combination of these alleles that an individual possesses predisposes them to the likelihood of developing AD and how severely the disease could present (Coon et al. 2007). Carriers of *APOE* $\epsilon 2$ allele are less common, making up around 1 in 10 of AD sufferers (Corder et al. 1993). It has been suggested that the $\epsilon 2$ allele acts in a more protective manner compared to the other *APOE* alleles. Studies have shown that patients with the *APOE* $\epsilon 2$ allele show fewer depositions of A β plaques in the post-mortem brain and clinically display lower rates of cognitive deterioration (Martins et al. 2005). However, the mechanisms behind why this is the case are currently unclear. Typically, those who possess the *APOE*4 allele are most likely to experience earlier onset AD pathology in comparison with those who have the other alleles *APOE*2 and *APOE*3 (Coon et al. 2007).

Genome wide association studies (GWAS) have uncovered a host of genes that may play a role in LOAD development. It is important to note the importance of polygenicity when discussing the genetics of AD and GWAS have highlighted the complexity of AD at a genetic level and allowed the consideration of a range of new potential gene targets (Kamboh et al. 2012, Wightman et al. 2021).

This can be illustrated by looking at the case of ADAM17, a noted AD risk gene (Hartl et al. 2020). ADAM17 is a metalloprotease that plays a role in the mediation of receptor shedding at the cell membrane allowing for the release of cytokines and growth factors, contributing to normal signalling pathway functionality (Peschon et al. 1998). To add to the complexity ADAM17 has over 80 different substrates and is involved in immunity, inflammation, cell growth and cell adhesion (Scheller et al. 2011). ADAM17 is also involved in APP metabolism and plays a role in the α -secretase processing of the APP protein as part of the non-amyloidogenic pathway which is why it is of interest in the context of AD (Buxbaum et al. 1998). However, this finding is interesting as it suggests that dysregulation of the non-amyloidogenic pathway may also be implicated in AD onset as well as the amyloidogenic pathway.

Other studies have also implicated novel AD risk genes involved in microglial activation including GRN. The GRN gene is responsible for the production of growth factor granulin which has been previously implicated in neurodegenerative disease such as frontotemporal dementia (Mackenzie et al. 2006). Additionally, microglial progranulin has also been noted to

increase in AD patient cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) highlighting the association of microglial activation in worsening AD (Suárez-Calvet et al. 2018).

Another meta-analysis that specifically looked at AD risk genes in LOAD confirmed that along with APOE, risk genes for LOAD also include ADAM10, ACE and IQCK (Damotte et al. 2019). Previous work suggests that ADAM10, like ADAM17, is heavily involved in the non-amyloidogenic pathway (Haass et al. 2012). ADAM10 is also involved in microglial function by mediating the shedding of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) which is expressed by microglia (Kleinberger et al. 2014, Forabosco et al. 2013). One study showed that the overexpression of ADAM10 in AD mouse models reduced the cleavage of APP and consequently the aggregation of amyloid plaque, suggesting a possible opportunity for therapeutic intervention (Postina et al. 2004).

TREM2 itself is another well-known AD-related risk gene expressed by microglia in the brain (Kiialainen et al. 2005). It is a cell surface receptor that mediates signalling pathways involved in inflammation and allows for the regulation of microglial activation and survival (Kleinberger et al. 2014). TREM2 gene variants have been closely linked to an increase in the risk of AD development which has generated interest in how microglial cells contribute to AD progression (Guerreiro et al. 2013).

Despite our increasing knowledge of the genetic complexity and potential risk loci involved in AD onset and progression, a full understanding is still yet to be reached. However, GWAS analyses such as these are useful for determining genes of interest in AD pathology and help to offer paths for further exploration.

Biological sex

An additional determinant of how likely a person is to develop AD may be based on biological sex. Prevalence of AD has been reported to be more common in women as evidenced by a study which showed that around two thirds of AD patients are women in the United States (Hebert et al. 2013). It is thought that this may be due to increased variations in oestrogen hormone production, specifically the steroid hormone oestrogen 17 β -estradiol, in females in comparison with males due to the menstrual cycle and the menopause (Rosario et al. 2009). Oestrogens confer protective benefits to the brain such as providing neuroplasticity in the hippocampal region (McClure et al. 2013, Yan et al. 2017). Therefore, a decline in oestrogen during the menopause may contribute to cognitive decline. Additionally, a previous

study has shown that there are sex differences in the aging immune response where genes associated with B-cell activity were significantly activated in women and not activated in men (Márquez et al. 2020).

Numerous accounts of sex differences between male and female AD mouse models have also been acknowledged affecting lifespan, tau phosphorylation and levels of Aβ (Rae and Brown 2015, Koppel et al. 2014, Hirata-Fukae et al. 2008). One study in particular found that in the 3xTg AD mouse model female mice displayed significantly increased levels of Aβ, particularly in the frontal cortex in comparison with male mice, thought to be caused by differing levels of sex hormones (Carroll et al. 2010). Another study found that after selectively blocking the glutamate receptor mGluR5 which is required for memory that male mice showed an improvement in memory whereas female mice did not (Abd-Elrahman et al. 2020).

In terms of translating and elaborating on findings from these works, it is very important not to exclude female cohorts, especially when women more commonly develop the disease (Hebert et al. 2013). While this is something that has been acknowledged in recent years, it seems that there are still discrepancies in the use of male cohorts over female cohorts in scientific research (Woitowich et al. 2020). Therefore, developing our understanding of the hormonal fluctuations and the differences in how males and females age that appear to contribute to the AD would be beneficial in terms of developing therapeutic strategies suitable for both sexes.

Environmental factors

While genetic determinants of AD development are beyond our control, environmental factors may also play a role in determining the likelihood of AD development. For example, exposure to dangerous chemicals, lack of cognitive stimulation and smoking have all been linked to the development of AD (Campdelacreu 2014). Lifestyle may also play a part in this, with obesity and related diseases such as diabetes and hypertension possibly creating a predisposition for a person to develop AD (Whitmer et al. 2008, Crane et al. 2013, Moonga et al. 2017).

The term "type 3 diabetes" has been coined as a means to describe to the role of insulin as a factor related to AD onset (Steen et al. 2005). Previous work has shown that there is a clear link between diabetes and AD via the insulin degrading enzyme (IDE). Typically, the protease IDE plays a key role in the degrading insulin and is dysregulated in Type II diabetes

leading to uncontrolled insulin production (Duckworth et al. 1998). It also been found that $A\beta$ is a substrate of IDE and that IDE mediates clearance of $A\beta$ through proteolytic action (Kurochkin and Goto 1994, Farris et al. 2004). Evidence suggests that levels of IDE decline during aging and that somatostatin mediates IDE expression in microglia (Stargardt et al. 2013). Decreases in levels of somatostatin cause reduced IDE activity resulting in reduced $A\beta$ clearance (Tundo et al. 2012). This has led to the idea that IDE could potentially be a therapeutic target for AD treatment (Akter et al. 2011).

High levels of inflammation have been associated with obese patients and studies have shown that obese patients over the age of 50 have a higher risk of developing AD (Ma et al. 2020). Obesity has also been linked with contributing to brain atrophy and lesion development (Raji et al. 2010). Adipose tissue secretes a range of molecules including proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 which can contribute to low grade chronic inflammation (Ouchi et al. 2011). One study also found a correlation between high fat diets among middle aged people and an increase in risk of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (Eskelinen et al. 2008). Obesity and bad dietary habits can drive gut microbiome dysbiosis, which has also been linked to AD onset and progression (Cattaneo et al. 2016). A lack of key nutrients such as antioxidants and vitamins from poor diets can also contribute to oxidative stress within the body, however treatment with antioxidants such as Astaxanthin have shown to have a positive effect in AD by protecting neurons in the hippocampus from damage via A β (Lobos et al. 2016). Collectively, this previous work suggests that a balanced diet, the maintenance of a healthy gut microbiome and healthy lifestyle choices are factors that are within our control and could contribute to the minimisation of AD development and severity.

Whether or not there is a single driving cause for the development of LOAD in an individual is a matter of debate. From the evidence, it appears that AD onset and development is complex and it is perhaps more likely that a combination of a range of factors increases the risk and severity of AD. The complexity of disease onset and progression must therefore be carefully considered when developing therapeutic interventions.

1.1.4 Current AD therapeutics

There are multiple treatments available to AD patients at present. However, these typically treat the symptoms of AD rather than directly intervening on disease development and progression. Available treatments that are used mainly include pharmaceutical therapies such

as Donepezil and Rivastigmine which are Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and more recently antibody-based therapies such as Aducanumab.

Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors

Acetylcholinesterase inhibiters including Donepezil, Rivastigmine and Galantamine are widely used to treat the effects of AD (Wilkinson et al. 2004). They are often used as a treatment in the earlier stages of AD, however Donepezil can also be prescribed for severe AD. They work by binding to the cholinesterase enzyme which breaks down the acetylcholine neurotransmitter that crosses between the synaptic cleft to the post synaptic neuron to potentiate the action potential that allows transmission of a nervous signal (Davidsson et al. 2001). It has been shown that acetylcholine helps to mediate learning and memory, with a decrease in cholinergic activity known to correlate with the development of AD in the early stages (Francis et al. 1993). By inhibiting the breakdown of acetylcholine it is possible to account for its decrease during the onset of AD providing therapeutic benefits and helping to lessen the progress of the disease (Watanabe et al. 2008).

<u>Memantine</u>

The molecule 1-amino-3,5-dimethyladamantane, also known as Memantine, is widely used as a treatment for moderate to severe AD (Reisberg et al. 2003). It works by blocking the action of the neurotransmitter glutamate from binding with N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors which mediates the passage of action potentials across the synaptic cleft (Chen et al. 1992). Glutamate is very abundant within human brain tissue and essential for mediating synaptic transmission that co-ordinates synaptic plasticity and neuronal survival (Schousboe et al. 1981). During neurodegenerative diseases such as AD levels of glutamate can be higher than normal and it is thought that these high levels can interrupt normal nervous signalling, therefore, blocking the glutamate receptors acts as a means of preventing such aberrant signalling and lessening symptoms (Wilcock et al. 2008).

Aducanumab

A newer addition to AD treatments is Aducanumab; a human monoclonal antibody that works by binding to the aggregated A β plaques in both their soluble oligometric form and

aggregated form (Sevigny et al. 2016). One study suggested the mechanism of clearance relies on Aducanumab recruiting microglia to the amyloid plaques to mediate phagocytosis, and effectively reduces amyloid load over a period of a year shown via positron emission tomography (PET) scans (Sevigny et al. 2016). Another study has shown that use of Aducanumab can lead to a decrease in A β oligomer accumulation resulting in a reduction of tau pathology downstream (Haeberlein et al. 2020). However, this method of treatment is typically administered after up to 20 years of A β plaque accumulation, rather than tackling the developing pathology before it progresses. Additionally, much controversy has surrounded the use of Aducanumab to date, putting into question it's efficacy and potential as an AD therapeutic intervention (Alexander et al. 2021, Knopman et al. 2021).

While these treatment options are often given individually as with most treatments a combination of drugs can provide better efficacy. For example, studies have shown that patients treated with a combination of Donepezil and Memantine showed better cognitive performance and improved AD behaviours compared to a group treated with Donepezil alone (Tariot et al. 2004). However, it is important to note that combining drugs can lead to an increase in undesirable side effects in patients such as nausea. These treatments also introduce problems such as a lack of efficacy due to low level penetrance across the blood brain barrier (BBB). This makes the administration of therapeutics such as antibody-based therapies particularly problematic since the size of molecules that can pass through are limited to around 400 Da or less and must be lipid soluble (Fischer et al. 1998). The BBB acts as a filter which can regulate the passage of blood solutes through into the extracellular fluid of the central nervous system (CNS). The BBB is highly important for maintaining the homeostasis of the CNS, creating an appropriate milieu for neurons to function and is largely made up of endothelial cells, tight junctions and mural cells (Daneman and Prat 2015).

Despite the problem of the BBB in drug development, some studies have shown that it is possible to open up the BBB using targeted ultrasound treatment in conjunction with AD therapeutics (Lipsman et al. 2018, Janowicz et al. 2019). This method temporarily allows the passage of drugs through and helps to increase their effectiveness. However, this does add extra time and cost onto an already expensive process. Therefore, developing an effective treatment option with fewer side effects for patients and that can circumvent the need to pass through the BBB would be highly desirable and currently is not available.

1.2 Inflammation in AD

Inflammaging has become a popular term over the last two decades, used to describe the dysregulation of the production of cytokines in correlation with aging resulting in the development of low-grade chronic inflammation (Franceschi et al. 2000). In elderly individuals, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 have been found to be upregulated (Ershler et al. 1993, Ferrucci et al. 2005). Increases in levels of oxidative stress have also been found to be correlated with inflammation and old age (Gorni and Finco 2020). Inflammaging has been linked to the development of a range of diseases such as Type II diabetes, cancer and AD (Prattichizzo et al. 2016, Landskron et al. 2014, Büttner et al. 2018).

There are many factors that have been linked to inflammaging including smoking and obesity (Arnson et al. 2009, Pou et al. 2007). Studies suggest that visceral adipose tissue is a serious contributor to high TNF- α and IL-6 levels, thought to be due to the presence of macrophages in adipose tissue (Kern et al. 2001, Xu et al. 2003). Additionally, gut dysbiosis has also been linked to contributing to inflammation in old age. One study used young germ-free (GF) mice and transplanted the gut microbiota of aged mice (17- months), which gave rise to signs of inflammaging in the young mice such as an upregulation of TNF- α and an increase in T-helper cell activation in the spleen (Fransen et al. 2017).

It is therefore unsurprising that the implications of age-related inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases such as AD have received a great deal of interest. Inflammation is widely seen in AD patients and is thought to be the result of the settling AD pathology which triggers the activation of microglial cells which help to co-ordinate an immune response (Cagnin et al. 2001). However, some have questioned whether AD associated inflammation is a result of the deposition of disease pathology or whether inflammation precedes disease development. Evidence suggests that pre-existing inflammation can lead to the development of AD pathology, for example the upregulation of IL-1 β and IL-6 due may lead to the development of tau pathology (Quintanilla et al. 2004). There is also evidence to suggest that people who experience high levels of inflammation due to head injury are more at risk of developing AD (Nemetz et al. 1999, Johnson et al. 2012).

It remains unclear whether inflammation in AD is a cause or effect of disease pathology, or most likely, a combination of both. Either way, one of the key mediators of inflammation in AD are the microglial cells, which play an important central role in orchestrating an AD dependent inflammatory response.

1.2.1 The role of microglia

Microglia are innate immune cells and the resident macrophages of the CNS (Kreutzberg 1996). During the early stages of development microglia are derived from the embryonic yolk sac and migrate into the CNS before the closing of the caudal neuropore, making them brain specific (Alliot et al. 1999, Stiles and Jernigan 2010). They are able to self-renew in the brain to maintain population levels during adulthood (Rossi et al. 2007). Their lineage makes them distinct from other circulating macrophages which derive from haematopoietic lineages in the bone marrow (Fogg et al. 2006).

One important role microglia play is the maintenance of neural networks where they are able to maintain normal signalling and synaptic plasticity via degradation of abnormal neurons and synapses (Schafer et al. 2012). CNS microglia are also found to be upregulated in a range of neurodegenerative conditions and are a key player in coordinating the inflammatory response in AD. The deposition of Aβ plaques and tau pathology in and around neurons in the brain induces low grade inflammation mediated by microglial cells (Smith et al. 2011). ATP is a vital communication element between microglia and neurons. Microglia are programmed to have chemoattraction towards ATP which allows them to respond to disturbances in homeostasis. Neurons that require microglial assistance will release ATP via pannexin hemichannel activation (Li et al. 2012). Newer research also suggests that microglia and neurons can communicate more directly through junctions detected where microglial processes directly interact with neuronal cell bodies (Cserép et al. 2020).

Microglial phenotypes

Microglia survey their surroundings primed and ready to respond to pathogens or detrimental changes to their environment in a ramified or relaxed state (Nimmerjahn et al. 2005). It is widely accepted that in response to infection, damaged neurons or an otherwise potentially detrimental entity, microglia become activated and amoeboid in shape and take on one of two conformations: the M1 state or the M2 state (Kettenmann and Hanisch 2007, Hu et al. 2015, Tang and Le 2016) (Figure 1.5). M1 microglia supposedly co-ordinate a pro-inflammatory response and is the "classical activation" state, acting as first responders to invading pathogens. In this state the microglia release a range of cytokines which trigger a pro-inflammatory cascade such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (Ajmone-Cat et al. 2013). M2 microglia supposedly co-ordinate an anti-inflammatory or immunosuppressive response. This response is known as "alternative activation" and is more closely associated with the

production of protective cytokines such IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 (Ponomarev et al. 2007). Therefore, M2 is recognised as a protective activation state.



The notion of the "M1" and "M2" microglial states has been debated and there is an increasing amount of evidence to suggest that perhaps these polarising states are not as distinct as once thought (Ransohoff 2016). One of the underlying problems with the theory of M1/M2 states is due to the fact that microglia derive from myeloid lineages rather than bone marrow like other circulating macrophages which may give rise to different properties (Gautiar et al. 2012). It is very possible that by oversimplifying the range of conformations in which CNS microglia exist we may be diminishing their ability to play a complex role in a range of diseases.

Microglia as inflammatory mediators in AD

In the AD brain upon recognition of A β deposits around neurons, microglia will release a range of pro-inflammatory mediators such as complement proteins and cytokines including IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (Morimoto et al. 2011). There is evidence to suggest that supressing the inflammatory response of microglia in AD may be beneficial and could potentially be used as an option for therapeutic intervention (Ou et al. 2018, Kantarci et al. 2018).

Microglia are equipped with a plethora of receptors allowing for pattern recognition, including a subset of pattern recognition receptors known as Toll Like Receptors (TLRs) which allow microglia to respond to external threats such as cellular debris, pathogens and neurotoxins (Medzhitov and Janeway 1997). Microglia are also major contributors to the inflammatory response via production of pro-inflammatory cytokines co-ordinated by the TLRs and NF- κ B (Kawai and Akira 2007). For example, TLR4 induces production of IL-1 β and TNF- α (Jin et al. 2008). A study by Keren-Shaul et al. (2017) showed that certain AD risk genes are upregulated when microglia are activated or in a "disease state". These activated disease state microglia also release inflammatory mediators which go on to trigger the inflammasome, a key part of the innate immune system (Heneka et al. 2013).

Disease associated microglia

Populations of specific disease associated microglia (DAM) have been defined (Keren-Shaul et al. 2017). These DAM populations are thought to provide protection to neurons and are found to be exclusively and closely associated with areas of AD pathology. The same study also found incidence of microglial gene Tyrobp in the DAM populations and that DAM activation will not fully occur without TREM2. TREM2 is a well-recognised AD risk gene, where mutations have been linked to AD development as mentioned previously (Song et al. 2017). TREM2 and Tyrobp have also previously been shown to work together as a signalling complex which results in the phagocytosis and clearance of A β (Ma et al. 2014). This therefore further suggests that DAM populations act in a protective manner and that mutations in TREM2 may hinder A β clearance, resulting in the exacerbation of AD.

While microglia have the capacity to coordinate the immune response and clear plaques, they may also contribute to the development of AD pathology. Evidence suggests that TAM (AxI and Mer) tyrosine kinase receptors which are situated on microglial cells may play a key role in the recognition and clearance of Aβ plaque. Typically, in normal heathy

microglia levels of Axl are lower than Mer, however when faced with an inflammatory stimulus Axl becomes more upregulated (Fourgeaud et al. 2016). Another study has suggested a mechanism wherein microglia begin to contribute to amyloid plaque deposition during the progression of the disease (Huang et al. 2021). This group describe how microglia act on diffuse and immature formations of A β plaque and clear these away via phagocytosis mediated by the TAM receptors. Once inside the microglia the amyloid gets processed by lysosomes and packaged into denser plaque formations. These are then released as an extracellular waste product, which may contribute to the development of mature and denser plaque deposits which further contribute to the progression of AD pathology. This further provides evidence to suggest that the role that microglia play in AD is double-edged, showing the potential to be both neuroprotective and detrimental during the development of AD.

It is clear that microglia play a crucial role in the mediation of inflammation in AD. Therefore, they can act as a useful target when considering therapeutic intervention. However, it is important to note that while microglia are critical for mediating the innate immune response in the brain, other cells such as astrocytes also produce cytokines and contribute to the response (Gao et al. 2013). Our understanding of the crosstalk between these cells and the respective cytokines they produce is limited. Developing our knowledge here could be very useful to further understand how the cell mediators of the immune system work in conjunction to respond to neurodegenerative diseases.

1.3 The gut

The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is essential for digestion and the retrieval of nutrients from the diet. A summary of the main features of the GI tract are shown in Figure 1.6. In mammals, the GI tract comprises of the mouth, the oesophagus, the stomach, the small intestines, the large intestines and rectum. The small intestines are composed of three different regions; duodenum, jejunum and the ileum and are important for continuing digestion and absorption of dietary nutrients (Drake et al. 2020). The large intestine, also known as the colon, plays an important role in water absorption (Drake et al. 2020).

The intestinal walls are made up of 4 layers of mucosal tissue which allow for key gut functions such as peristalsis to move the bolus of food through the GI tract and the absorption of water and nutrients (Roa and Wang 2011). The gut epithelial lining is covered in villi cells which increase the surface area of the gut for absorption of water and nutrients. The villi are lined with enterocytes which are secretary goblet enteroendocrine cells with microvilli on their

surface to further increase the surface area of the gut and maximise nutrient absorption (Cheng and Leblond 1974, Roth et al. 1990). Enterocytes mediate the digestion and absorption of nutrients and water via the production of enzymes on their surface and allow for transport of the digested molecules through from the lumen through to the lymphatic and circulatory system (Ziv and Bendayan 2000). Enterocytes also play a role in immunity via regulation of tight junctions to prevent pathogens passing through into the somatic circulatory system (Pitman and Blumberg 2000). One other prominent feature of both the small and large intestines is the existence of populations of gut bacteria collectively known as the gut microbiome.



gastrointestinal tract. (**B**) Layers of mucosal tissue that make up the intestinal walls. (**C**) Villi of the mucosal layer are lined with gut cells called enterocytes protected by an epithelial barrier. The villi allow for diffusion of molecules such as across the epithelial barrier and enterocytes and through into the lymphatic system (green) and the blood circulatory system (blue/red). Figure partly generated using Servier Medical Art provided by Servier, licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License.

1.3.1 The gut microbiome

The gut microbiome is a term used to define the genomes of the populations of microbes in the gut made up largely of bacteria, but also including protozoa, archaea and viruses, which exist in symbiosis with their host (Hooper and Gordon 2001). Using new sequencing techniques such as Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) and projects such as The Integrative Human Microbiome Project, current knowledge of the complexity of our gut microbiome is expanding rapidly (Proctor et al. 2019). The GI tract harbours over 100 trillion
resident bacteria, which significantly outnumbers the quantity of human cells in the body (Rodríguez et al. 2015, Sender et al. 2016). This dynamic population is unique to each individual and fluctuates both as we age and as we are exposed to different environments.

The abundance and diversity of the gut microbiome gives rise to a variety of functions that the human intestinal system alone would not be able to carry out suggesting a likely cause of the evolution of this symbiotic relationship. The necessity of this relationship has also been highlighted by studies in GF rodents which show that a lack of gut bacteria results in decreased immune defence against pathogens, increased levels of anxiety and abnormal brain development (Ichinohe et al. 2011, Crumeyrolle-Arias et al. 2014, Heijtz et al. 2011).

Our microbiome increases our ability to breakdown a range of food, particularly those high in fibre allowing us to harness further nutrients from our diets and to increase the nutritional load (Flint et al. 2012). Gut bacteria also help to develop and co-ordinate metabolism and immunity (Romano-Keeler et al. 2014).

The human gut microbiome develops and varies throughout our lifetime. While the foetus is in the womb it is thought that they develop in a sterile environment since there is no clear bacterial colony transmission. Studies investigating whether or not the placenta and amniotic fluid contain their own microbiomes have produced contradicting results (Aagaard et al. 2014, Wampach et al. 2017, Lim et al. 2018). Nevertheless, it is widely accepted that upon birth the substantial development of a lifelong symbiotic relationship with micro-organisms begins. The accumulation of micro-organisms from birth and beyond appears to have a huge impact on how the microbiome of an individual develops (Yang et al. 2016). As the baby passes through the birth canal it is exposed for the first time to its mother's vaginal and faecal microflora which largely consists of *Lactobacillus* (Dominguez-Bello et al. 2010).

This is a significant event and studies have shown that exposure to these bacteria can be very beneficial to long-term health and support the normal development of the immune system (Salminen et al. 2004). The importance of this becomes even more clear when comparing the health of babies born vaginally compared with those born via caesarean section. Interestingly, when babies are born via caesarean section they are primarily exposed to different populations of bacteria from the skin microbiome (Akagawa et al. 2019). These babies typically collect bacteria such as *Staphlococcus* and lack key commensal bacteria (Dominguez-Bello et al. 2010). Therefore, it is unsurprising that differences have been found in the health of these babies as they develop into infancy. The importance of the development of a healthy post-natal microbiome is such that it has been suggested that transfer of faecal samples from the mother to babies born via caesarean section could be a way of introducing these beneficial bacteria (Korpela et al. 2020). This would allow babies to be exposed to new bacteria in the hope it will help to develop a stronger immune system.

The introduction to bacteria at an early age is extremely important and the population diversity continually increases through childhood, dependent on factors such as diet and environment (Kumbhare et al. 2019). Once in adulthood the gut tends to stabilise and peak at its microbial diversity. Around 90% of the adult microbiota population consists of two highly conserved key phyla; *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* (Lozupone et al. 2012, Forster et al. 2019). The rest of the population belong to the phyla *Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia* (Qin et al. 2010). This population of bacteria are distributed in varying concentrations along the digestive tract with some bacteria being more abundant in certain gut regions. For example, biopsies have shown that *Bacteroidetes* are more prevalent in the large intestine, while *Firmicutes* are more prevalent in the small intestine (Frank et al. 2007).

1.3.2 The microbiome-gut-brain axis

The microbiome, the gut and the brain are able to communicate through a bi-directional system mediated by nervous, chemical and immunological messages known as the microbiome-gut-brain axis (MGBA) (Rhee et al. 2009). Evidence suggests that understanding how the MGBA works exactly could help to elucidate the mechanisms behind a range of diseases, which may be in part, gut derived.

The vagus nerve which is part of the parasympathetic nervous system plays a key role in linking the brain and the gut (Carabotti et al. 2015). This has been evidenced through the link between stress and anxiety and gut related problems such as IBS (Jerndal et al. 2010). The enteric nervous system refers to the enervation of the GI tract which allows the gut to perform autonomous signalling in response to stimuli (Goyal and Hirano 1996). However, while able to act independently, the enteric nervous system can also communicate with the vagus nerve to send signals back to the CNS, allowing for the co-ordination of responses like hunger via signals such as Ghrelin from the gut to the brain (Julio-Pieper et al. 2013). For communication between these key enervated regions, neurotransmitters play a crucial role.

Neurotransmitters also play a role in MGBA communication and have been reported to be produced by gut bacteria. Evidence suggests that the *Lactobacillus brevis* strain of bacteria is able to produce glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) which allows for the conversion of glutamate into gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) (Li et al. 2010). GABA is a neurotransmitter that plays an important role in the control of nervous signalling by downregulating neuronal excitation (Olsen and Sieghart 2008). Interestingly the neurotransmitter serotonin is also thought to largely be produced in the gut via the support of gut microbes and can interact with the vagus nerve as a means of co-ordinating gut functions such as peristalsis (Yano et al. 2015, Browning 2015). One study found that serotonin levels in GF mice were depleted in comparison with wild type (WT) mice, suggesting the importance of gut microbiota to produce this key neurotransmitter (Wikoff et al. 2009). Serotonin is largely secreted by a type of enteroendocrine cell known as enterochromaffin cells (ECs) upon stimulus such a movement in the intestines and chemical signals (Bertrand 2004, Smith et al. 2006). However, the full extent of EC regulation of serotonin is still largely unknown.

Afferent ECs also play an important role by providing an interface for gut-brain communication. ECs are situated in between the villi in the gut epithelial layer and can therefore act as a mediator of the gut lining through direct interaction between with luminal gut bacteria and nerves situated in the lamina propria (Bellono et al. 2017). Interestingly, it has been found that ECs also have TLRs (Bogunovic et al. 2007). It is thought that ECs therefore play a critical part of microbiota-gut-brain communication through their ability to recognise bacterial pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) in a similar way to microglial cells. Particularly, ECs have been found to be sensitive to bacterial flagella which allow for bacterial movement, and which acts as a ligand for TLR5, a TLR exclusively found in the gut (Uematsu et al. 2006). The activation of TLR5 via flagellin leads to downstream activation of the innate immune NK-κB pathway, contributing to inflammation and cytokine release in the gut (Hayashi et al. 2001).

Evidence suggests that short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) play a role in inducing serotonin production via ECs in the gut (Reigstad et al. 2015). SCFAs have been found to play a vital role in communication in the MGBA. They are one of the key metabolic by-products produced by the gut microbiota via fermentation of indigestible dietary carbohydrates such as cellulose, typically found in plant-based food and also known as fibre (Grabitske and Slavin 2008). This highlights the importance of dietary fibre, with studies suggesting that a high fibre diet is linked to greater SCFA production which is beneficial for maintaining health (Desai et al. 2016). There are three main SCFAs produced through this microbiota mediated fermentation process: acetate, butyrate and propionate (Miller and Wolin 1996, Topping and Clifton 2001, Pryde et al. 2002). SCFAs are important additional energy sources in mammals, contributing to ~10% of total energy needs per day (Bergman 1990).

Overall, the MGBA is central for mediating the functioning of a plethora of biological functions. It is likely that there is a lot of crossover between many of these already intricate pathways. Therefore, elucidating aberrant mechanisms that may give rise to diseases is complex and at present our knowledge in this area is limited.

1.3.3 Immunity and the gut

The human gut is a hub of innate immunological activity and also contains large amounts of gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). GALT includes lots of adaptive immune structures such as Peyer's patches (PPs) and isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs) (Mowat and Agace 2014). The PPs are rich with immune cells such as T and B lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells which help to regulate inflammation and coordinate immune responses in the gut as a reaction to pathogens or pro-inflammatory stimuli (Spencer et al. 1986).

The enterocytes which make up part of the gut epithelia play a role in gut immunity. One of the main actions of the enterocyte layer is to act as a filter to prevent pathogens and other detrimental molecules from crossing over into systemic circulation and help to maintain homeostasis (Turner 2009). The gut barrier is similar to the BBB in that tight junctions between cells control passage and transport of molecules across it. Tight junction proteins such as Occuldin and Claudin-5 are key for supporting selective membrane permeability to allow water and solutes from the gut lumen environment across the gut epithelium and into systemic circulation (Furuse et al. 1993, Krause et al. 2008). Loss of integrity of the gut barrier via reduced action of tight junctions between enterocytes has been reported to contribute to a phenomenon colloquially coined as "leaky gut" and has been shown in GF mice (Braniste et al. 2014) (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7. Diagram outlining the effects of loss of integrity of the gut epithelial lining. Tight junctions composed of proteins such as Claudin and Occludin maintain the integrity of the gut barrier between enterocytes and allow for selective permeability of water and solutes. This ensures that gut bacteria, pathogens and their metabolites in the lumen of the gut are restricted from entering system blood circulation. However, when gut barrier integrity is lost, the gut becomes "leaky" and the close contacts between enterocytes due to reduced tight junction proteins. This allows for paracellular translocation of bacteria, pathogens and their metabolites through the gut lining. This is followed by passage of inflammatory stimuli such as LPS and EVs into the systemic blood circulation can occur. This in the activation of immune cells and the upregulation of inflammatory cytokines. LPS = Lipopolysaccharide, EV = Extracellular Vesicle. Figure adapted from Tulkens et al. 2020. *Gut.*

An increase in intestinal permeability contributes to elevated levels of inflammation through activation of immune cells. For example, inflammatory stimuli such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from gram negative bacteria have been shown to have the ability to cross through a comprised gut barrier via bacterial LPS extracellular vesicles (Ellis and Kuehn 2010). This can result in an upregulation of inflammatory cytokines in systemic circulation due to the immune response, including the activation of TLRs on macrophages and (and brain microglial cells if the BBB is also compromised) via PAMPs and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Tulkens et al. 2020). However, the full extent of how leaky gut contributes to inflammation and the mechanisms behind this are yet to be fully understood.

Previous evidence also suggests that gut microbiota have an impact on maintaining gut integrity. It has been reported that one of the SCFAs produced by gut microbiota, butyrate, may have a beneficial impact gut epithelium integrity by enhancing the production of tight junctions via activation of protein kinases as seen in cultured gut epithelia cells (Peng et al. 2009). Another study found that one strain of gut bacteria *Akkermansia muciniphila* directly interacts with cultured enterocytes via adhesion which resulted in improved gut barrier integrity (Reunanen et al. 2015). This suggests that gut bacteria play an important role in the maintenance of gut barrier integrity as part of the regulation of gut immunity.

In addition to the physical barrier of the gut epithelium, in response to the detection of detrimental pathogens the gut can also defend itself via key mechanisms such as mucus production and release of Immunoglobulin A (IgA). The production of mucins from goblet cells in the intestinal villi create a barrier between the intestinal lining and pathogens preventing these microbes from reaching the gut barrier (Bergstrom et al. 2010). This mucus layer has been shown to be protective against pathogens such as rotaviruses (Chen et al. 1993). Goblet cells in the intestinal epithelia produce mucin glycoproteins known as mucin 2 (MUC2) which make part of the composition of the mucus layer (Johansson et al. 2008). The importance of this mucus protein as part of the intestinal protection mechanism has been highlighted via knock out studies where MUC2 knock out mice go on to develop colitis (Van der Sluis et al. 2006). Other studies have also found a link between gut microbiota and MUC2, suggesting that probiotic supplementation results in upregulation of MUC2, possibly providing increased intestinal protection (Caballero-Franco et al. 2007).

IgA is released by the intestinal mucus membrane in response to gut microbes and coats the GI epithelial lining which helps to prevents the crossing of pathogens across the epithelial barrier which could lead to an inflammatory response (Johansen et al. 1999). More recent evidence has also implicated the presence of intestinal IgA⁺ plasma B cells present in the CNS during disease. The study carried out by Rojas et al. (2019) showed that in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model circulating intestinal IgA⁺ plasma B cells were found to be present in the CNS and helped to improve inflamed brain regions, possibly through IL-10 release. While this is interesting, the mechanisms behind this finding are not clear and further work would need to be done to determine if this is a protective mechanism coordinated by the gut and brain as a response to inflammation in the brain.

Gut bacteria are also able to regulate immune cells in the gut which can communicate with the brain to initiate the inflammatory response which in part helps to explain the mechanisms involved in the MGBA (An et al. 2014). It is thought that after their production by the gut bacteria metabolism, SCFAs are actively transported across the gut lumen via monocarboxylate transporters to reach colonocytes to be metabolised (Iwanaga et al. 2006, Gonçalves et al. 2012). SCFAs that are not metabolised are able to enter the blood circulation (Cummings et al. 1987). SCFAs that cross BBB then have the ability to interact with G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) known as free fatty acid receptor (FFAR) 2 and 3 which are expressed by numerous immune cells to control cell signalling events (Uhlen et al. 2015). SFCAs can also act by inhibiting histone deacetylases (HDACs) by promotion of acetylation around histones resulting in changes of gene expression (Waldecker et al. 2008). Butyrate and propionate have been implicated in inflammation and have been shown to have the ability to downregulate the pro-inflammatory NF-κB pathway (Segain et al. 2000, Al-Lahham et al. 2010).

Gut microbiota metabolite SCFAs have also been linked to the functions of CNS microglia. Evidence suggests that SCFAs produced by gut bacteria play an important role in the maturation of microglial populations. Using RNA-sequencing one study found that microglial populations in GF mice showed a downregulation in genes required for microglial cellular activation and cell signalling in comparison with WT mice (Erny et al. 2015). This suggests that a lack of diversity in the gut microbiome, resulting in diminished levels of SCFA may affect microglial function and therefore levels of inflammation in those with gut dysbiosis. A further study has confirmed this, reporting that SCFAs can downregulate proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α in cell cultures of THP-1 monocytes, a cell type similar to microglia (Wenzel et al. 2020). While this link has been established, the full mechanistic relationship behind gut microbiota and microglia function is yet to be understood. This highlights the importance of gut microbiota and SCFAs in the control of inflammation and immunity in the gut. This evidence also suggests that restoring the gut microbiome could result in improved microglial function and control of inflammation. This may be very beneficial in diseases such as AD where disease associated and microglial mediated inflammation is prevalent.

1.3.4 Links between the gut microbiome, aging and AD

Aging is a major risk factor in the development of AD and has been shown to correlate with loss of diversity in the gut microbiome. Individuals who reach extreme old age (classed as 105 years old or above) have gut microbiomes enriched with key beneficial bacteria such

as *Akkermansia* and *Bifidobacterium* which are thought to help support health and longevity and reduce age associated problems like inflammaging (Biagi et al. 2016). This supports the idea that replenishment of the gut bacterial population with key beneficial microbes could be an appropriate method of intervention to help prevent the onset of age-related disease.

There is also growing evidence which suggests a close link between the gut microbiome and neurodegenerative diseases such as AD. Treatment of APP/PS1 mice with antibiotics altered gut microbiome composition which correlated with a decrease in A β plaque deposition and an increase in soluble amyloid 40/42 monomer levels (Minter et al. 2016). In another study it was shown that aged APP/PS1 GF mice display a reduction in A β plaque levels and activated microglia in comparison with age matched conventionally raised APP/PS1 mice (Harach et al. 2017). Both studies support the idea that the gut microbiome may play a role in the development of AD pathology and associated inflammation.

Evidence also points towards a link between the inhibition of HDACs, particularly HDAC2, and improved memory (Morris et al. 2013, Guan et al. 2009). SCFAs produced by gut bacteria play a role in the inhibition of HDAC function and downstream gene expression and it is thought that SCFAs in this context could help to improve AD symptoms such as memory impairment through HDAC2 inhibition (Waldecker et al. 2008). Another study found that the composition of gut microbiota may even be already impaired in patients with MCI which precedes AD (Li et al. 2019). The group who conducted the study hypothesise that gut dysbiosis may occur during MCI due to little difference of gut microbiota composition could even be used as an early biomarker for risk of AD development (Li et al. 2019).

Collectively, this evidence strongly suggests a link between the composition of the gut microbiota and the development of AD pathology and symptoms. This has led to the idea that it may be possible intervene on AD onset and progression through manipulation of the gut microbiome composition, potentially through the use of probiotic supplementation.

1.4 Probiotics

Probiotics were originally defined as "live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host" (FAO/WHO 2002). They are commonly administered orally via capsules or tablets as dietary supplements but are also present in many food products (Meybodi et al. 2017). For example, they are often found naturally

occurring in fermented dairy products such as yogurt or kefir. The most common bacteria used as probiotics includes the strains *Bifidobacterium* and lactic acid producing bacteria *Lactobacillus* (Holzapfel et al. 2001).

It is thought that probiotics replenish the intestinal microbiome with bacteria that release by-products which are toxic to detrimental strains of bacteria that live in the gut (O'Shea et al. 2012). One group of by-products includes bacteriocins which have been shown to diminish the effects of detrimental bacterial strains such as *Listeria monocytogenes*. These effects have been shown to be due to the bacteriocin Abp118, produced by a specific strain of *Lactobacillus salivarious* (Corr et al. 2007).

While probiotics appear to have many beneficial properties, they do also have their limitations. Firstly, probiotics are only effective if they reach the gut alive and can colonise the gut as described in the original WHO definition. This can prove difficult, especially if probiotics are being taken in conjunction with drugs such as antibiotics which may have toxic effects on the probiotic bacteria (Obanla et al. 2016). However, it has also been speculated that in fact probiotics may be a useful therapeutic tool in improving the efficacy of some drugs and could be considered for use in combination with a range of current therapeutics for different diseases (Al-Salami et al. 2008, Matuskova et al. 2014).

1.4.1 Potential health benefits of probiotics

In recent years, the possible beneficial health effects of probiotics have been documented and appear to have the potential to be used as a therapy for some diseases and health problems including Covid-19 (Chen et al. 2015, Raygan et al. 2018, Yong et al. 2020, Baud et al. 2020). It is thought that they do this by restoring the diversity of the gut microbiome where the population has been depleted resulting in gut dysbiosis (Kumar et al. 2020). Gut dysbiosis can lead to problems which have a knock-on effect on health such as leaking of the intestinal epithelial barrier resulting in the infiltration of pathogens and an increase in oxidative stress which has been linked to several health problems (Maes et al. 2010, Stadlbauer et al. 2020). The effects of disease or the use of certain medications such as antibiotics can upset the homeostasis of the gut, resulting in dysbiosis. Use of antibiotics appear to diminish biologically beneficial bacteria in the gut while being administered to eradicate pathogenic bacteria (Bartosch et al. 2004). This can upset the homeostasis of the gut microbiome and induce a state of gut dysbiosis particularly if the antibiotics are taken in the early years of life (Neuman et al. 2018).

The most common gut disorder is irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) with an estimated 15% of the global population suffering from its effects (Lovell and Ford 2012). The symptoms typically include changes in stool consistency and frequency along with uncomfortable bloating and flatulence. Studies have shown that there is a significant difference in gut microflora in patients with IBS compared with healthy controls (Kassinen et al. 2007). A recent systematic review of clinical trials assessing the potential of probiotics as a treatment for IBS concluded that there was a trend for multi-strain probiotic treatments improving IBS symptoms and could be a promising treatment option (Dale et al. 2019).

There has been an increase in studies linking neurodegeneration with gut dysbiosis, particularly, Parkinson's disease (PD) and AD (Hasegawa et al. 2015, Vogt et al. 2017). In recent years the literature has greatly expanded with studies supporting the benefits of probiotics in AD. One study found that probiotic supplementation combined with exercise in the APP/PS1 AD mouse model improved AD development (Abraham et al. 2019). Another study found that supplementation of rats injected with A β (1-42) with *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* probiotic strains improved behaviour and showed improved levels of oxidative stress in the hippocampal region (Azm et al. 2018). Another group has reported that the supplementation of probiotic in a GF AD mouse model improved the gut integrity of the mice and improved inflammation in the gut. (Kaur et al. 2020). However, the authors did note that probiotic supplementation of the mice had little effect on AD pathology and levels of astrogliosis in this study and that further work is needed. Additionally, probiotic supplementation in rats fed a high fat diet showed lower levels of microglial activation and subsequently improved brain function, supporting that probiotics may have a positive impact on microglial activation status (Chunchai et al. 2018).

A consortium of probiotics known as Lab4 have been used in numerous studies to assess the impact of probiotics in health and disease. Previous work has shown that Lab4 probiotics have beneficial effects on cholesterol levels and arthrosclerosis (Michael et al. 2017, O'Morain et al. 2021), In addition, it has been shown that Lab4 probiotics may have neuroprotective effects, suggesting that they could be advantageous if used as a treatment for AD and other neurodegenerative conditions (Michael et al. 2019). The study utilised the human SH-SY5Y neuronal cell line to assess the effects of Lab4 probiotic application in the presence of challenges such as neurotoxic rotenone. Lab4 probiotic application resulted in improved cell viability and a decrease in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), suggestive of neuroprotective properties.

1.5 Research question, hypothesis and aims

Our knowledge of the gut microbiome and its link to disease has expanded in recent years, however there are still many things we do not yet fully understand and require further investigation. Also, we still lack a lot of knowledge around the use of probiotics and their potential benefits in a range of diseases. Evidence from previous studies strongly suggest that the brain and gut are closely linked and that the gut is also responsible for co-ordinating immune responses (An et al. 2014). An area that requires further study is the use of probiotics in neurodegenerative diseases, particularly in AD to explore whether it is possible for probiotics to impact the onset and progression of AD and if they can be a viable early intervention. What remains unclear is how probiotics have this beneficial impact on AD pathology and symptoms. It is likely that gut microbiota metabolites such as SCFAs have an impact on microglial health and function as part of the control of inflammation and regulation of the immune response in a disrupted MGBA.

Based on findings from previous studies which have indicated that probiotics may have neuroprotective properties, ameliorate cognitive decline and improve neuroinflammation *in vitro* and *in vivo*, we hypothesise that the Lab4 family of probiotics may help support normal microglial cell health and may ameliorate inflammatory activation of these cells.

The aims of this thesis are:

- 1) To use *in vitro* models of microglia to test whether probiotic metabolites generated *in vitro* can affect gene expression of key inflammatory markers and microglial cell health.
- 2) To assess the impact of probiotics in vivo in healthy WT mice.
- 3) To use *in vitro* models of microglia to test the ability of probiotic-derived metabolites generated *in vivo* to modulate amyloid-induced inflammatory effects.

To achieve these aims, initially the use of *in vitro* methods of experimentation were used to assess the effects of probiotics on mouse BV-2 microglial cells. BV-2 cell viability and gene expression were measured using crystal violet (CV) assay and RT-qPCR on a range of key inflammatory target genes. To validate the *in vitro* findings, a limited *in vivo* experimentation was carried out. This included assessing the behaviour of WT mice fed a diet supplemented with Lab4P probiotic and mice fed a normal chow diet over a period of two-weeks through the use of novel object recognition testing and assessment of changes in

microglial population via flow cytometry. The *in vivo* work also allowed the generation of mouse serum from control and Lab4P supplemented mice. This serum was then used in downstream *in vitro* assays using BV-2 cells to determine the effects of the serum on the cells without a challenge, before finally assessing the effects of serum on BV-2s in the presence of synthetic A β (1-42) to determine the effects of probiotic metabolites on microglial cells in the context of AD. This was measured through the use of CV assay for cell viability and RT-qPCR to determine changes in gene expression of the same inflammatory target genes.

Chapter 2

Materials and methods

2.1 Cell culture and experimental seeding

The BV-2 microglial cell line is an immortalised semi-adherent mouse microglial cell lineage that was selected for use in this project due to its relevance, as seen in the literature (Blaisi et al. 1990, Henn et al. 2009, Stansley et al. 2012). Cells were routinely cultured in T75 flasks (Sarstedt, UK) using Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Gibco, UK), supplemented with 10% (v/v) sterile filtered Foetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Gibco, UK) and 100 U/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin (P/S). Cells were maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were passaged when confluency was between 80-100%. Since BV-2 cells are semi-adherent, cell culture flasks were lightly tapped to release cells from the surface to facilitate passaging. To passage, cell suspensions were subjected to centrifugation at 150 x g for 5 minutes and washed with 1 x phosphate buffered saline (PBS). A further centrifugation step was carried out (150 x g for 5 minutes) before removal of 1 x PBS and resuspension of the cell pellet in the culture medium as described above. For routine passaging, cells were diluted between 1:2 and 1:10 depending on the level of confluency of the parent flask.

For experiments, BV-2 cells needed to be transferred to assay plates at specific cell densities. Briefly, a coverslip was attached to the haemocytometer before 10µL of the stock of collected cell suspension was pipetted under the coverslip with the help of capillary force. 10X magnification was used on a Nikon Eclipse TS100 microscope (Nikon) to visualise cells, which were counted in the haemocytometer quadrants. Cells were then diluted in the same cell culture medium before placing in the relevant assay plate for experiments. Cell density was scaled up or down depending on the required plate to maintain a density of 150,000 cells per cm².

2.2 Crystal violet assay

BV-2 cell viability was assessed using the CV method. BV-2 cells were seeded into 96-well plates. After 24 hours, medium was removed and changed to medium containing the conditions for the experiments (as described in the appropriate figure legends and accompanying results). Following the treatment period, cells were washed twice in room temperature 1 x PBS. CV solution (0.1% (w/v) CV powder in 2% (v/v) ethanol) was applied at a volume of 100µL per well and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. Cells were then washed twice with 1 x PBS after CV solution removal. Plates were left to dry overnight and once dry 10% Acetic acid (v/v in 1 x PBS) was applied to cells and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. Supernatant (20µL) was transferred into duplicate wells of a new 96

well plate and diluted with 180μ L of 10 % (v/v) Acetic acid. Absorbance was read on a Tecan Microplate Reader (Life Sciences) at 595nm.

2.3 Lab4 consortia of probiotics

Probiotics used were provided by Cultech Ltd. (Port Talbot, Wales) as freeze-dried preparations. Lab4b probiotics included the strains: *Lactobacillus salivarius* CUL61 (NCIMB 30211), *Lactobacillus paracasei* CUL08 (NCIMB 30154), *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30153) and *Bifidobacterium animalis*, subspecies *lactis* CUL34 (NCIMB 30172). Lab4P strains comprised of: *Lactobacillus acidophilus* CUL21 (NCIMB 30156) and CUL60 (NCIMB 30157), *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30157), *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30153) and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30157), *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30153) and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30153) and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CUL20 (NCIMB 30153) and *Bifidobacterium animalis*, subspecies *lactis* CUL34 (NCIMB 30172).

2.4 Conditioned media preparation

Conditioned media preparation was carried out as described in Michael et al. (2019). Briefly, Lab4b and Lab4P conditioned media were prepared by inoculating 10mL of DeMan Rogosa Sharpe (MRS) broth with 10mg of the freeze-dried Lab4b or Lab4P powder. This was left to incubate anaerobically at 37° C overnight. The bacteria were then pelleted via centrifugation (1000 x g for 20 minutes). The supernatant was then removed and replaced with 10mL 1 x PBS before being centrifuged again at 1000 x g for 20 minutes. DMEM containing no additives was added to dilute the probiotic concentration to 1 x 10^{9} colony forming units per mL (CFU/mL) for each sample. Cultures were then centrifuged at 1000 x g for 20 minutes to pellet the bacteria again. Probiotic by-products were then extracted by passing the supernatant through a 0.22μ M sterile filter, then adjusting the pH to 7.4 using 1M NaOH and 1M HCl and adding 50 U/mL P/S. The resulting sterile filtrate of Lab4b or Lab4P

2.5 Synthetic amyloid in vitro assays

Synthetic lysophilised amyloid peptides were obtained from Abcam UK (Amyloid Beta 1-42, human (ab120301)). An amyloid stock was prepared by solubilising in 100% (v/v) Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) at a concentration of 1mM as suggested by the manufacturer

(Abcam, UK). Two concentrations of DMSO amyloid solution were tested and prepared in DMEM at 0.5μ M and at 5μ M (Chiozzi et al. 2019). A control containing DMEM and 0.5% (v/v) DMSO was also used. The literature suggested that synthetic amyloid could aggregate to a pathological form *in vitro* when left over time, therefore amyloid was prepared and used by two methods (Caldeira et al. 2017):

- Applying neat (non-aggregated) DMSO solubilsed amyloid to the cells at 0.5μM and 5μM.
- (ii) Allowing the DMSO solubilsed amyloid to aggregate in DMEM at a concentration of 0.5μ M and 5μ M for 24 hours at 37° C and 5% CO₂ before application to cells.

2.6 RT-qPCR

BV-2 cells were seeded into 24-well plates or 48-well plates as required before the application of conditions of experiments carried out (as described in the appropriate figure legends and accompanying results). After incubation with test conditions for a given period of time BV-2 cells were gently washed in 1 x PBS once followed by the addition of 0.5mL RiboZol™ RNA Extraction Reagent (VWR Life Sciences). RNA extraction was carried out according to the manufacturer's directions for adherent cell RNA extraction. After removing media, cells were washed once in 1 x PBS and 500µL RiboZol[™] was added. Following this, samples were transferred into 1.5mL RNAse free Eppendorf tubes and 100µL of pure chloroform was added. Samples were then mixed via inversion for 15 seconds to allow for phase separation before centrifugation at 12,000 g for 5 minutes. The top aqueous phase was transferred into new duplicate Eppendorf tubes and 250µL of 100% isopropanol was added. Tubes were mixed via inversion for 15 seconds and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 10 minutes to pellet RNA. Isopropanol was removed and pellets were washed via repeated washing steps in 70% (v/v) ethanol with centrifugation at 7,500 x g for 5 minutes. After three washes, ethanol was removed and RNA pellets were resuspended in 20µL of molecular grade H₂O and stored at -80°C until ready to use.

Quantification of RNA was carried out using a QuBit according to manufacturer's instructions (Thermofisher). Following quantification of the RNA, a reverse transcriptase (RT) reaction mix was made using Applied Biosystem Reverse Transcriptase kit (Applied Biosystems, Thermofisher). For RT reactions, molecular grade H₂O was used to adjust the

concentration of RNA in the RT mix to create a standardised quantity of 1,000ng, 500ng or 200ng RNA for the RT reaction depending on the available concentrations of RNA. Adjusted RNA was added to the reaction mastermix containing RT buffer, random primers, dNTP mix, RNAse inhibitor and Reverse Transcriptase. Thermal cycler conditions for RT reaction were 25°C for 10 minutes, 37°C for 120 minutes, 85°C for 5 minutes. The resulting cDNA generated from the RT reaction was then diluted to a standardised stock of 10ng/µL so that all samples and experiments could be accurately compared using the same concentration of total cDNA.

For qPCR analysis, 10ng of all cDNA samples were assayed in 20µL reactions by mixing with 2 x SYBR Green (Bio-Rad) with 0.25µM forward and 0.25µM reverse primers specific to gene targets. Primer sequences for the assayed genes of interest (GOI) are detailed in Table 2.1. qPCR thermal cycler conditions are detailed in Table 2.2. The cycling parameters were pre-validated from previous work carried out by the Cultech research team.

RT-qPCR data was analysed using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. Statistical analysis for all RTqPCR data was carried out on Δ Ct values. Data are presented graphically after normalisation as mean fold change relative to the control following $\Delta\Delta$ Ct calculation for clarity and visual effect. All graphs and statistical analysis for RT-qPCR carried out on Δ Ct values can be found in the appendix.

	Target			
Species	Gene	Forward Sequence (5'-3')	Reverse Sequence (5'-3')	Source
Mouse	IL-1β	GAGGACATGAGCACCTTCTTT	GCCTGTAGTGCAGTTGTCTAA	Eurofins, UK
Mouse	IL-6	GAGGATACCACTCCCAACAGACC	AAGTGCATCATCGTTGTTCATACA	Eurofins, UK
Mouse	IL-10	TAAGGGTTACTTGGGTTGCCA	GAGAAATCGATGACAGCGCC	Eurofins, UK
Mouse	β-Actin	ACACCCGCCACCAGTTCGCCAT	CACACCCTGGTGCCTAGGGCGGCCCACGATG	Eurofins, UK

Table 2.1. Primers used for RT-qPCR.

Stage	Temp (°C)	Time	
	94	2 mins	
Denaturation	95	15 secs	
Annealing	60	15 secs	39x
Extension	72	30 secs	
	65	5 secs	
	95	5 secs	
Post			
Reaction	10	∞	

Table 2.2. qPCR thermal cycle conditions used to assess gene expression.

2.7 Animal cohort

Under the authority of Home Office license P8159A562, 20 WT C57BL/6 male mice were purchased from Charles River and delivered to Biological Services (BIOSERV) at Cardiff School of Medicine. Mice (N=20) were housed in groups of 1 - 3 per cage in scantainers in a room at 21°C. Rooms were on a 12-hour light/dark cycle (7am-7pm). After one week to acclimatise in the BIOSERV facility, the mice were randomly assigned into groups of 10. The first group (N=10) had access to standard rodent chow (Teklad) with vehicle control powdered diluent Maltodextrose 20 (MD20) and water *ad libitum*. The other group (N=10) had access to a rodent chow diet (Teklad) supplemented with freeze-dried Lab4P probiotic mix and water *ad libitum*. All dilutions of probiotics were prepared in MD20 to align both the control and the probiotic feed. Lab4P probiotic was applied to the chow containing 1.4 x 10⁹ CFU/g. Both control and Lab4P diets were mixed well before applying to cage hoppers. Mice were weighed at the start point (day 0), mid-point (day 7) and end point (day 14) of the two-week period. Average food and water intake were also calculated by weighing food pellets and water over a 24-hour period.

2.8 Mouse serum generation

Mice were culled via a Schedule 1 method (CO_2) and blood exsanguinated via cardiac puncture. Blood was allowed to clot naturally before being separated by centrifugation at 3000 x g for 5 minutes to generate serum which was removed and stored in 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes at -80°C until ready to use. Prior to use in experimentation serum was heat inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes to destroy any complement activity that might confound data.

2.9 Mouse behavioural testing

Mice (N=20) were subjected to behavioral assessment at the start point (0 weeks) before being randomly assigned into groups fed either a control (N=10) or a Lab4P supplemented (N=10) diet. Mice were then subjected to behavioral assessment again at the end of a two-week treatment period. Initial acclimatisation of the behavioural arena was carried out for all mice on the day before testing was carried out. All behavioural testing was carried out without any noise to promote natural mouse behaviours. Both cohorts of mice were filmed using a GoPro Hero 5 camera for 10 minutes per test with 30-minute intervals. At these intervals, mice were placed back in their original housing. Behavioural arena layouts are shown in Figure 2.1. The behavioral arena (39 x 39 cm) was made of solid white plastic on all sides with one transparent panel at the front for observations. It was also lined with sawdust bedding material spread across the base to promote natural behaviours and to reduce stress in the mice (as previously identified from not using sawdust in previous work). GoPro Hero 5 cameras were plugged into mains and suspended by a solid plastic arm 39cm above the centre of the arenas to capture all movements by the mice. Mice were placed individually into the arena for testing. All objects used were similar in size and placed symmetrically on premarked places in the cage as not to promote left or right preferences. Sets of "familiar" and novel objects used for start point and end point behavioral assessment were changed to ensure no prior exposure to the object which might bias object recognition. Testing was carried out in three phases:

Phase 1: Open field testing (arena habituation)

The first phase of testing was the habituation phase. Mice were allowed to move freely in an open field (arena with no objects) and filmed for a period of ten minutes.

Phase 2: "Familiar phase" (object habituation)

Mice were placed into the same arena with two identical objects on the left- and righthand side of the arena. Mice were allowed to move and interact with the objects freely in the test arena and filmed once again for 10 minutes. During this phase the objects become "familiar" to the mice.

Phase 3: Novel object recognition (NOR)

In the final phase of testing, mice were placed in the arena with one now "familiar" object from Phase 2 on the right-hand side of the arena. The "familiar" left hand side object was removed and replaced with one novel object to test NOR. Mice were allowed to move freely and interact with the objects while being filmed over a period of ten minutes.



2.10 Use of EthoVision XT[™] for behavioural analysis

Analysis of animal behavior was carried out using EthoVision XT[™] Software (Noldus). Files were imported from the GoPro Hero 5 devices into the EthoVision XT[™] software. Templates were set up for open field, familiar object and novel object. For open field analysis, a mask was applied to the top-down videos to separate the arena into outer and inner areas (inner being 20% inward from the perimeter). For all object recognition analysis, masks were drawn around objects with an additional 2cm radius to track interest in this area and in the objects themselves. Arena settings were micro-adjusted appropriately for each individual video file where small discrepancies in setup may have altered the layouts of items slightly. Mouse detection was carried out automatically and non-subjectively using the in-built algorithms of the software.

Using these parameters, this allowed for the generation of values for total distance the mouse moved, cumulative time the mouse spent moving and frequency of mouse movement. Definition of the "perimeter" and "centre" regions of the arena allowed for the generation of values for time spent in each defined region or the frequency that mice entered each defined region. For object recognition tests, automatic mouse detection set up comprised of a front directional overlay, allowing the software to identify the mouse's nose and detect when it entered the previously defined object perimeters. These parameters allowed for the generation of values for frequency of mouse interaction with object and the amount of time each mouse spent at the objects. Discrimination ratios (DR) were calculated to identify novel object preference by assessing time spent interacting with the novel object during Phase 3 of testing. After completion of behavioral testing all videos were processed through the software to generate a data spreadsheet which was exported as a Microsoft Excel .csv file for further analysis.

2.11 Isolation of cells from mouse brains

Brains were harvested from mice fed a control (N=5) or Lab4P supplemented (N=5) diet over a two-week period. One hemisphere was taken for use in flow cytometry analysis and placed in sterile 1 x PBS. PBS was removed using a pipette and brain hemisphere was homogenised by mashing into small pieces via scissors and spatula. Tissue was then digested in 1mL of Collagenase buffer (reagents outlined in Table 2.3) which was kept at 4°C until ready to use. Tissue mixed with Collagenase buffer was incubated at 37°C in a rocking water bath for 45 minutes. Following digestion each mixture was passed through a 70 μ m cell strainer before passing through in 20mL of cold PBS to rinse the strainer and to suspend the mixture. Tissue mixture was then centrifuged at 250 x g for 5 minutes. Supernatant was removed before resuspending the pellet in 20mL of room temperature 37.5% Percoll solution (diluted with 1 x PBS). This was then centrifuged again at 250 x g for 5 minutes to induce separation of hepatocyte and lymphocytes. Supernatant was removed and pellet resuspended in 20mL of sterile 1 x PBS and centrifuged at 250 x g for 5 minutes. Finally, the pellet was resuspended in 20mL of sterile PBS.

	Volume		Source
	for	Final	
	10mL	Concentration	
DMEM	9.195mL	N/A	Gibco, UK
FBS	500µL	5% (v/v)	Gibco, UK
Calcium Chloride (CaCl)	100µL	5mM	Sigma, UK
Collagenase D	200µL	1mg/mL	Roche, UK
Deoxyribonuclease I (DNAse I)	5µL	50µg/mL	Sigma, UK

Table 2.3. Composition of collagenase buffer for digestion of homogenised brain tissue.

2.12 Preparation of cells for flow cytometry

Following cell isolation, 100µL of cell solution was added to a round bottom 96-well microplate. Leftover cell solution was pooled into one control sample well and one probiotic sample well to act as controls. The plate was centrifuged at 450 x g for 3 minutes. The supernatant was then carefully removed and 25µL of Live/Dead[™] fixable Zombie Aqua (Thermofisher, UK) diluted 1:50 in 1 x PBS was added to all wells. Cells were then incubated with the Live/Dead stain for 5 minutes in the dark at room temperature. Following incubation 100µL of FACS Buffer (FB) was added to each well to wash. The plate was then centrifuged at 450 x g for 3 minutes. Supernatant was removed again and 25µL of Fc block (anti-mouse CD16/32) was added to all wells and left to incubate in the dark for ten minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed with FB as before. Then 25µL of anti-mouse cell surface antibodies diluted in FB were added to respective wells. Antibodies were not added to the control and Lab4P pooled sample wells. The antibody panel used for this work is detailed in Table 2.4. Once antibodies had been added to the wells, they were left to incubate in the dark for ten minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed in FB as before. After washing 25µL of 4% (w/v) Paraformaldehyde (PFA) (diluted with FB) was added to each well for fixation and the plate was left to incubate in the dark for ten minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed and 100µL of FB added to each well.

Following fixation, the plate was centrifuged at 450 x g for 3 minutes and the supernatant removed. Intracellular staining permeabilisation wash buffer (Biolegend, UK) was used at 1 x (diluted 1:10 using sterile H₂O) was added to the cells at 25µL and left to incubate in the dark for ten minutes at room temperature. Then 25μ L of anti-mouse intracellular antibodies diluted in 1 x cell permeabilisation buffer (Table 2.4) were added to the wells and left to incubate in the dark for ten minutes at room temperature before washing. Finally, cells were resuspended in 100µL of FB before being processed via FACS. Data was acquired using

a Thermo Attune NxT polychromatic flow cytometer (ThermoFisher, UK). Files were exported as .fcs file for further analysis in FlowJo[™] (Treestar).

Antibody	Reactivity	Clone	Location	Fluorochrome	Dilution	Source
	Anti-	30-F11	Cell			Biolegend,
CD45	mouse		Surface	Bv605	1:100	UK
	Anti-	FA-11	Cell			Biolegend,
CD68	mouse		Surface	PerCP	1:50	UK
	Anti-	M1/70	Cell			Biolegend,
CD11b	mouse		Surface	APC-Cy7	1:100	UK
	Anti-	MP6-	Intra-			Biolegend,
TNF-α	mouse	XT22	cellular	APC	1:100	UK
	Anti-	MP5-	Intra-			Biolegend,
IL-6	mouse	20F3	cellular	PE	1:100	UK
	Anti-	JES5-	Intra-			Biolegend,
IL-10	mouse	16E3	cellular	FITC	1:100	UK

Table 2.4. Anti-mouse antibody panel used for staining of cells for flow cytometry. Antibody clone, associated fluorochromes, dilution of each antibody used and source are also detailed.

2.13 Use of FlowJo[™] software for flow cytometry analysis

FlowJo[™] software (v10.8.1) (Treestar) was used for analysis of flow cytometry data. After upload of .fcs files to the FlowJo workspace it was possible to begin gating for cells of interest based on microglial cell surface markers. Microglial cell markers where chosen based on previous literature for microglial gating. Initially a lymphocyte population was determined to distinguish lymphocytes amongst other cellular debris. Next the cell surface antigen CD45, a widely used marker for determining microglial cells was used in further gating with the Live/Dead to determine a population of CD45⁺ cells (Hickman et al. 2013, Rangaraju et al. 2018). Finally, CD11b and CD68 were chosen due to being well known microglial specific cell surface markers (Chakrabaty et al. 2010, Holness and Simmons 1993). Following this gating strategy, a population of CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ cells was established for use in further analysis (gating strategy is summarised in Figure 2.2).

Event counts generated by FlowJoTM were used to determine mean numbers of microglial populations in the brain of mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet. Additionally, expression of cytokines TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10 in the CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial populations were also assessed. Data are presented as contour plots (2%) or as histograms (normalised to mode). After individual analysis, data files were pooled into

"Control" and "Lab4P" groups using the concatenation tool embedded in FlowJo[™], for further analysis. The same gating strategy was used as described above to determine event counts and cytokine expression using the pooled data files.



2.14 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using GraphPadTM (Prism). Statistical significance was set at $P \le 0.05$. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. When comparing two un-matched groups normality testing was carried out using Shapiro-Wilk testing. If data were normally distributed an un-paired t-test was used. If not normally distributed a Mann-Whitney test to compare ranks was used. To compare means of datasets with more than two groups,

data was assessed for normality using Shapiro-Wilk testing. If data were normally distributed a normal one-way ANOVA was carried out to compare differences in means between groups. This was followed by post-hoc analysis using Dunnett's multiple comparison test. If data were not normally distributed a Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA test was used to assess differences in means between groups. This was followed by post-hoc analysis using Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Two-Way ANOVA was required in cases where it was required to test the effects of two variables at the same time. Where Two-Way ANOVA was carried out, post-hoc analysis followed using Sidak's multiple comparison testing.

Chapter 3

In vitro assessment of the effects of probiotic conditioned media on BV-2 microglial cells

3.1 Introduction

The use of *in vitro* cell culture has proved to be an invaluable tool in scientific research. Cellular monoculture allows for assays to be performed to assess genetic, metabolic and phenotypic changes that occur in response to a wide range of challenges.

Microglia play a key role in mediating the inflammatory response in AD. Gliosis has been shown to be an early event during the pathogenesis of AD, perpetuating widespread inflammation as the disease progresses (Craft et al. 2006, Kamphuis et al. 2012, Martin et al. 2017). Evidence suggests that suppression of microglial activity could help to improve the outlook of AD in patients (Spangenberg et al. 2016). Therefore, investigating the inflammatory processes driven by microglia *in vitro* could prove helpful in elucidating the mechanisms behind their involvement in AD and subsequent disease associated inflammation. An advantage of *in vitro* cell lines by comparison with *in vivo* models, is that they provide a means of manipulating specific variables in a tightly controlled manner where the level of complexity is markedly less than in an *in vivo* model, providing a quicker turnover in terms of data collection (Stansley et al. 2012).

A range of microglial cell lines exist that could be useful for this purpose, including the mouse N9, rat HAPI and human CHME-5 (Righi et al. 1989, Cheepsunthorn et al. 2001, Janabi et al. 1995). However, one of the most widely cited in the literature is the mouse BV-2 cell line (Timmerman et al. 2018). The cell line was originally derived from primary neonatal cells taken from the cerebral cortex of C57BL/J6 mice and transformed by the J2 retrovirus which carries the *v*-*raf* and *v*-*myc* oncogenes (Blasi et al. 1990). The BV-2 cell line has comparable functionality and phenotypic properties to *in vivo* microglia and therefore can act as a useful *in vitro* model in the context of AD (Henn et al. 2009, Stansley et al. 2012).

Previous evidence has suggested that dysbiosis of gut microbiota is linked to the development of AD (Cattaneo et al. 2016, Zhang et al. 2017). Since probiotics can replenish the gut microbiome and improve dysbiosis it is possible that they may confer a health benefit to AD patients via improving disease associated inflammation and changes in metabolism (Azm et al. 2018, Bonfili et al. 2020). Microglia are able to produce particular cytokines which contribute to the inflammatory response and have been found to be important in the context of AD. Three key cytokines produced by microglia as part of the inflammatory response in AD chosen for their relevance to this work include:

<u>IL-1β</u>

IL-1β plays a central role in the induction of the inflammatory response and is largely produced by macrophages (Taylor et al. 2005). Activation of microglial TLRs via PAMPs or DAMPs from inflammatory stimuli initiate IL-1β transcription and translation (Akira et al. 2006). Production of IL-1β protein is a tightly controlled process and requires two signals. Initially, the first signal is induced by inflammatory stimuli interacting with DAMPs which activate TLRs which then dimerise and initiate signaling via MyD88, leading to the transcription and translation of pro-IL-1β via the NF-κB pathway (Takeda and Akira 2005). This is a priming step which prepares the microglia to produce the mature IL-1β cytokine protein. Secondly, another signal is required, such as ATP, which can activate the P2X₇R receptor. This allows the NLRP3 inflammasome to activate caspase 1, which in turn cleaves pro-IL-1β to convert it into its active form (Ferrari et al. 2006, Facci et al. 2014). Finally, active IL-1β release requires the presence of phospholipase C for secretion out of the cell (Andrei et al. 2004).

IL-1β is typically known to be pro-inflammatory and can mediate inflammatory pathways. After IL-1β production, it binds with the type I IL-1 receptor (IL-1R1) on the cell surface of immune cells such as B-cells, T-cells and neutrophils to initiate inflammatory signaling cascades involving the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway and the activation of transcription factors such as NF-κB (Dunne and O'Neill 2003). NF-κB is a transcription factor which is required for the control of a variety of cytokine genes, therefore IL-1β mediated production of NF-κB results in the production of more cytokines, including IL-6 and induces oxidative stress (Liu et al. 2017). This complex signaling cascade therefore results in the propagation of the inflammatory response. IL-1β itself has the ability to perpetuate the inflammatory response in the presence of itself via a positive feedback loop, therefore sustaining IL-1β gene expression levels (Dinarello et al. 1987, Schindler et al. 1990).

IL-1 β is particularly involved in the mediation of neuroinflammation and has been found to be upregulated in MCI and AD patients (Forlenza et al. 2010). One study suggests that IL-1 β mediated sustained activation of microglia in the hippocampal region of rats induced via LPS injection, resulted in reduced nervous transmission, a decrease in BDNF and a decline in memory (Tanaka et al. 2006). This is also supported by newer evidence which suggests that chronic IL-1 β production in the hippocampus results in decreased BDNF function which may be a contributing factor to cognitive decline alongside neuronal death in AD (Carlos et al. 2017). Evidence suggests that the downregulation of IL-1 β may be beneficial in AD. Zhang et al. (2021) showed that IL-1 β inhibition in an AD mouse model resulted in reduction of amyloid deposition and increased neuroprotection. Additionally, previous work has also shown that probiotic supplementation of rats injected with A β caused a reduction in IL-1 β levels, among other cytokines (Mehrabadi and Sadr 2020). Therefore, as it is an important microglial mediator of inflammation in the context of AD, IL-1 β was a key gene target in this work.

<u>IL-6</u>

IL-6 is a cytokine which has pro-inflammatory properties and is released by innate immune cells such as microglia. This also occurs in response to inflammatory stimuli such as PAMPs and DAMPs recognition by TLRs (Takeda and Akira 2005). IL-6 is largely under the control of the transcription factor NF-κB with evidence suggesting the presence of highly conserved NF-κB binding sites around the IL-6 transcriptional start site (Miyazawa et al. 1998). Canonical NF-κB signaling triggered by stimuli at TLRs is very important for mediating the transcription and translation of IL-6 and is therefore a key player in facilitating inflammation (Wang et al. 2014).

After transcription and translation, IL-6 is secreted and binds to IL-6 receptors on the cell surfaces of immune cells initiating classical IL-6 signaling (Heinrich et al. 2003). However, soluble IL-6 receptors (sIL-6R) also exist in the extracellular environment and can bind to free IL-6 to mediate trans-signaling by docking onto cell membranes (Peters et al. 1998). In each case after binding, the addition of the signal transducing subunit gp130 is required to induce the IL-6 signaling pathways; JAK/STAT and MAPK (Ohtani et al. 2000, Guschin et al. 1995, Costa-Pereira et al. 2014). The release of IL-6 from microglia also contributes to the support of the adaptive immune system including a type of lymphocyte known as CD4⁺ T-cells where IL-6 prevents apoptosis to ensure T-cell survival (Ayroldi et al. 1998).

IL-6 has been shown to play a role in controlling T-cell phenotypes. Normally, the BBB restricts the entry of T-cells into the brain, however in AD where the BBB is compromised these cells are able to pass through as part of the inflammatory process (Ferretti et al. 2016). A distinctive subset of lymphocytes that uniquely produce IL-17 are known as T-helper 17 (T_H17) cells and play a major role inflammation (Ouyang et al. 2008). These are produced via differentiation of CD4⁺ T-cells facilitated by IL-6 and other cytokines such as TGF- β (Bettelli et al. 2006, Veldhoen et al. 2006). Additionally, JNK pathway associated phosphatase (JKAP) has also been implicated in mediating CD4⁺ differentiation and dysregulation of this protein

linked to cognitive decline in AD (Zeng et al. 2021). T_H17 cells are upregulated in AD patients and are thought to perpetuate chronic inflammation which is associated with the disease (Saresella et al. 2010, Oberstein et al. 2018). T_H17 cells do this by generating pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17, IL-21, IL-23 and IFN- γ which contribute to the recruitment of activated immune cells and further propagate inflammatory signaling (Korn et al. 2007, Chung et al. 2006).

Interestingly, TGF- β which has been implicated in T_H17 differentiation also plays a role upregulating another CD4⁺ subpopulation known as T regulatory cells (T-regs), adding to the complexity of this arm of the immune response (Fantini et al. 2004). This is conflicting because T-regs under the control of transcription factor Foxp3 help to regulate and dampen the inflammatory response via release of IL-10 (Chen et al. 2003, Hill et al. 2007). Evidence shows that a reduction in T-regs in APP/PS1 AD mouse models contributes to AD cognitive decline and prevented microglial recruitment to amyloid plaques suggesting they are vital for clearance of AD pathology (Dansoko et al. 2016). Therefore, if probiotics do have the ability to reduce IL-6 gene expression this could also help to diminish chronic disease associated inflammation by influencing the balance of CD4⁺ differentiation in response to disease by either suppressing the differentiation of CD4⁺ T-regs via TGF- β signaling. This makes IL-6 a target gene of interest in the context of AD and microglial mediated inflammation.

<u>IL-10</u>

IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine produced by a range of immune cells, including CNS microglia (Ledeboer et al. 2002). Evidence suggests that IL-10 has the ability to inhibit the pro-inflammatory NF-κB pathway which results in an anti-inflammatory effect (Driessler et al. 2004). Since chronic inflammation is associated with AD due to the development of pathology and the increase in activated microglial, IL-10 has been shown to play a potentially important role in reducing microglial activation (Cianciulli et al. 2015). However, contrary to this there is evidence to suggest that AD mouse models crossed with IL-10 knock out mice showed better cognition, thought to be due to better Aβ plaque clearance via microglia (Guillot-Sestier et al. 2015). Therefore, despite these links between IL-10 and AD, our understanding of the full effects of the role of IL-10 in AD does remain unclear at present.

Evidence suggests that probiotic supplementation may be able to help upregulate IL-10 production providing anti-inflammatory effects (Karthikeyan et al. 2012, Jensen et al. 2017). Particularly, studies have shown that probiotic metabolites such as SCFAs may be able to promote populations of T_H1 cells resulting in higher levels of IL-10 production (Sun et al. 2018). Therefore, assessing the effect that Lab4b and Lab4P may have on IL-10 gene expression in microglial cells is of interest in this present study.

Lab4 probiotic CM has previously shown to have neuroprotective properties in the context of AD (Michael et al. 2019). Additionally, previous work carried out at Cultech has shown that Lab4 supplementation in 3xTg mice improves gene expression of inflammatory cytokines, possibly by reducing levels of microglial activation (communicated by Dr Tom Webberley). Microglia are involved in crosstalk with neurons and are closely associated with the progression of AD via mediation of disease associated inflammation. Therefore, an investigation into the effects that Lab4b and Lab4P have on microglial cell health and cytokine gene expression may help to elucidate the mechanisms by which they contribute to neurodegeneration.

Therefore, the aims of the work presented in this chapter are as follows:

- Determination of suitable experimental parameters to assess the impact of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM on BV-2 cells.
- To determine the response of BV-2 cells following stimulation with Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM in the absence of any other challenge.

These aims were achieved by establishing appropriate seeding numbers and measurement of BV-2 cell viability over different incubation periods and by assessing BV-2 cell viability and levels of gene expression of key microglial cytokine target genes after stimulation with Lab4b and Lab4P CM.

52

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Determining optimum conditions for in vitro experimentation with BV-2 cells

The BV-2 cell line was chosen as an appropriate cell culture model for the investigation of microglial health. CV assay (as described in Chapter 2.2) was used to determine the most appropriate number of BV-2 cells to seed wells for future experiments. To do this BV-2 cells were seeded at different densities and plated per well (area of 0.32cm²) in 96-well plates to assess cell viability over two timepoints (Figure 3.1). Results shown have been normalised relative to the control (0 cells per well) to account for background noise.



Figure 3.1. Assessment of BV-2 cell viability over time at different seed densities. BV-2 cells were seeded into 96 well plates at increasing cell density and grown with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours (**A**) or 48 hours (**B**) to determine an optimum cell density for future BV-2 cell assays. Cells were processed using Crystal Violet assay to assess viability. (**C**) Datasets were compared to assess changes between timepoints. Cell viability was measured using Crystal Violet assay. Results shown have been normalised relative to the control (0 cells per well) to account for background noise. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included (**A** and **B**) One way ANOVA, followed by post hoc Tukey's multiple comparisons test and (**C**) two-way ANOVA, followed by post hoc Sidak's multiple comparisons test. * = *P*≤0.05, ** = *P*≤0.01, *** = *P*≤0.001.

<u>24 Hours</u>

After a growth period of 24 hours in standard cell culture medium containing 10% (v/v) FBS and 100 U/mL P/S, assessment by CV showed a significantly greater absorbance at the 50,000 cell density compared to at 10,000 cells (P=0.003), 15,000 cells (P=0.006) and 25,000 cells (P=0.026) (Figure 3.1, A). There was no significant difference found between other cell numbers, although there was a trend for an increase in a linear manner.

<u>48 Hours</u>

After a growth period of 48 hours, significant differences in the absorbance of CV were found between 25,000 cells with 10,000 cells (P=0.003) and 15,000 cells (P=0.05). Significant differences were also found between 50,000 cells and 10,000 cells (P=0.001) and 15,000 cells (P=0.001) (Figure 3.1, B).

Integration of datasets to compare both timepoints and cell densities was analysed via two-way ANOVA and showed both an increased absorbance with time (24 vs. 48 hours) from cell densities of 15,000 per well or greater (All *P*=<0.05, Sidak's multiple comparison test) and trends for increases in absorbance with cell density for both timepoints (Figure 3.1, C). From these data it was determined that 50,000 cells per well grown for 24 hours before the start of experimental conditions was a suitable cell density for use in downstream BV-2 cell experiments. Although these assays showed that BV-2 cells were viable up to a 48-hour growth period it was decided to select a 24-hour initial growth period to prevent cells from becoming over confluent or dying. Additionally, choosing a 24-hour growth period reduced the risk of reaching the upper limits of spectrophotometer absorbance when cells were subjected to experimental timepoints such as 4, 8 and 16-hour post initial 24-hour growth period.

3.2.2 Assessment of BV-2 cell viability in response to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media

After determining appropriate cells densities for BV-2 cell experimentation *in vitro*, the next step was to establish a suitable concentration of probiotic CM for use in downstream BV-2 assays. BV-2 cells were plated at 50,000 cells per well and incubated with increasing



concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM and cell viability measured using the CV assay (Figure 3.2).

Figure 3.2 BV-2 cell viability in response to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media. 50,000 BV-2 cells per well were grown in 96 well plates with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS and 100 U/mL P/S) for a 24-hour growth period. Cells were then incubated under control conditions (DMEM, 0% CM, 100 U/mL P/S), a positive control of DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) (not shown) or increasing concentrations of Lab4b (**A**, **B**) or Lab4P (**C**, **D**) probiotic conditioned media for either 4 or 16 hours. Crystal Violet assay was used to assess cell viability. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). All data was tested for normality using Shaprio-Wilk testing. Statistical tests included (**A**, **B** and **C**) Ordinary One-Way ANOVA and followed by post hoc Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Testing and (**D**) Kruskal-Wallis test followed by post hoc Dunn's Multiple Comparison Testing. * = $P \le 0.05$,

This was carried out to determine how increasing concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P CM affected BV-2 cell viability in order to choose an appropriate CM concentration for use in further assays.

No significant differences in BV-2 cell viability were found between any of the groups at the 4-hour timepoint stimulated with Lab4b or Lab4P when compared to the control (Figure 3.2, A, C) (One-Way ANOVA and post-hoc multiple comparisons testing).

However, when BV-2 cells were incubated with Lab4b for 16 hours, a significant increase in mean absorbance was recorded following stimulation with 50% (v/v) CM in comparison with the control (Figure 3.2, B) (P=0.04, post-hoc multiple comparison testing). No other significant differences were found. Additionally, when BV-2 cells were incubated with Lab4P for 16 hours significant differences between groups were found (Figure 3.2, D) (P=0.024, Kruskal-Wallis test). Further analysis revealed significant differences between the control and 25% (v/v) Lab4P CM (P=0.018) and between the control and 50% (v/v) Lab4P CM (P=0.23) (post-hoc multiple comparison testing).

Based on these data it was established that an increase in Lab4b and Lab4P CM concentration over 4-hour or 16-hour period had no detrimental effects on BV-2 cell viability as measured by CV assay. It was therefore decided that the 50% (v/v) probiotic CM could be used as a suitable experimental condition for both Lab4b and Lab4P CM in downstream BV-2 and probiotic CM assays without having any negative effects on the cell line.

3.2.3 Assessment of changes in BV-2 gene expression in response to Lab4b and Lab4P conditioned media

After establishing 50% (v/v) as an appropriate CM concentration for use in downstream BV-2 cell experiments, this dose of CM was then applied to BV-2 cells over a period of either 4 hours (Figure 3.3) or 16 hours (Figure 3.4) following a 24-hour growth period and the cell response measured via RT-qPCR analysis. This was done to determine if treatment with probiotic CM resulted in alterations in target gene expression. Gene targets selected for these analyses included IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 with β -Actin being used as a housekeeper gene.

These present data are shown graphically as gene expression relative to the control (DMEM, 0% CM, 100 U/mL P/S) which has been assigned an arbitrary value of 1 for clarity and visual effect. Statistical analysis of differences in gene expression have been carried out on Δ Ct values and not the relative mean fold change data. The raw Δ Ct data that were used
for statistical analysis to generate the P-values can be found in the appendix (Figure A1 and Figure A2).



Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as mean fold change relative to the control calculated via the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis shown were carried out on Δ Ct values using unpaired t-test. * = *P*≤0.05, *** = *P*≤0.001.

<u>Lab4b 4hr</u>

Following a 4-hour incubation of BV-2 cells with 50% (v/v) Lab4b CM, RT-qPCR analysis showed that there was a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 3.3 A) (*P*=0.026, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 988) and IL-6 gene expression (Figure 3.3 B) (*P*=0.046, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 42). However, there was no significant increase in IL-10 gene expression (Figure 3.3 C) (mean fold change of 2.7).

Lab4P 4hr

Following a 4-hour incubation of BV-2 cells with 50% (v/v) Lab4P CM, analysis of gene expression showed there was a significant increase in IL-1 β expression (Figure 3.3 D) (*P*=0004, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 79). There was also a significant increase in IL-6 gene expression (Figure 3.3 E) (*P*=0.028, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 8.6). No significant increase in IL-10 gene expression was seen in comparison with the control (Figure 3.3 F) (mean fold change of 2.3).



treatment with 50% (v/v) probiotic conditioned media (CM). BV-2 cells were grown in 24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with Lab4b (A,B,C) or Lab4P (D,E,F) probiotic conditioned media for 16 hours. Expression of IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β-Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as mean fold change relative to the control as calculated via the ΔΔCt method. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis shown were carried out on ΔCt values using unpaired t-test. * = P≤0.05, ** = P≤0.01, **** = P≤0.0001.

<u>Lab4b 16hr</u>

Following a 16-hour incubation of BV-2 cells with 50% (v/v) Lab4b CM, gene expression analysis showed that there was a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 3.4 A) (*P*=0.0056, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 1168) and IL-6 gene expression (Figure 3.4 B) (*P*=0.039, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 4016). There was also a significant increase in IL-10 gene expression (Figure 3.4 C) (*P*=0.025, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 15).

Lab4P 16hr

Following a 16-hour incubation of BV-2 cells with 50% (v/v) Lab4P CM, RT-qPCR analysis showed that there was a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 3.4 D) (*P*=<0.0001, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 315) and IL-6 gene expression (Figure 3.4 E) (*P*=0.062, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 35). However, there was no significant increase in IL-10 gene expression (Figure 3.4 F) (*P*=0.35, unpaired t-test, mean fold change of 6.8).

3.2.4 Effects of low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media on BV-2 cells

Following the initial CM assays, it was decided to assess the response of BV-2 cells to lower concentrations of probiotic CM to determine if the concentration of 50% (v/v) Lab4b and Lab4P CM was giving rise to a large levels of pro-inflammatory gene expression. In this experiment, concentrations ranging from 0.5% (v/v) to 5% (v/v) of Lab4b and Lab4P were applied to BV-2 cells over a period or either 4, 8 or 16 hours. BV-2 cell response to stimulation was assessed using CV assay for cell viability and RT-qPCR for gene expression (both as described in Chapter 2.2 and 2.6).

Crystal violet for assessment of BV-2 cell viability

Lab4b 4, 8 and 16hr

CV assays showed no significant differences in BV-2 cell viability after stimulation with low concentrations of Lab4b after a 4 hour and 8-hour incubation (Figure 3.5 A and B). However, CV did show that there was a significant difference in BV-2 cell viability at the 16hour timepoint (Figure 3.5 C) (Ordinary One-Way ANOVA, P=0.0054). This prompted further analysis which showed a significant increase in BV-2 cell viability when cells were stimulated with 5% (v/v) Lab4b probiotic CM for 16 hours in comparison with the control (P=0.031, Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test). No other significant multiple comparisons were found.

Lab4P 4, 8 and 16hr

CV assays revealed no significant differences in BV-2 cell viability when cells were stimulated with Lab4P at all three low range concentrations over 4-, 8- and 16-hour incubation periods (Figure 3.5 D, E and F) (Ordinary One-Way ANOVA).



Figure 3.5. Assessment of BV-2 cell viability in response to 4-, 8- and 16-hour treatment with low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media (CM). 50,000 BV-2 cells per well were grown in 96 well plates with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS and 100 U/mL P/S) over a 24-hour growth period. Cells were then incubated with a control (DMEM, 0% CM 100 U/mL P/S), a positive control (DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) (not shown) or increasing concentrations of Lab4b (A, B, C) or Lab4P (D, E, F) probiotic conditioned media for 4, 8 or 16 hours. Crystal violet assay was used to assess cell viability. Values are shown as a percentage increase of absorbance relative to the control. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Following normality testing via Shapiro-Wilk testing, statistical tests included Ordinary One-Way ANOVA followed by Post hoc Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons Testing (**B**, **C**, **D**, **E** and **F**) or Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Post hoc Dunn's Multiple Comparisons Testing (**A**). ** = $P \leq 0.01$.

RT-qPCR analysis for gene expression

As before these data are shown as gene expression relative to the control (DMEM, 0% CM, 100 U/mL P/S) which has been assigned an arbitrary value of 1 for clarity and visual effect (Figure 3.6). Statistical analysis of differences in gene expression have been carried out on Δ Ct values and not the relative gene expression data. The Δ Ct data that were used for statistical analysis to generate the P-values for these can be found in the appendix (Figure A3).



Figure 3.6. Assessment of BV-2 expression of target genes in response to 4-, 8- and 16-hour treatment with low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media (CM). BV-2 cells were grown in 24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well with DMEM and 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with a low range of Lab4b (A, B, C) or Lab4P (D, E, F) probiotic conditioned media concentrations. Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results shown as mean fold change relative to the control (0% CM). N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests were carried out on Δ Ct values and included Ordinary Two-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Post Hoc Test for all graphs. * = *P*≤0.05, ** = *P*≤0.01, *** = *P*≤0.001, **** = *P*≤0.001.

<u>Lab4b</u>

Analysis showed that the CM concentrations used had a significant effect on gene expression levels of IL-1 β (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=<0.0001, Two-Way Anova), IL-6 (Figure 3.6 B) (*P*=<0.0001, Two-Way ANOVA) and IL-10 (Figure 3.6 C) (*P*=0.014, Two-Way ANOVA). Stimulation of BV-2 cells with a low concentration of 0.5% (v/v) CM Lab4b over 4-hours caused a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression by comparison with 0% (v/v) CM control (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=0.002, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparisons, mean fold change of 68). Stimulation of BV-2 cells with 5% (v/v) Lab4b CM over 4-hours also caused a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=<0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparisons, mean fold change of 68). Stimulation of BV-2 cells with 5% (v/v) Lab4b CM over 4-hours also caused a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=<0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, mean fold change of 771). 0.5% (v/v) and 5% (v/v) Lab4b CM also caused a significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression after 8 hours in comparison with the control (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 30) (*P*=<0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 30) (*P*=<0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 244). In addition, there was a significant change in IL-1 β gene expression after BV-2 stimulation with 5% (v/v) Lab4b CM over a 16-hour period (Figure 3.6 A) (*P*=0.0006, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 244).

There was a significant increase in IL-6 gene expression when BV-2 cells were treated with 0.5% (v/v) Lab4b CM and 5% (v/v) over a 16-hour incubation period (Figure 3.6 B) (*P*=0.01, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 7.5) (*P*=<0.0001, post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparison test, mean fold change of 99). No other significant differences in gene expression were seen for IL-1 β and IL-6 at any other Lab4b concentrations and timepoints in comparison with the 0% (v/v) CM control.

Lab4b at a concentration of 0.5% (v/v) stimulated an increase in IL-10 gene expression in BV-2 cells after a 16-hour incubation period (Figure 3.6 C) (*P*=0.049, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, mean fold change of 3.2). No other significant differences in IL-10 gene expression were found between all Lab4b low concentrations by comparison with the control across all three incubation timepoints (Two-Way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons post hoc testing).

Lab4P

No significant differences were seen in levels of BV-2 IL-1 β , IL-6 or IL-10 gene expression upon comparison of cell treated with Lab4P CM to the control (Figure 3.6 D, E and

F) (Two-Way AVOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons post hoc testing). While gene expression levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 appear to be lower than when cells were treated with Lab4P compared to Lab4b, there does appear to be a great deal of variation within these relative mean fold change data. Notably, there is a lot of variation across values for IL-1 β gene expression at 4 hours across the low range CM concentrations, particularly 0.05% (v/v) and 0.5% (v/v) (Figure 3.6 D). Variation was also seen across values for IL-6 gene expression at 4 hours at each low CM concentration (Figure 3.6 E).

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Summary of data

On the basis of the initial results, the parameters selected for *in vitro* testing with BV-2 cells were 50,000 cells per well (96 well plate) and the use of Lab4b and Lab4P at a concentration of 50% (v/v). It was determined that a 50% (v/v) concentration of CM stimulated the best level of cell viability after a 16-hour incubation via CV assay. This was due to the 50% (v/v) CM concentration in both Lab4b and Lab4P showing between 60-80% greater cell survival relative to the control (Figure 3.2 B and D). This therefore deemed it to be a suitable concentration for use in downstream cell assays since it had no negative effects on cell viability. However, it is important to note that while the increase in mean absorbance at 16 hours suggests an increase in the number of cells present, this could not be confirmed. In future CV assays, it would be beneficial to count cells before and after treatment to determine whether increase in the mean absorbance correlates to increased BV-2 cell proliferation. From this work alone, only an assumption on cell viability in response to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM can be made.

RT-qPCR revealed high levels of BV-2 gene expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β at both 4-hour and 16-hour incubation with Lab4b, showing almost a 1000-fold increase compared to the control (Figure 3.3 A and 3.4 A). Additionally, Lab4b induced a significant increase in IL-6 gene expression after a 4- hour and 16-hour incubation (Figure 3.3 B and 3.4 B). This suggests that Lab4b has the ability to induce a strong pro-inflammatory response in the BV-2 cells. Assessment of the effect of Lab4P on BV-2 cell gene expression showed lower levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 gene expression compared with Lab4b. However, at both 4-hour and 16-hour timepoints there was an upregulation of IL-1 β and IL-6 gene expression by comparison with the control suggesting that Lab4P may also induce a pro-inflammatory response at a concentration of 50% (v/v) (Figure 3.3 D and E, 3.4 D and E).

There was a significant increase in IL-10 gene expression seen when BV-2 cells were stimulated with Lab4P at 50% (v/v) for 4 hours (Figure 3.3 F) and with Lab4b at 50% (v/v) for 16 hours (Figure 3.4 C). This suggests that Lab4b and Lab4P may have the ability to induce IL-10 gene expression in BV-2 cells. Taken together these results prompted further investigation of the effects of both Lab4b and Lab4P CM on BV-2 gene expression in order to determine if the initial chosen concentration of 50% (v/v) CM was too high and inducing a strong inflammatory response.

To do this a range of lower concentrations were applied to BV-2 cells over three separate time points. Initial CV assay revealed at low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM had no effect on BV-2 cell viability, apart from when BV-2 cells were stimulated with 5% (v/v) Lab4b CM after a 16-hour incubation period, where cells showed a significant increase in cell viability in comparison with the control (Figure 3.5 C). As mentioned above, cell counting was not carried out to confirm if this increased absorbance correlated to an increase in cell proliferation. However, despite the absence of data on cell numbers the data from the CV assays do suggest that low concentrations of both Lab4b and Lab4P CM did not have a negative impact on cell viability.

BV-2 gene expression was also assessed and after applying a range of low CM concentrations to the BV-2 cells it was found that Lab4b still appeared to stimulate high levels of IL-1β gene expression in comparison with Lab4P. Comparison of IL-1β gene expression levels after application of Lab4b CM at 5% (v/v) incubated for 4 hours showed a mean fold change of 771 relative to the control (Figure 3.6 A). This differed markedly to that seen when Lab4P CM was applied at 5% (v/v) for 4 hours, with a mean fold change in IL-1 β gene expression of 9 recorded (3.6 D). Therefore, 5% (v/v) concentration of Lab4b CM appeared to induce ~85-fold greater gene expression compared to Lab4P under the same conditions. This suggests that the difference in composition of the probiotic blends and respective probiotic byproducts produced by the bacteria during anaerobic respiration may contain sources of unknown inflammatory stimuli. Both Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM are produced using the same method. However, the results in this chapter suggest that Lab4b CM induced a stronger inflammatory response than Lab4P at the same concentrations and timepoints. This suggests that the degree of inflammation may be caused by the unique probiotic by-products produced by each probiotic blend and that Lab4b may contain a greater source of by-products that may result in an inflammatory response.

As noted previously, there was a considerable amount of variation within the Lab4P data for IL-1 β and IL-6 gene expression at the 4-hour timepoint during this assay and the reason for this is unclear (Figure 3.6 D and E). It is likely a true effect and may be representative of the timescale of activation of these genes in response to stimuli as IL-1 β and IL-6 are activated around 4-6 hours post inflammatory stimulation. This could be one explanation as IL-6 gene expression levels appear to stabilise at the later 8- and 16-hour timepoint when activation of IL-6 gene expression typically begins to decline. Additionally, statistical analysis showed that despite using a concentration of Lab4b CM as low as 0.5% (v/v) and 5% (v/v), there were still significantly high levels of IL-1 β gene expression at 4 hours and of IL-6 gene expression at 16 hours compared to the control, again suggestive of the presence of stimuli capable of inducing inflammatory gene expression at concentrations as low as 0.5% (v/v) Lab4b CM (Figure 3.5 A and B). Two-way ANOVA confirmed statistically that the difference in gene expression were dependent on the concentration of each probiotic applied.

In the case of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, no significant increases in gene expression were seen during the low CM concentration assays. Further exploration of the effects of probiotic CM on IL-10 gene expression is required.

3.3.2 Induction of high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media

Results in this chapter suggest that probiotic CM, particularly Lab4b, was capable of significantly inducing IL-1 β gene expression. It is unclear exactly why this is, however, there are some possible explanations to consider. The process of generating probiotic CM (fully described in Chapter 2.4) includes multiple centrifugal steps to remove probiotic bacteria from the growth medium. It also includes a filtration step where the media is passed through a 0.22µm filter before storing for use. These steps should ensure the production of a cell free supernatant leaving behind only probiotic bacterial by-products. However, after applying both Lab4b and Lab4P CM to BV-2 cells *in vitro* high levels of pro-inflammatory IL-1 β were found suggesting the possible presence of inflammatory stimuli in the CM.

This may be caused by the presence of residual bacterial fragments not removed by filtration at 0.22µm (Kmonickova et al. 2012). Thus, it is possible that fragments of grampositive bacterial cell walls leftover from the probiotic bacteria containing lipoteichoic acid (LTA) are still present after filtration and may be a contributing factor. LTA is primarily found

as a component of peptidoglycan layer of gram-positive bacterial cell walls and shares similar lipid-linked structural and chemical properties with LPS (Coley et al. 1972). LTA has been shown to activate key inflammatory receptors such as TLR2 found on microglial cells and plays a role in priming microglia for the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β and IL-6 (Schröder et al. 2003, Tang et al. 2010). Since both Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic bacterial blends contain species such as Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium which are grampositive bacteria, this may be one explanation for the cause of the induction of the inflammatory response seen in BV-2 cells upon application of CM. There is also evidence to suggest that fragments of bacterial quorum sensing peptides may activate microglia in vitro which may also stimulate inflammatory cytokine production (Janssens et al. 2021). Given the sensitivity of microglia to inflammatory stimuli due to the abundance of TLRs found on the cell surface, it is perhaps unsurprising that if any inflammatory stimuli are present in the CM that microglia would respond via production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. This is not to say that probiotic CM would not be suitable for use in other in vitro cell lines that are not immune cells and do not possess a high level of TLRs or other inflammatory response receptors on the cell surface.

On the contrary, while IL-1 β is renowned for its pro-inflammatory properties, it is possible that the upregulation of IL-1 β expression in BV-2 cells stimulated by Lab4b may be a beneficial microglial priming response. In the context of AD, the upregulation of IL-1 β has previously been shown via an *in vitro* study with neurons to alleviate the deposition of A β plaque through induction of Tumour Necrosis Factor α Converting Enzyme (TACE) (Tachida et al. 2008). TACE plays a role in APP processing and this upregulation shifts the balance of APP cleavage from β to α , producing soluble APP- α fragments instead of insoluble A β (Buxbaum et al. 1998). Therefore, the upregulation of IL-1 β via probiotic stimulation may allow microglia to be primed and ready to carry out a rescue attempt which may prevent further A β deposition under *in vivo* conditions. Another study supports this, suggesting that a sustained increase in IL-1 β induced by LPS injection may help to clear A β plaque via increased activation of microglia (Shaftel et al. 2007).

In summary, at this point the cause of the high levels of $BV-2 IL-1\beta$ gene expression in response to probiotic CM is unclear. Due to time constraints during this project the CM was not tested for presence of endotoxins such as LTA, but this should clearly be assessed in future work and may prove to be useful in trying to understand the results of this chapter. A full analysis of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM components could help to elucidate any byproducts present in the CM that may be contributing to the induction of an inflammatory response in the BV-2 cells would be a useful addition to this work.

3.3.3 Use of crystal violet assay for BV-2 cell viability

CV is a well-established and widely used technique for cell viability. CV is a triarylmethane dye that binds to molecules containing ribose such as DNA and is widely used as a colorimetric cell viability assay (Feoktistova et al. 2016). The premise of the assay is that any cells that are alive remain adhered to the surface and become stained, whereas cells that are dead lose adherence and shed off following washing steps, leaving only viable, stained cells behind. The CV assay was used during initial experiments with BV-2 cells to establish a practical BV-2 cell density and viability for downstream experiments over different timepoints and CM concentrations. This allowed for the determination of any cytotoxicity following application of probiotic CM.

Therefore, from this assay it is possible to determine volume of cells that are alive based on optical density. However, a key limitation of this assay is that it does not reveal any other information. From the CV assay alone, it is not possible to determine other factors of cell health such as changes in proliferation rate or cell metabolism which would be useful additional data to fully assess the impact of probiotic CM on BV-2 cells. A useful addition to the CV work completed in this thesis would be to count cells before and after treatment to determine cellular proliferation following CM stimulation.

There are alternatives to the CV assay which could be used instead to provide more information on microglial cell health and not solely cytotoxicity. For example, the popular 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2-5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay is an easy-to-use alternative colorimetric cell viability assay which can also be used to assess changes in cell metabolism (Mosmann 1983). However, the MTT assay is also light sensitive and may have negative effects when applied to eukaryotic cell types which could result in inaccurate cell viability readings (Lü et al. 2012).

Another commonly used colorimetric *in vitro* assay for cell viability is lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (Decker and Lohmann-Matthes 1988, Stoddart 2011). Similarly, to the MTT assay this method is quick and relatively easy to use. One issue with the use of the LDH assay for this work is that probiotic bacteria such as *Lactobacillus casei* contain levels of LDH has the potential to interfere with the assay (Kim et al. 1991). Therefore, although a useful

method for assessing cell viability, the CV method was more suitable for work requiring the application of probiotic CM to cells.

3.3.4 Use and limitations of the BV-2 cell line

The BV-2 cell line is frequently cited in the literature and widely used as an *in vitro* model for microglia (Timmerman et al. 2018). They are ideal for use in *in vitro* work due to their high proliferation rate and being low maintenance in terms of upkeep. Therefore, they were chosen as an appropriate cell model for this work.

However, there are some limitations of the BV-2 cell line. One challenge is that BV-2 cells are semi-adherent and exist attached to the plastic surface of cell culture flasks and plates but also can exist in suspension. During this work it was found that this property can make their use in *in vitro* experimentation problematic. This was particularly evident when applying washing steps during assays which may wash away any loose cells or cells in suspension. To minimise the effect of losing cells during experimentation during the application of washing steps, great care was taken to slowly remove and replace PBS or media. Additionally, plates can be spun down before washing steps to reduce the chance of this being an issue and affecting results.

Also, cell lines can continuously proliferate often due to retroviral transformation, however this may lead to genetic and phenotypic drift over multiple generations which can cause problems during *in vitro* assays (Geraghty et al. 2014). Since the murine BV-2 cell line is an immortalised line to prevent drifting away from the original parent cell phenotype BV-2 cells were passaged no more than 15 times and replaced by cells frozen down at low passage numbers (between p1-4). In addition, BV-2 cells were monitored routinely for phenotypic changes using a microscope during passages.

Additionally, evidence from the literature suggests that the BV-2 cells also show genetic and phenotypic deficiencies in comparison with primary microglial cells. One study by Das et al. (2016) showed via full transcriptomic sequencing using RNA-seq that BV-2 cells show differences in transcriptomic signatures following LPS mediated activation compared to primary microglia (Figure 3.7).



This study showed that primary cells expressed hundreds of unique genes required for cytokine production, transcription factors and epigenetic regulation suggesting greater genetic and biological complexity compared to the BV-2 cell line where these genes are not expressed (Das et al. 2016). Interestingly, other RNA-seq data has also shown that BV-2 cells express high levels of genes required for progression of the cell cycle, but low levels of genes required for cell adhesion in comparison with primary microglial cells (He et al. 2018). This finding appears to underpin the phenotypic profile of these BV-2 cells including high proliferation rates and a semi-adherent nature. This contrasts with primary cells which are more adherent but grow at slower rates. The same study also found that in terms of cytokine production in

response to LPS, primary microglial cells showed greater levels of IL-1 β gene expression whereas BV-2 cells significantly greater levels of gene expression of IL-6 (He et al. 2018).

Another issue that should be considered is that since the BV-2 cell line is neonatal in origin, it is likely that the cells will have lower levels of "adult" gene expression, lacking the expression and phenotypic profile gained with age and maturation (Timmerman et al. 2018). Thus, when studying these cells in the context of AD which is a disease primarily associated with aging, a lack of genetics gained during the aging process could prevent a full understanding of the genetics and molecular pathways that microglia are involved in in AD.

Therefore, while the BV-2 cell line has been very useful for this preliminary *in vitro* experimentation, it does have limitations. For future work it may be advantageous to consider alternatives to the BV-2 microglial cell line with greater genetic complexity and relevance in study of neurodegeneration, such as primary cultured cells, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and 3D models such as organoids.

Primary cell culture

Primary cells typically derive from neonatal mice and are taken directly from a specific tissue of interest such as the brain cortex before being grown in culture (Giulian and Baker 1986). Additionally, primary cells can be taken from the brains of adult mice (Lee and Tansey, 2013, Woolf et al. 2021). The use of adult mouse microglia may be more beneficial when investigating the role of microglia in AD since it is primarily a disease of aging. Additionally, primary cells could be taken from AD mouse models to generate *in vitro* cell populations with greater genetic diversity. This could also be useful for understanding the nuances of AD progression on an individual basis. As discussed previously, primary microglial cells have shown greater genetic complexity than the BV-2 cell line which could be more beneficial as a tool for understanding the mechanisms and molecular pathways that microglia are involved in during AD onset and progression (Das et al. 2016).

However, primary cells do also have their own limitations. They can be difficult to culture and maintain in comparison with standard cell lines. Evidence suggests that after removal from their niche in the brain they begin to alter expression of some genes in response, possibly contributing to phenotypic changes and making work with them challenging (Mizee et al. 2017). In addition, due to the lack of retroviral transformation primary cells will not continue to proliferate markedly unlike their cell line counterparts, often undergoing numerous

passages before reaching a senesce state (Hayflick and Moorhead 1961). This means that to replace primary cells that have reached senesce, cells would have to be taken regularly from neonatal mice. Also, there will be a limited number of cells available in the neonate brain which can be collected. This can make the process time consuming and expensive since it relies on a ready supply of mice at the right age to provide tissue. Due to these and other factors, the use of primary cells during this present study was not a viable option but should perhaps be considered for use in future work.

As a caveat, an important consideration when undertaking any animal work is how the research aligns with the 3Rs. In the case of using primary cells, it may be difficult to justify the maintenance of animals purely for the purpose of extracting cells when the use of transformed cell lines can eliminate the need for animals altogether. However, it could also be argued that since primary cells more accurately represent how cells behave *in vivo* they may be able to help refine the design of *in vivo* experiments better than cell lines.

Induced pluripotent stem cells - 2D and 3D models

In recent years iPSCs have become a popular model used for a range of *in vitro* experiments as an alternative to standard cell lines (Sirenko et al. 2014, Abud et al. 2017, Gao and Liu 2017). While mouse derived cell lines and animal models have proved to be invaluable in AD research, evidence suggests that it is difficult to interpret this work in the context of humans due to key differences in genetics between mice and humans (Burns et al. 2015, Friedmann et al. 2018).

Previous work has shown it is possible to generate human microglial iPSCs from fibroblasts for use in *in vitro* experimentation (Douvaras et al. 2017). Cells can then be supplemented with growth factors such as VEGF, SCF and CSF1 to encourage progenitor formation and maturation into microglial cells with specific microglial cell surface markers such as ionised calcium binding adapter molecule (Iba-1) (Douvaras et al. 2017). Such studies have also included taking doner cells from AD patients to characterise AD phenotypes and response to treatments on an individual basis (Kondo et al. 2013).

However, while the heterogenicity of iPSCs is advantageous it can also cause the introduction of chromosomal abnormalities which may lead to confounded results (Taapken et al. 2011, Mitsui et al. 2003, Chambers et al. 2003). Additionally, this a is newer area of work and to date the protocols published vary considerably in method and yield of cells (Douvaras

et al. 2017, Muffat et al. 2016). However, the use of microglial iPSCs does appear to hold great promise for future work investigating the complex role of microglial in AD and may be an option to consider in further study.

As work has progressed with iPSCs, so has the use of these cells in the production of 3D cell culture models such as organoids. Organoids are a relatively new type of 3D cell culture model used *in vitro* which closely mimic the *in vivo* environment of organs such as the brain. One study published showed the ability to generate organoids via directed cell growth that mimic specific brain regions of interest such as the hippocampus (Di Lullo and Kriegstein 2017). This could prove to be a useful tool in AD research and some 3D organoid models have already been generated. For example, Choi et al. (2014) developed an *in vitro* AD organoid model containing neuronal and glial cells by upregulating genes implicated in AD pathogenesis APP and PSEN1. These 3D models offer even more complexity than iPSCs alone via cell type heterogeneity within imitated organ microenvironments that could help to elucidate the crosstalk between cells such as neurons, microglia and astrocytes in neurodegenerative diseases.

3.3.5 Conclusion

The use of probiotic CM during these experiments has raised some important questions. Particularly, why CM appears to have such a stimulatory effect on pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression in BV-2 microglial cells. Further, and in this respect, why Lab4b CM appears to outweigh the effects seen with Lab4P CM. Both Lab4b and Lab4P CM showed the ability to induce some IL-10 expression under 16-hour conditions, however warrants further investigation. It is likely that the different compositions of probiotic strains in Lab4b and Lab4P give rise to different probiotic by-products which may have differing effects on immunomodulation when applied *in vivo*. Ultimately, the bacterial components and metabolic by-products of each probiotic blend would need be investigated further, to elucidate why this is the case, possibly through NMR analysis.

Since *in vivo* microglial cells would not be exposed to probiotics and their by-products as directly as was the case in the *in vitro* cell assays of this chapter, it was decided that an alternative, more physiologically relevant supplement was required for testing in order to validate these results.

Chapter 4

Assessment of the effects of Lab4P probiotic diet on B57BL/6J (wild-type) mouse phenotype

4.1 Introduction

Previous data from both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies suggest that probiotics may impact upon brain cell health and inflammation (Michael et al. 2019, Mehrabadi and Sadr 2020). This was also found to be the case when mice fed a diet supplemented with probiotics displayed altered behaviour and immunomodulatory potential (unpublished findings communicated by Dr Tom Webberley).

To determine whether responses observed in this current work are comparable and/or translational *in vivo*, WT (C57BL/6J) mice were fed a diet supplemented with probiotic over a two-week period. Funding and time limitations restricted the use of both Lab4b and Lab4P, so only Lab4P was used as it demonstrated strong efficacy in the previous *in vivo* results (communicated by Dr Tom Webberley). As described in Chapter 2.7, one group of mice (N=10) were fed normal chow supplemented with Lab4P probiotic over a period of two weeks while a control group (N=10) were fed a chow diet in parallel. Following the two-week diet, phenotypic and behavioral assessment was carried out as described in this chapter. Additionally, as part of this *in vivo* work, serum was generated from the mice post-mortem. This was then used as a medium supplement for *in vitro* work with BV-2 cells to validate the results seen in Chapter 3 using CM. Experimentation using this serum will be described in Chapter 5.

The aims of the work outlined here in Chapter 4 were:

- 1) To determine if the Lab4P probiotic modulates dietary intake and bodyweight.
- To determine if the Lab4P probiotic impacts behavioural changes *in vivo* in WT mice.
- To determine if the Lab4P probiotic has an impact on the number of brain microglial cells and expression of target cytokines *in vivo*.

To achieve these aims, food and water intake were monitored and endpoint body weights of the cohort were assessed. Manual morphometric analysis and digital assessment of mouse behaviour was carried out using specialist software EthoVIsion XT[™]. Additionally, flow cytometric analysis was carried out on homogenised brain tissue obtained from the control or Lab4P supplemented mice.

4.2.1 Assessment of food and water intake of C57BL/6J fed control or Lab4P supplemented chow for two-weeks

During the two-week supplementation regimen, food and water intake were measured over a 24-hour period to determine if dietary intake was affected by probiotic supplementation (Figure 4.1). Differences in food and water weights were calculated per cage and divided by the number of mice in the cage to give an estimated intake per mouse for both the control group and the Lab4P supplemented group (Figure 4.1). No significant differences were found in food or water intake.



control or Lab4P supplemented chow diet for two-weeks. Difference in weight of food (**A**) and water (**B**) at the start and end of a 24-hour period were analysed from the cages of mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented idet over a two-week period. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM) and represent estimated intake per mouse based on weights measured per cage. Shapiro-Wilk followed by (**A**) Mann-Whitney test and (**B**) unpaired t-test.

<u>4.2.2 Morphometric analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice fed a Lab4P supplemented</u> <u>chow diet for two weeks</u>

Mice were weighed before, during and after the treatment period to determine whether diet had affected weight (Figure 4.2). There were no significant differences in weight between the two groups at any time point including both raw weight comparisons (Figure 4.2 A) or after calculation of percentage relative weight changes at the endpoint normalised to the start point (Figure 4.2 B).

Post-mortem organ weight analysis was also conducted to determine whether control or Lab4P treatment affected organ weight over the two-week period (Figure 4.3). No significant differences were found between raw brain, liver and spleen weights between the control and Lab4P supplemented groups were observed (Figure 4.3 A, B & C).



Figure 4.2. Body weight assessment of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P in a chow diet for two weeks. Mice fed either a control chow or Lab4P supplemented chow diet were weighed over a two-week period (N=10 per group) (A). Weight differences were calculated as percentage end point weight gain for both groups (B). Control group (N=10), Lab4P group (N=10). Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included (A) Two-Way ANOVA and (B) following Shapiro-Wilk testing, unpaired t-test was used.



Figure 4.3. Control chow and Lab4P chow fed mouse post-mortem organ weights after a two-week period. Mice were fed either a control chow or Lab4P supplemented chow diet were weighed over a two-week period (N=10 per group). Post-mortem the brain (A), liver (B) and spleen (C) were weighed to assess impact of the probiotic supplemented diet. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Shapiro-Wilk and unpaired t-test for all graphs.

<u>4.2.3 Behavioural assessment of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P in</u> <u>chow diet for two-weeks</u>

Probiotic supplementation has been shown to modulate memory, behaviour and stress responses in mice in both published studies and work carried out by Cultech Ltd. (communicated by Dr Tom Webberley). Therefore, it was decided to assess the effects of a Lab4P supplemented diet on groups of WT mice via novel object recognition (NOR) to identify any changes in memory and cognition. For all behavioural data, outliers defined as values that were 2 standard deviations away from the mean in each group of mice were removed.

Phase 1: Open field testing (arena habituation)

Mice were placed in an open field with no objects and were allowed to move freely over a period of 10 minutes. Open field testing was conducted at 0 weeks on a group of 20 untreated mice and at 2 weeks after random assignment of mice into two groups of 10, either fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet. Mouse movement (Figure 4.4) and mouse preference for the perimeter of the field (Figure 4.5) were assessed initially.



Figure 4.4. Open field movement analysis of C57BL/6J wild-type mice supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet over two-weeks. Mice were fed a control or Lab4P supplemented chow diet over a course of two-weeks (N=10 per group). Total distance travelled (A) and differences between the start and end point in total distance travelled (B) in the open field test were recorded (using GoPro cameras) and analysed (EthoVision XT^{TM}). Cumulative movement time (C) and frequency of movements (D) were also detected by EthoVision XT^{TM} were also assessed. The difference in mouse movement before and after treatment was calculated (B). Cumulative time spent moving (C) and mobile frequency (D) were also assessed. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). (A, C and D) One-Way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons testing. (B) Unpaired t-test.



testing.

Assessment of WT mouse movement in an open field arena before and after the twoweek probiotic supplementation period showed no significant differences in movement patterns between mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet compared to before treatment (Figure 4.4 A, C and D) (One-Way ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparisons testing).

The mean difference in distance moved by the mice at the start point compared to the end point was calculated (Figure 4.4 B). The mean of the control group showed a decrease in distance moved with a mean of -230cm, while the mean of the Lab4P group showed an increase in distance moved with a mean difference of 181cm. However, an unpaired t-test revealed that this difference in distance moved between the two treatment groups was not significant.

The preference for the arena perimeter was also assessed (Figure 4.5). No significant differences in total time spent in the arena perimeter and total frequency the mice entered the defined perimeter regions were found between the treatment groups and the untreated group (Figure 4.5 A and B). Percentage of time that each mouse spent in the perimeter of the arena was calculated before and after the two-week treatment period. Calculation of overall percentage time spent in the arena perimeter to normalise these data revealed that after the two-week treatment period there was a non-significant difference of 0.5% time spent in perimeter between the mice fed a control and Lab4P supplemented diet (Figure 4.5 C) (unpaired-t-test).

Phase 2: Familiar object testing (object habituation)

In phase 2, mice were habituated with two identical objects in order to confirm no arena preferences and to allow mice to become familiar with two identical objects. Mice were placed in the arena with two identical objects and were allowed to move freely over a period of 10 minutes before and after a two-week intervention period. Following analysis of videos with Ethovision XT[™] software, mouse movement (Figure 4.6) and mouse interaction with the identical objects during the familiar habituation phase (Figure 4.7) were assessed.



and mobile frequency (**D**) were also assessed. Data are expressed as the mean +/standard error of the mean (SEM). (**A**, **C** and **D**) One-Way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons testing. (**B**) Unpaired t-test.



supplemented with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks in familiar object habituation test. Mice were fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet over a course of two-weeks (N=10 per group). Before and after supplementation the frequency that mice explored the left (A) and right (B) objects were assessed, as was total time the mice spent at the left object (C) and right object (D). Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). One-Way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons testing for all graphs.

Assessment of WT mouse movement during the familiar phase of behavioural testing before and after the two-week probiotic treatment period showed no significant differences in movement between control and Lab4P fed mice compared to untreated mice (Figure 4.6 A, C and D) (One-Way ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparison test). After the two-week period difference in distance moved by the two groups of treated mice at the start and end point was calculated and showed no significant difference between the groups (unpaired t-test).

Object interaction was also assessed as part of the familiar field analysis to determine whether the mice had any preference for the left or right objects in the testing arena. (Figure 4.7 A, B, C and D). No significant differences were found upon comparison of control and Lab4P supplemented groups with the initial untreated group (One-Way ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test). Furthermore, overall time spent at the left and right objects by the untreated start group and treated control and Lab4P supplemented end point groups were graphed to determine any difference in time spent at each object (Figure 4.7 E). No significant differences in time spent at each object (Figure 4.7 E). No significant differences in time spent at each object by the groups were found (One-Way ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test).

Discrimination ratios were calculated to determine left and right object preferences during phase 2 of testing. The mean discrimination ratio for left object preference in the untreated start point group was 0.42 (Figure 4.8 A). After the two-week treatment period the mean discrimination ratio for left object of the control group was 0.44, while in the Lab4P group it was also 0.44 (Figure 4.8 A). The right-hand object mean discrimination ratios for each group are the inverse of those stated for the left-hand object (Figure 4.8 B). Discrimination ratios for left and right object preference showed no significant differences upon comparison of untreated start point group with the control and Lab4P supplemented end point groups (One-Way ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test).



Figure 4.8. Discrimination ratios for object preference in the familiar object habitation test. Wild-type mice were fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet over a course of two-weeks (N=10 per group). As part of the familiar phase testing discrimination ratios were calculated for left (A) and right (B) "familiar" object preference at the start and end of the two-week period mice fed a control diet and mice fed a Lab4P supplemented diet. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). One-Way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons testing for both graphs.

Phase 3: Novel object recognition testing

Finally, following mouse exposure to both the open arena (Phase 1) and the now "familiar" objects (Phase 2), mice were subjected to NOR testing where one of the identical objects was swapped with a novel object. Mouse movement in the arena with these objects (Figure 4.9) and NOR (figure 4.10) were assessed using EthoVision XTTM.





with Lab4P added to chow diet for two weeks during novel object recognition testing. Wild-type mice were fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet over a course of two-weeks (N=10 per group). Novel object interaction frequency (**A**) and familiar object interaction frequency (**B**) were assessed along with total time interacting with the novel object (**C**) and total time spent interacting with familiar object (**D**). Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test were used as statistical tests for all graphs. * = P=≤0.05.

Assessment of WT mouse movement patterns in the NOR arena before and after the two-week probiotic treatment period was carried out (Figure 4.9 A, C and D). No significant differences in movement patterns were found between the untreated start group of mice and the end point control and Lab4P supplemented groups. After the two-week period, difference in distance moved by the two groups of treated mice at the start and end point showed no significant difference (unpaired t-test).

Mouse interaction with the novel object (Figure 4.10 A and C) and "familiar" object (Figure 4.10 B and D) were also assessed. Analysis of novel object interaction frequency showed a significant decrease in interaction in the endpoint Lab4P supplemented group compared to the untreated start group (P=0.047, Dunnett's multiple comparison test) (Figure 4.10 A). No other significant differences between groups were found.

Discrimination ratios based on time spent at novel object were calculated part of the NOR analysis (Figure 4.11). The mean discrimination ratio based on time spent at novel object in the start point untreated group of mice was 0.57. The mean discrimination ratio for the end point group fed a control diet was 0.54, while the Lab4P supplemented mice were found to have a mean NOR discrimination ratio of 0.53. No significant differences were found in discrimination ratios between the start point untreated group and end point treated groups (One-Way ANOVA).


multiple comparisons testing.

4.2.4 Flow cytometric analysis of homogenised WT mouse brains

Confirmation of a live microglial population was carried out via gating for microglial specific cell surface markers (as described in Chapter 2.13). Following this, microglial event counts from the homogenised brains taken from groups of control and Lab4P supplemented mice were determined using FlowJo[™] software (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.12. Flow cytometry analysis of populations of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial cells from homogenised brains of control and Lab4P supplemented wild-type mice. Two groups of WT mice (N=5) were fed either a control or Lab4P probiotic treated diet for two weeks. Following treatment one brain hemisphere was removed, homogenised and stained for flow cytometry to assess impact of Lab4P on microglial cell number. (**A**) Microglial populations from Control (red) and Lab4P (green) treated brains were detected using microglial cell specific surface markers CD11b and CD68. Cells that were CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ were determined to be microglial populations. (**B**) Graphs represent the mean percentage of CD11b+/CD68+ microglial events in each group and (**C**) mean microglial event count. N=5 per treatment group. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). (**B**) and (**C**) Unpaired t-test.

Following the gating strategy for CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ microglial populations, all samples were analysed in the same manner (Figure 4.12.A). The percentage of CD11b⁺/CD68⁺ microglial events in each mouse was determined by FlowJo[™], as was the microglial event count. From these data it was possible to compare the mean percentages of CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ cells in each group and the microglia event counts (Figure 4.12.B and C). In both cases, no significant differences were found in mean percentage of microglia and mean event counts (Shapiro-Wilk and unpaired t-test).

As part of the assessment of microglial populations, after gating for CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ microglial cells, these cells were analysed for intracellular cytokine expression. Initially TNF- α expression was measured across all five mice in each group (4.13 A). Comparison of median fluorescence intensity (MFI) showed no significant differences between the control and Lab4P supplemented group (4.13 B) (Shapiro-Wilk and unpaired t-test).

The same analysis was carried out for IL-6 (Figure 4.14 A) and IL-10 (Figure 4.15 A). In both cases comparison of the MFI of each cytokine from control and Lab4P supplemented mouse brains showed no significant difference (Figure 4.14 B and 4.15 B).







Due to the observation of low microglial event counts in individual samples, it was decided to concatenate the data into groups using the concatenation tool embedded in $FlowJo^{TM}$. This allowed for the pooling of five biological repeats into one group, subsequently increasing the number of microglial events and allowing for more accurate gating using the same gating strategy as described in Chapter 2.13.

Analysis of the CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ microglial population from the pooled groups following gating (Figure 4.16 A) allowed for the determination of the percentage of CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ microglia and a microglial event count (Figure 4. 16 B and C). This was followed by determining populations of microglial cells expressing intracellular TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10 (Figure 4.17 A, B and C). As before, MFI of each cytokine was determined using FlowJoTM for both the control and Lab4P supplemented groups (Figure 4.17 D, E and F).



supplemented wild-type mice. Two groups of WT mice (N=5) were fed either a control or Lab4P probiotic treated diet for two weeks. Following treatment one brain hemisphere was removed, homogenised and stained for flow cytometry to assess impact of Lab4P on microglial cell number. (A) Microglial populations were detected using microglial cell specific surface markers CD11b and CD68. Cells that were CD11b⁺ and CD68⁺ were determined to be microglial populations. (B) Graphs represent percentage of CD11b+/CD68+ microglial events in each group and (C) microglial event count.



using FlowJo[™].

4.3 Discussion

4.3.1 Summary of data

This preliminary *in vivo* study aimed to assess the effects of a two-week high dose Lab4P supplemented diet compared with the effects of a control chow diet on 3-month-old healthy, WT mice.

During the treatment period mouse food and water intake was estimated by measuring the weight of food and water from each cage at the start and end of a 24-hour period (Figure 4.1 A and B). Analysis of these findings suggested that there were no significant differences in the food and water intake of both the control and Lab4P group. This was an encouraging finding which suggests that the addition of the probiotic to the chow was palatable, did not deter the mice from consumption and had no impact on appetite or thirst, providing confidence that the Lab4P group did receive the Lab4P supplemented diet.

The bodyweights of each mouse were measured at the start point, mid-point and end point of the two-week treatment period (Figure 4.2 A). It appeared that in both groups of mice weight gain was seen over the two-week period, however this was not significantly different. This weight gain is likely due to the mice being young and therefore not yet reaching a steady adult bodyweight. Despite the changes in bodyweight not being significantly different between the groups over the two-week period, there was a slightly lower but non-significant overall percentage weight gain in the Lab4P treated mice (Figure 4.2 B), in line with previous research carried out at Cultech (Michael et al. 2020, Michael et al. 2021). Additionally, upon culling the weights of the brain, liver and spleen from mice in each treatment group were weighed. No significant differences were found suggesting that the two-week treatment had little effect on the organ phenotype of mice in each treatment group.

To further assess the impact on the Lab4P supplemented diet, behavioural assessment was carried out on groups of WT at the start (untreated, N=20) of the two week period. Mice were then randomly assigned into groups either fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet for two-weeks. Following treatment, behavioural assessment was carried out again on the two groups of treated mice. Before and after the treatment period, mice were subjected to three phases of behavioural assessment. All testing of mouse movement patterns across all three phases of behavioural testing revealed that there were no significant differences found in movement between the start point untreated and the endpoint control or Lab4P supplemented groups (Figure 4.4, 4.6 and 4.9). This suggests that the Lab4P supplemented diet did not have any impact on mouse locomotor activity.

In the initial phase of testing (Phase 1 – arena habituation) the time the mice spent in the arena perimeter and the frequency they entered the defined perimeter region was assessed and revealed no significant differences between the untreated and treated groups (Figure 4.5). This suggests that there was no evidence of a preference for the inner or outer regions of the arena following supplementation.

Analysis of the second phase of testing (Phase 2 – object habitation) for interaction with the identical left and right objects revealed that there were no significant differences for each object between the start-point untreated and endpoint treated groups (Figure 4.7 A, B, C and D). To confirm that the mice did not spend a greater amount of time at either object, overall time spent at each object by the groups were assessed (Figure 4.7 E). This showed that there was no significant difference in left or right object interaction within the control and Lab4P supplemented groups. However, calculation of discrimination ratios based on time spent at each object during phase 2 of testing did suggest a preference towards the object on the right-hand side in both the control and Lab4P supplemented mice. Additionally, this preference appeared to be the same at the start point and end point of the testing period. It is unclear why this is the case, especially since testing of overall time spent at each object during phase 2 did not show any significant differences.

In the last phase of testing (Phase 3 – NOR), assessment of mouse interaction with the novel and "familiar" objects was carried out (Figure 4.10). Analysis of frequency of interaction of mice with the novel object did show that there was a significant decrease in interaction with the novel object in comparison with the untreated start point group (Figure 4.10 A). This suggests that the mice fed a Lab4P supplemented diet may not have been as interested in the novel object after the two-week treatment period. No other significant differences in object interaction were found. Finally, discrimination ratios were calculated to determine mouse object preferences during phase 3 testing. The discrimination ratios for all groups suggest a slight preference for the novel object (>0.5). No significant differences in discrimination ratios for novel object recognition were found between the untreated start point and control or Lab4P supplemented end point groups. Overall, behavioural testing did not show any significant changes in mouse activity, anxiety or object interaction, suggesting that the Lab4P supplemented diet had little effect on the memory, cognition and motor activity of the mice after two-weeks of supplementation.

Finally, flow cytometry was carried out which revealed populations of microglia as defined by positive staining for CD68 and CD11b present in samples of homgenised brain

from control and Lab4P supplemented mice. From these data, mean event counts of CD68+ and CD11b⁺ cells revealed a trend of greater incidence of microglial cells in the Lab4P supplemented mouse brain samples. However, this difference in mean event counts between the two groups was not significantly different. Additionally, assessment of intracellular cytokine expression levels via MFI revealed no significant differences in cytokine expression between the groups. Due to overall low levels of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglia as evidenced by the event counts determined in each group, it was decided to assess these data using the concatenation tool embedded in FlowJo[™]. Concatenation of the data files allowed the merger of all five individual sample files from each treatment group into one file in order to increase the microglial event count and provide more accurate gating of cell populations. The result from these concatenated data suggests that there may be a greater number of CD68⁺ and CD11b⁺ microglial cells present in the brains of mice supplemented with Lab4P based on the event counts, however statistical analysis could not be carried out to confirm this. Additionally, expression levels of all three cytokines were found to be low, possibly as a result of the low event counts. This part of the experimentation has been a preliminary exploration into the use of flow cytometry for assessment of microglial populations and cytokine expression in control and Lab4P supplemented mouse brains.

4.3.2 Use of young wild-type mice

Despite the overall focus of this work on the role of Lab4P probiotics on neurodegeneration, a WT mouse strain was selected for this component of the work. It was decided to use young and healthy mice as a cleaner model in this study, rather than using a mouse model of neurodegeneration. In a diseased model, if Lab4P does implicate upon disease development, this might produce combined effects on microglial cells which would be more difficult to interpret. For these reasons, unmodified, young and healthy WT mice were selected. The mice used in this study were 3 months old. This is typically when mice begin to enter their maturity but are still relatively young, with this life stage being acknowledged to be equivalent to a 20–30-year-old human brain (Fox et al. 2007).

While these data have highlighted non-significant trends and the possible potential of Lab4P to impact upon microglial cell numbers following preliminary flow cytometry work, future experimentation delineating roles of the Lab4P consortia in neurodegeneration should focus on older mice, particularly ones harbouring genetic mutations modelling neurodegeneration. Widely used AD mouse models that could be considered for use in future studies include the

3xTg, 5XFAD and APP/PS1 models (Oddo et al. 2003, Oakley et al. 2006, Radde et al. 2006). Since AD is most prevalent in humans after the age of 65, the use of mice of an equivalent age (around 18 months or more) would be useful when considering how to take this work further (Fox et al. 2007).

This is important since the immune system becomes more activated and dysregulated with age (Franceschi et al. 2000). Since it is of interest how probiotics affect microglial cells during periods where they are chronically activated and contributing to low grade chronic inflammation, as seen in AD, the use of aged mice in future studies would be useful.

In vivo AD models are all more biologically complex than *in vitro* cultures and help to bridge the gap between *in vitro* work and clinical trials. In the context of further work based on this present study the use of aged AD mouse models offers an opportunity for additional assessment of the effects of the Lab4 probiotic consortium on microglia *in vivo*.

4.3.3 Length of study and dose of probiotic

The mouse cohort (N=20) was administered either a control (N=10) or Lab4P probiotic (N=10) supplemented diet over a two-week period. Dosage was based on a previous study using Lab4P carried out using a rat model (Baker et al. 2021). The results presented in this chapter suggest that the dose of probiotic given did not have any negative effects on the mice. The dose given contained more CFU/g than usually given during *in vivo* study with mice and treatment occurred over a shorter duration (communicated by Dr Tom Webberley). The dose was chosen to increase the likelihood of the Lab4P probiotic having an impact on the gut microbiome of the supplemented mice and to increase the likelihood of the presence of probiotic metabolites in the serum generated. However, it was not confirmed whether the two-week period and high dose of probiotic were sufficient to confer changes to the gut microbiome of the mice and this is a limitation of this work.

In mice, reports of short periods of probiotic supplementation which have positive effects on mouse health have been reported. One previous study assessing the impact of probiotics on the mouse gut microbiota revealed significant changes in composition after treating 2-month-old WT female C57BL6/J mice over a period of 5 days using oral gavage to administer three cultures of probiotic bacterial strains (*Lactobacillus helveticus, Lactobacillus paracasei* and *Bifidobacterium bifidum*) as a suspension (Taverniti et al. 2021). Another study assessed the effects of 3 strains of *Lactobacillus* probiotic alongside a high fat diet on mice

over a period of 45 days and administered the probiotics through supplementation of water with the probiotic at a dose of $\sim 1 \times 10^8$ - 4×10^8 CFU per day and found significant changes in animal weight and decreased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Fabersani et al. 2021). Further evidence supporting the use of probiotics in health includes one report of a two-week study carried out where aged ICR/CD1 mice were fed a probiotic fermented milk drink (Hunsche et al. 2019). Mice received $\sim 4 \times 10^7$ CFU per day of three probiotic strains including *Lactobacillus casei*. The study found that a two-week period was sufficient to induce improved exploratory behaviours and appeared to reduce levels of oxidative stress compared to untreated mice.

In this present study the treatment period was carried out over two weeks which may explain why few significant differences were seen between the control and Lab4P treated groups across all subsequent *in vivo* analyses. However, these reports suggest that significant changes in the mouse gut microbiota composition, mouse behaviour and levels of cytokine levels over a short period of probiotic supplementation is possible.

A clear limitation of this work is how the gut microbiota underpins the observed responses. While faecal pellets were extracted from these animals, there were logistical difficulties in analysing these for viable bacteria by carrying out microbial enumeration and next generation sequencing of bacterial populations. It would be essential to confirm any modulation of the gut microbiome the Lab4P supplementation may have impacted in order to validate the findings outlined in this chapter. However, the observations made in this chapter helps to act as a useful baseline for future work.

4.3.4 Behavioral analysis

While the Lab4P intervention period was only two weeks long, if probiotics were able to affect C57B/6J mouse brain phenotypes, this might be reflected in behavioural responses which automated software such as EthoVision XT[™] may be able to determine.

Mice were given time at the start of this study to acclimatise to the arena to minimise anxiety during the assessment period as part of standard procedure. During phase 1 testing, preference for the arena perimeter was assessed. Typically, mice that are more timid will have a preference for the perimeter of the field (Lipkind et al. 2004). Therefore, testing for mouse preference of the perimeter can offer a means of assessing anxiety, as well as cognitive function in mouse models of cognitive decline (Sterniczuk et al. 2010). There were no trends or differences indicating effects on normal exploratory behavior.

During the second phase of testing (object habituation) mouse interaction with two objects was assessed. No significant differences in time spent at each object between the untreated, control and Lab4P supplemented groups. However, calculation of the discrimination ratios for left and right object preference did appear to show a bias towards the object on the right-hand side (Figure 4.8 A and B). Since two identical objects are used in the familiar phase of the behaviourial testing, discrimination ratios for objects should be equal during this phase (0.5 each). However, analysis of object interaction during phase 2 of testing revealed a preference for the right object. It is unclear why this is the case. It may be due to environmental factors such as noise, however the testing was carried out in a quiet area under a class II laminar flow hood with minimal noise disturbances other than the background hum of the air pumps. Additionally, this preference for the right-hand object appeared to be present at the start point in the untreated group and endpoint of testing in both control and Lab4P supplemented groups. Since there is object interaction preference for the right object seen during this testing phase, it may be the case that the results of the NOR testing carried out where the novel object was placed on the left-hand side of the arena have been dampened due to a pre-existing object bias.

The NOR method of cognitive assessment is widely used and was adopted in this study to determine whether Lab4P supplementation could impact upon mouse behaviour (Aggleton 1985, Ennaceur and Delacour 1988, Leger et al. 2013, Grayson et al. 2015). NOR tests are used to assess the ability of mice to identify novel (previously unseen) objects amongst objects they have previously been exposed to. NOR testing can be used to identify normal 'inquisitive' and 'unstressed' behaviour in mice but is most commonly used to identify memory deficits and cognitive decline in mouse models of AD (Miedel et al. 2017, Zhang et al. 2012). Evidence has shown that the region of the brain that is being tested during NOR is the hippocampus as it plays a major role in memory and object recognition (Cohen et al. 2013). Since the mice used in this study were WT and were not expected to exhibit any cognitive decline, the plethora of behavioural tests and analyses conducted were used as an indicator of any potential deviations from normal behaviour that the Lab4P supplemented group might have compared to the control group. In the presence of disease, one study carried out using NOR as a means of assessing how probiotic bacterial strain benefit AD-related decline with promising results (Go et al. 2021). The fact that few significant changes were observed may indicate that any effects Lab4P might have in modulating the gut-brain-axis may require an

already diseased starting point. It would be interesting to assess the effects of Lab4P supplementation mouse models of neurodegeneration as mentioned above.

The NOR behavioural assessment of control and Lab4P supplemented mice during this *in vivo* study showed very few statistically significant differences between the untreated and treated groups. Typically, in healthy mice there should be an increase in interaction with the novel object and both the start point untreated and the endpoint control and Lab4P supplemented groups did show discrimination ratios of over 0.5, suggesting a slight preference for interaction with the novel object. However, there were no significant differences in discrimination ratios between the untreated group and the treated groups, suggesting that Lab4P supplementation had no effect on mouse memory and cognition during NOR.

However, it is interesting to note that in most cases across the phase 2 and phase 3 object recognition analyses, the mean interaction frequencies and mean time spent at the objects were slightly lower in both the control and Lab4P groups in comparison with the start point untreated group. This suggests that treated mice may have lost interest in object interaction at phase 2 and phase 3 of object testing after the two-week period. This may be due to previous exposure of object tests at the start point (0 weeks). However, different objects were used during tests with objects at the start and end points in order to prevent this. Therefore, it is unclear what may have caused this. In future testing it may be beneficial to not only change the objects (eg, top and bottom rather than left and right) to keep the mice interested in the test after the initial exposure at the start point.

Since the intervention period was short, it was perhaps not surprising that Lab4P supplementation did not elicit any clear responses. Longer supplementation time and testing at regular ongoing intervals might allow for better identification of effects and is a limitation of this work. It may also be useful to conduct a wider battery of tests in the future to validate this work. For example, the Morris water maze, which is a test that has been used extensively as a means of assessing learning, memory and anxiety in mice (Brandeis et al. 1989). These are additions that could be considered for future work.

4.3.5 Use of flow cytometry

Flow cytometry is an important tool for cell analysis using varieties of unique cell surface and intracellular cell markers for cell isolation and purification (Adan et al. 2017). After

establishing microglial populations through gating, it was possible to assess the microglial cells for intracellular inflammatory biomarkers. Cell markers for inflammatory biomarkers in this study were chosen based on the markers used for qPCR work as discussed previously in Chapter 3. TNF- α was used instead of IL-1 β due to availability of reagents at the time of experimentation. TNF- α however is another pro-inflammatory marker of interest in the context of this study. Assessment of microglial cells positive for inflammatory biomarkers showed no significant differences between the control and Lab4P supplemented groups.

One of the main problems faced during the analysis of the flow cytometry data in this present study was the low event counts of microglia present in both control and Lab4P samples. Due to low microglial event counts, the concatenation tool was used on FlowJo[™] to pool all control samples and all Lab4P treated samples into respective groups. This allowed for better gating and an improved assessment of differences in microglial cell numbers between groups. However, analysis of cytokine expression on individual data showed no differences in microglial event counts or cytokines expression. Again, this is likely due to low event counts of microglial cells. In the future, it may be more beneficial to perform qPCR analysis on these primary cells to assess changes specifically in cytokine expression instead of flow cytometry or optimise the homogenisation procedure to yield greater numbers of cells for analysis.

It has been reported that cell isolation protocols to extract microglia from tissues should be performed as quickly as possible as time is critical for better cell survival and yield (Cossarizza et al. 2019). It is possible that time taken to perform cell isolation during this experimentation influenced the counts of microglia which could be detected. Guidelines also suggest that during the cell isolation and staining procedures it is useful to measure changes in cell number to determine if cells are lost throughout the process (Cossarizza et al. 2019).

In this present study, cells were not counted during the brain cell isolation or cell staining processes, so it is difficult to determine the true cause of the suspected low microglial yield. Not counting cells also meant that it was not possible to determine initial cell yields from each group which meant that the event count determined by FlowJo[™] had to be used to establish incidence of microglial cells per group. This is a key limitation of this flow cytometry work, and in future work it would be critical to carry out cell counting to determine accurate cell yield and validate the observations of this preliminary work.

Refinement and further practice of the cell isolation and staining protocols and techniques could help to enhance microglial cell yield in future experiments. Protocols also

exist where microglial isolation can be carried out via the use of magnetic bead columns which define microglial cells by distinguishing them based on the CD11b cell surface marker which prevent any unwanted upregulated pro-inflammatory gene expression effects caused by FACS (Bordt et al. 2020). The lack of refinement, optimisation and operator expertise could all be contributing factors in the low event counts detected and represent a limitation to this work. In the future, more optimisation, sourcing of alternative protocols or pooling more tissue for analysis could prove useful in expanding this work and providing improved outcomes.

While some trends were observed, it is not possible to make any robust claims from these preliminary results due to the limitations stated here. Additional and more refined flow cytometric analysis on the brain cells of mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet in the future is required. Therefore, whether Lab4P has an impact upon microglial cell numbers and phenotype *in vivo* remains unclear.

4.3.6 Conclusion

This preliminary *in vivo* study has provided some initial insights into the effects of the Lab4P probiotic on WT mice over a two-week period. This work suggests that probiotic supplementation (i) had no significant effect on mouse food and water consumption, body weight and organ weight and (ii) does not affect normal exploratory behaviour of the mice. It is unclear from this work whether numbers of microglial cells in the brains of the mice were altered by supplementation. More refined flow cytometric analysis would be required to elucidate this.

Due to this being a short-term study with young, healthy mice, these results are not unexpected. It is unconfirmed from this work whether this two-week period of Lab4P supplementation made substantial changes in the gut bacteria populations of these mice. In future work changes in the compositions the mouse gut microbiota would need to be tested to confirm and validate these results. Additionally, a larger cohort of mice and perhaps the use of aged or diseased mice would be useful for future studies. However, this pilot study did confirm that the two-week Lab4P probiotic supplementation did not induce any negative effects on phenotypes or behavioural effects on the mice that received the supplemented chow diet and acts as a useful baseline for future work.

This *in vivo* study also allowed for the collection of serum from control and Lab4P supplemented mice, which was used for further *in vitro* study to test the effects of probiotic

metabolites on BV-2 cells as a comparative supplement to validate the findings from the *in vitro* work in Chapter 3.

Chapter 5

Assessment of BV-2 microglial cell response to mouse serum and amyloid (1-42) challenge

5.1 Introduction

For probiotics to have a beneficial health effect after consumption they must reach the intestines alive in order to add to the diversity of the gut microbiome (FAO/WHO 2002). Probiotic bacteria produce metabolites such as SCFAs which contribute to the maintenance of gut barrier integrity and immunity which are important for overall health (Silva et al. 2020). These metabolites can be absorbed through the gut epithelium and enter the bloodstream, allowing for their involvement in a wide variety of different biological processes ranging from immunity to metabolism (den Besten et al. 2013).

Under circumstances where there is gut dysbiosis or a loss of integrity of the gut barrier, inflammatory molecules or bacterial components may pass through into the blood stream and may contribute to disease associated inflammation in AD (Campos-Bedolla et al. 2015). Evidence from previous work carried out at Cultech (personal communication from Dr Tom Webberley) suggests that probiotic supplementation may improve the health status of microglial cells and levels of cytokine gene expression that contribute to AD associated inflammation.

One of the main problems encountered previously in Chapter 3 was the detection of high levels of pro-inflammatory IL-1 β which appeared to be induced via stimulation with Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM when applied to BV-2 cells *in vitro*. During this initial testing it was suspected that CM may contain unknown pro-inflammatory stimuli, making it difficult to interpret the effects of the probiotic CM on BV-2 cells. To address this issue and validate the previous *in vitro* results, it was decided that a more physiologically relevant supplement was required.

One possible approach is to use serum from probiotic treated mice to allow for testing of the effects of probiotic by-products circulating in the bloodstream on BV-2 cells *in vitro*. Previous studies have shown the use of rat serum to test the effects of diet induced serum metabolite changes via application to BV-2 cells *in vitro* (Fisher et al. 2017). As part of the preliminary *in vivo* study detailed in Chapter 4, mouse serum was obtained post-mortem after mice were fed either a control or Lab4P supplemented diet over a period of two-weeks. Therefore, the aims of the work presented in this chapter are as follows:

- 1) Test the effect of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cells *in vitro*.
- 2) Stimulate BV-2 cells with synthetic amyloid β (1-42) and assess effects on gene expression of key targets.
- 3) Assess whether Lab4P mouse serum used as an *in vitro* supplement on BV-2 cells can modulate amyloid β (1-42) driven effects.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Assessment of BV-2 gene expression in response to control and Lab4P treated mouse serum

To assess the effects of mouse serum obtained from control and Lab4P supplemented mice on BV-2 cells, a range of concentrations were applied and incubated for either 4 hours or 16 hours (Figure 5.1). This was done initially to determine if mouse serum alone had any effect on endogenous gene expression of BV-2 cells and to find an appropriate concentration of mouse serum to be used in further assays. Data shown are graphed as mean fold change relative to the control (0% (v/v) mouse serum) for visual effect and clarity. Statistical analysis has been carried out on Δ Ct values as before and can be found in the appendix (Figure A4).



Figure 5.1. Effect of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression over a 4 and 16-hour treatment period. BV-2 cells were grown in 48 well plates at 150,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before removal of medium and incubation with either control or Lab4P mouse serum stated concentrations of mouse serum (MS) for 4 hours (**A**, **B** & **C**) or 16 hours (**D**, **E** & **F**). Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as mean fold change relative to the control (0% MS). N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Two-Way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test for all graphs. * = $P \le 0.05$

<u>4 hour treatment</u>

After BV-2 cells were stimulated with serum taken from mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet, it was found that serum type had a significant effect on IL-1 β gene expression (Figure 5.1 A) (*P*=0.026, Two-Way ANOVA) and IL-6 gene expression (Figure 5.1 B) (*P*=0.048, Two-Way ANOVA). Serum type did not appear to have the same effect on IL-10 gene expression (Figure 5.1 C).

A significant increase in IL-1 β gene expression after incubation with 1% (v/v) Lab4P serum for 4 hours was seen (Figure A4) (*P*=0.0011, Sidak's multiple comparisons test). However, normalisation of these data shown relative to the control as mean fold change did not reflect this difference. All other direct comparisons of serum concentrations (Control vs Lab4P) did not show any significant differences (Sidak's multiple comparisons test). It is important to note that a fair amount of variation was seen among the normalised mean fold change data shown here.

16 hour treatment

Stimulation of BV-2 cells with serum taken from mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet over a 16-hour incubation period showed that serum type had a significant effect on IL-10 gene expression (Figure 5.1 F) (P=0.0065, Two-Way ANOVA). This effect was not seen when IL-1 β (Figure 5.1 D) and IL-6 (Figure 5.1 E) were assessed.

A significant difference was found in IL-10 gene expression when cells were incubated with control and Lab4P serum at a concentration of 0% (v/v) for 16 hours (Figure 5.1 F) (P=0.029, Sidak's multiple comparisons test). All other comparisons of serum concentrations (Control vs Lab4P) did not show any significant differences.

5.2.2 BV-2 cell response to synthetic amyloid β (1-42) treatment

Synthetic A β (1-42) (Abcam, UK) was prepared in DMSO as described in Chapter 2.5. This was applied to BV-2 cells *in vitro* at a concentration of 0.5µM or 5µM. Amyloid was prepared by two different methods as an optimisation step to establish appropriate conditions for use of amyloid in further assays:

- 1) Pre-incubated in cell growth media for 24 hours prior to application to allow time for aggregation of oligomers.
- 2) Applied directly to the BV-2 cells in a monomeric form on the day of the assay (therefore pre-incubated for 0 hours).

The different methods allowed for the assessment of amyloid efficacy in both formats to elicit any changes in gene expression. Since amyloid is known to impact upon cell health and survival, causing cell death and necrosis when aggregated, CV cell viability assays were also performed alongside gene expression assays.

<u>BV-2 cell viability</u>

Cell viability of BV-2 cells in response to synthetic A β (1-42) was assessed via CV assay (Figure 5.2). BV-2 cells showed a trend for increased cell viability after a 4-hour incubation (Figure 5.2 A) and a 16-hour incubation (Figure 5.2 B) for all 4 treatment conditions in comparison with the control (DMEM, 0.5% (v/v) DMSO). Therefore, it was determined that DMSO solubilised amyloid did not show any detrimental effect on BV-2 cell viability and could be used in assays for further investigation of its effects of BV-2 cells. This pilot experiment was only repeated once due to time constraints to get an impression of cell survival in response to amyloid. This meant that statistical analysis could not be carried out. Error bars on the graph represent the mean across 6 technical repeats. While more biological repeats are required, data suggest that cell viability was higher in comparison to the control, as shown by mean absorbance.



4 hrs (**A**) or 16hrs (**B**) following a 24-hour incubation after seeding. Cell were analysed using Crystal Violet to assess viability. N=1 biological repeat for both graphs. Error bars represent the mean across 6 technical repeats.

BV-2 gene expression in response to synthetic amyloid treatment

After establishing that the DMSO solubilised A β (1-42) was not cytotoxic to cells the response of the BV-2 cells to synthetic amyloid was tested via RT-qPCR using a range of key inflammatory biomarkers following a 4-hour or 16-hour incubation (Figure 5.3). These included IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 with β -actin used as a housekeeper gene. Due to time constraints and sample availability, only one repeat was carried out for this work and therefore statistical analysis could not be performed. However, these preliminary data appear to show that unaggregated amyloid applied directly (0hr) may elicit more gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers such as IL-1 β (Figure 5.3, A) and IL-6 (Figure 5.3 B and E).



Figure 5.3. BV-2 gene expression in response to synthetic amyloid treatments. BV-2 cells were grown in 24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well in DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S). Synthetic 1-42 Amyloid-β was prepared in DMSO and DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) and either incubated for 24h (to allow for aggregation - blue) or 0hrs (to be applied in a monomeric form – purple) before application to BV-2 cells for 4 (**A**, **B**, **C**) or 16hrs (**D**, **E**, **F**) following a 24-hour incubation after seeding. Expression of IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β-Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. N=1 biological repeat for all graphs. Error bars represent the mean across 3 technical repeats following normalisation using ΔΔCt method. Data are shown as mean fold change relative to the control.

5.2.3 Assessment of the effects of mouse serum on BV-2 cells with the addition of synthetic amyloid β (1-42) challenge

The hypothesis underpinning this thesis was based on preliminary data arising from work using the Lab4 consortia of probiotics suggesting that AD mouse models fed a probiotic supplemented diet showed improved profiles of inflammatory cytokines (data communicated by Dr Tom Webberley). From this work it was hypothesised that the Lab4 consortia of probiotics may have an impact on microglial cell health since microglia play a central role in coordinating the inflammatory response in the brain.

To determine this *in vitro* the final experiment of this thesis aimed to assess the effects of mouse serum obtained from control and Lab4P supplemented mice on BV-2 microglial cells in the context of AD via the presence of synthetic A β (1-42). BV-2 cells were incubated with the appropriate mouse serum for either 4 or 8 hours in the presence of a range of A β concentrations (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Effects of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression in the presence of amyloid β (1-42) challenge over a 4- and 8-hour treatment period. BV-2 cells were grown in 48-well plates at 150,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with stated concentrations of synthetic amyloid- β (A β) and either control or Lab4P treated mouse serum for 4 hours (A, B, C) or 8 hours (D, E, F). Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as mean fold change relative to the control (0µM A β). N=3 for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Two-Way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test for all graphs.

4 hour incubation

No significant effects due to serum type or concentration were found following a 4-hour incubation of BV-2 cells with control and Lab4P mouse serum (Figure 5.4 A, B and C) (Two-Way ANOVA). Additionally, no significant differences were found upon comparisons of gene expression after 4-hour incubations with control and Lab4P mouse serum (Figure 5.4 A, B and C) (Sidak's multiple comparisons test).

However, there did appear to be a ~3-fold reduction in IL-6 gene expression when BV-2 cells were treated with Lab4P serum and 0.05μ M A β or 0.5μ M for 4 hours in comparison with control serum (Figure 5.5 B). While statistical analysis of Δ Ct values did not highlight this as a significant difference (Appendix Figure A5), it is an interesting observation that has been drawn out via normalisation of these data (presented here as mean fold change).

8 hour incubation

No significant effects due to serum type or concentration were found following an 8hour incubation of BV-2 cells with control and Lab4P mouse serum on IL-1 β (Figure 5.4 D) and IL-10 gene expression (Figure 5.4 F) (Two-Way ANOVA). However, a significant effect caused by A β concentration appeared upon analysis on IL-6 gene expression (Figure 5.4 E) (*P*=0.0033, Two-Way ANOVA). No significant differences by expression of all three target genes treated with control and Lab4P treated serum were found (Figure 5.4 D, E and F) (Sidak's multiple comparison test).

After normalisation of the data (shown as mean fold change), cells appeared to show lower levels of IL-6 (Figure 5.5 E) and IL-10 (Figure 5.5 F) expression in the presence of amyloid and both control and Lab4P treated mouse serum relative to the control of 0% A β .

5.3 Discussion

5.3.1 Summary of data

Work described in this chapter aimed to assess the effects of Lab4P probiotic metabolites present in serum taken from mice fed a probiotic supplemented diet on BV-2 microglial cells this was deemed to be a more physiologically relevant supplement by comparison with CM. One outcome of this was to be able to judge whether similar effects BV-2 cells were observed between CM and serum. Due to the limited supply of mouse serum only

gene expression was carried out to assess the initial effects of mouse serum on BV-2 cells in the absence of a challenge.

Initial application of serum taken from control and Lab4P supplemented mice applied to BV-2 cells showed that serum type did have a significant effect on endogenous IL-1 β and IL-6 gene expression levels after a 4-hour incubation (Figure 5.1 A and B) and IL-10 gene expression levels after 16 hours (Figure 5.1 F), suggesting that serum composition may be different and may be inducing different effects on gene expression based on whether or not the mouse diet was supplemented with the Lab4P probiotic. This is interesting as it suggests that the two-week diet probiotic supplemented diet may have had an impact on probiotic metabolite levels in the serum, however further analysis of serum composition would be required to confirm this.

However, it was also found that there was a significant difference in IL-10 gene expression when serum was applied at 0% (v/v) and incubated with cells for 16 hours, acting as the experimental control. The finding of this significant difference suggests clear variation which may have impacted upon the mean fold change data presented here, as the values were normalised against these control (0% (v/v) values via the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. Due to a limited volume of serum available it was not possible to repeat any biological Ns to remove any anomalous data which has likely given rise to the variation seen here. It would be essential in future experimentation to carry out further repeats to tighten these data and reduce the impact this variation may be having.

At the 16-hour timepoint gene expression levels of IL-6 and IL-10 cytokines were found to be lower than at the 4-hour timepoint (Figure 5.1 B and E, C and F). Typically, after the initiation of the inflammatory response cytokine levels peak at different times as seen in THP-1 macrophages (Figure 5.5).



Figure 5.5. Gene expression and cytokine production levels over time in THP-1 macrophages following stimulation with LPS. Gene expression levels (A) and cytokine protein production (B) in THP-1 macrophages were assessed following stimulation of the inflammatory response by $1\mu g/mL^{-1}$ LPS over timepoints ranging from 0 to 30 hours. GADPH was used as a housekeeping gene and gene expression was calculated relative to GADPH and non-stimulated cells at 0hrs. Figure adapted from Chanput et al., 2010. *Food & function.*

According to Chanput et al. (2010) cytokine gene expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 in THP-1 macrophages peaks at ~4-6 hours following stimulation with LPS before declining and reaching a plateau after 18 hours (Figure 5.5 A). Other studies parallel these findings, agreeing that IL-6 gene expression peaks at ~4-6 hours following introduction of inflammatory stimuli (Pulido-Salgado et al. 2018). However, time taken for IL-10 production is thought to be slightly later with gene expression peaking at ~6-8 hours and cytokine production at around

24 hours after exposure to inflammatory stimuli (Rasley et al. 2006). Based on this evidence it is likely that in this case at the 16-hour timepoint cytokine gene expression had passed their peak following initial inflammation and therefore gene expression levels were lower overall than at the 4-hour timepoint. In future experimentation it will be important to keep these timepoints in mind to capture effects on cytokine gene expression and subsequent protein production at what would be their peak in response to challenges.

Next, the effect of DMSO solubilised synthetic Aβ (1-42) on BV-2 cells was assessed. Again, due to time constraints and availability of Aβ, only one biological repeat was performed for both the cell viability assay and gene expression assay, therefore statistical analysis could not be carried out. Despite this, these assays provided information which indicated that synthetic amyloid appeared to have no negative effect on BV-2 cell viability and allowed the selection of concentrations and preparation methods of amyloid for future assays. Since the synthetic amyloid was solubilised in DMSO there was concern this may affect BV-2 cell viability. However, CV assay showed this was not the case and that this preparation method was suitable for *in vitro* experiment as all preparation methods showed an increase in viable cells in comparison with the negative control at 4 hours and 16 hours (Figure 5.2 A and B). In future work it would be paramount to complete further biological repeats to validate these initial observations.

After determining the individual effects of mouse serum and synthetic A β on BV-2 cells, a final experiment was carried out to combine both factors. Control and Lab4P mouse serum and DMSO solubilised synthetic A β (1-42) were applied to BV-2 cells together in order to determine the effects of Lab4P probiotic metabolites on BV-2 cells in the context of AD over a 4-hour and 8-hour incubation period (Figure 5.4). It appeared that serum type and concentration had no effect on BV-2 gene expression after a 4-hour and 8-hour incubation with serum taken from mice fed a control or Lab4P supplemented diet and the presence of Aß challenge (Figure 5.4). However, one interesting trend observed during these assays was that when Lab4P treated mouse serum was applied to BV-2 in the presence of an amyloid challenge it appeared to reduce the fold change of IL-6 gene expression by comparison with that seen in the control serum after a 4-hour incubation period, however this was not a statistically significant finding (Figure 5.4 B). In order to try to capture cytokine gene expression at the peak following exposure to synthetic amyloid an 8-hour timepoint was used instead of a 16-hour incubation period for this final assay. However, no significant differences were seen between the control and Lab4P groups or change in overall gene expression was seen on exposure to all three amyloid concentrations. This suggests that perhaps gene expression of

these cytokines is occurring earlier between 4-6 hours and therefore these are timepoints that should be focused on in the future.

5.3.2 Impact of Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 gene expression in the presence of amyloid (1-42)

Application of serum from control and Lab4P supplemented mice to BV-2 cells did not induce any significant changes in IL- β , IL-6 or IL-10 gene expression over a 4 or 8 hour incubation period (Figure 5.4). However, an initial non-significant trend was observed when serum obtained from mice supplemented with Lab4P was applied to BV-2 cells in the presence of 0.05µM and 0.5µM of synthetic amyloid which appeared to induce ~3-fold decrease in IL-6 gene expression after a 4-hour incubation (Figure 5.4 B). Although this was not shown to be a statistically significant reduction, it is an interesting initial observed trend. As a caveat, from the Δ Ct values it is apparent that there is clear variation in the control and Lab4P values at 0% (v/v) (Appendix Figure A5 B, D and F) and this may have had an impact when normalising data and expressing values relative to the control in order to present data as mean fold change. During this experimentation only three biological repeats were carried out for the serum and amyloid assay and therefore, any anomalous results could not be excluded (ie. using a method such as finding outliers based on being 2 standard deviations away from the mean). In future work it would be important to repeat experiments where large variations are present to tighten these data. This may include carrying out more than 3 technical repeats per biological N or adding more biological repeats. In the work presented in this chapter it was not possible to do this due to the supply of mouse serum and A β (1-42) being limited.

However, if after further investigation to validate this observation, it is found that Lab4P does have a significant impact on IL-6 gene expression this would support previous studies. For example, similar results have suggested that the probiotic bacteria *Lactobacillus paracasei* and *Bifidobacterium* subspecies *animalis* may influence IL-6 downregulation (Čitar et al. 2015). This is also particularly relevant as IL-6 has been heavily implicated in AD onset and progression. It has been found to be upregulated in the cerebrospinal fluid and serum of AD patients and found in large concentrations in post-mortem AD brains (Brosseron et al. 2014, Cojocaru et al. 2011, e Silva et al. 2021). Additionally, evidence suggests that IL-6 is found during the early stages of A β plaque deposition with higher incidence of IL-6 found in diffuse plaques in comparison with mature compact plaque, suggesting it is a key player during AD onset (Huell et al. 1995). A 2021 study published in Nature looking specifically at IL-6 found

that suppression of IL-6 and inhibition of the transcription factor STAT3 helped to improve memory impairment in AD mice (e Silva et al. 2021). This suggests the downregulation of IL-6 is beneficial and improves AD symptoms. This evidence collectively gives a strong indication of IL-6 involvement in AD, however the role of IL-6 in chronic inflammation and the molecular mechanisms behind exactly how it contributes to disease onset and progression are complex and with mechanistic aspects such as molecular crosstalk unclear at this time.

There is also evidence to suggest that IL-6 impacts microglial recruitment in AD. One study showed that microglia isolated from aged mice showed higher levels of IL-6 (Garner et al. 2018). It has also been acknowledged that IL-6 is involved in gliosis, a phenomenon in AD where an increase in active microglial cells occurs in response to Aß plaques in an attempt to eliminate them (Chiang et al. 1994). Gliosis is not an inherently detrimental process, with evidence suggesting that early on in disease it can be beneficial for A^β plague removal and may even enhance phagocytic abilities of microglia in AD mouse models (Chakrabarty et al. 2010, Cho et al. 2014). The problem stems from sustained microglial activation over time where according to previous evidence, the glial phenotypes flip from protective to proinflammatory and cytotoxic (Jimenez et al. 2008). This includes the upregulation of IL-1β and TNF-α which further potentiates AD related inflammation (Morihara et al. 2005, Yamamoto et al. 2007). One interesting study also suggested that long term exposure to IL-6 may cause desensitisation of microglia, the infiltration of T cells and a consequential increase in proinflammatory cytokines which may account for the "switch" in microglial phenotype described by Jimenez et al. (Recasens et al. 2021). In future work it could be interesting to measure microglial cell proliferation using a proliferation marker such as Ki-67 and microglial specific markers such as Iba-1 to determine if gliosis is reduced by the Lab4P probiotic or if gliosis occurs, but IL-6 gene expression is downregulated. This may help to elucidate part of the molecular mechanisms behind this observation.

Further work would be required to strengthen and statistically validate this preliminary observation, possibly through *in vivo* investigation using AD mouse models such as 3xTg or APP/PS1. However, it is interesting to speculate that probiotic metabolites may offer a method of downregulating disease associated inflammation and prevention of microglial recruitment through altering regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, potentially resulting in the slowing or prevention of AD onset. This therefore would be interesting to investigate further in future work.

5.3.3 Use of mouse serum

In this chapter, serum from Lab4P supplemented mice was used to determine whether CM responses could be reproduced *in vitro* using this different method of probiotic metabolite delivery to BV-2 cells. Probiotic CM is a useful *in vitro* tool and a number of previous studies have utilised probiotic cell-free supernatants to assess the effects of probiotic by-products on the function of cells, including macrophages (Taweechotipatr et al. 2009, Seenappanahalli Nanjundaiah et al. 2016). However, in this present study high levels of pro-inflammatory gene expression were seen in response to BV-2 cell stimulation with Lab4b probiotic CM in particular (Chapter 3).

One benefit of the use of serum over conditioned media is that probiotic bacteria do not inherently produce metabolites such as SCFAs, which evidence suggests play a major role in regulating metabolic processes and inflammation via the MGBA (An et al. 2014). For gut bacteria to produce SCFAs the presence of dietary fibre is required to act as a substrate in the fermentation process which occurs in the gut (Grabitske and Slavin 2008). Therefore, it is more likely that metabolites such as SCFAs will be present in serum taken from mice supplemented with probiotics compared to probiotic CM which is cultured anaerobically *in vitro* and without substrates such as fibre to act upon.

The volume of serum generated from each group of mice was very limited which meant prioritising which assays could be carried out and limiting as far as possible the variables for each assay, such as the concentration of serum used. Therefore, testing of BV-2 cell viability with the mouse serum was by-passed and gene expression analysis prioritised.

Preparation of the mouse serum involved heat inactivating to destroy complement activity which might present as a confounding factor in understanding the data and filter sterilisation via 0.22µm filter to remove debris. The concentration of mouse serum used in the final serum and amyloid assay was chosen based on the initial serum assays carried out. Ideally a concentration of 10% (v/v) mouse serum in the cell growth medium would have been used as a comparator to the typical concentration of 10% (v/v) FBS in normal cell growth medium. One previous study where mice were fed a walnut diet before serum collection and application to BV-2 cells used 10% (v/v) mouse serum, matched with 10% (v/v) FBS supplemented DMEM as a control (Fisher et al. 2017). However, in this chapter due to a limited total volume of mouse serum available it had to be used sparingly. The initial assays in this chapter where three concentrations of mouse serum were applied to cells were done to determine if a concentration lower than 10% (v/v) mouse serum could be used. The assay
showed that there was little difference between levels of cytokine gene expression induced at 4 hours between 5% (v/v) and 10% (v/v) mouse serum concentration (Figure 5.1 A, B and C). Therefore, it was decided to conserve as much mouse serum as possible 5% (v/v) mouse serum would be used in the final experiment.

It would certainly be beneficial to analyse the control and Lab4P treated mouse serum in the same way as the CM, possibly using NMR spectrophotometry, to assess the metabolites present and to determine the presence of endotoxin or other inflammatory stimuli that may be inducing false positive or false negative results in future studies.

5.3.4 Use of DMSO solubilised synthetic amyloid (1-42)

The nature of AD pathology is a key factor when attempting to carry out *in vitro* study in the context of the disease. In this present study the final experiment aimed to assess the effects of Lab4P probiotic metabolites on BV-2 cells in the context of AD through the use of a synthetic amyloid (1-42) as a challenge. Before starting this assay, the preparation and use of synthetic amyloid *in vitro* had to be carefully considered. Initial literature searches suggested a multitude of methods for the solubilisation and use of Abcam synthetic A β 1-42 *in vitro* (Karthick et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2019).

Previous studies suggested using amyloid at a concentration of around 5µM and to aggregate by incubating it over a period of 24 hours (Chiozzi et al. 2019, Caldeira et al. 2017). The effects of amyloid beta (1-42) at 0.5µM and 5µM, aggregated over 24 hours and unaggregated when applied to BV-2 cells were assessed. Due to time constraints this optimisation work was only carried out once (N=1), hence no statistical analysis could be carried out. However, from this initial assay no notable negative effects on BV-2 cells were seen. In the final serum and amyloid assay unaggregated synthetic amyloid (1-42) at a concentration of 0.5µM was used based on a lack of negative effects on BV-2 cell viability and minimal differences between effects on BV-2 cells of aggregated and unaggregated amyloid seen in the initial optimisation. This decision was also based on time constraints and availability of synthetic A β (1-42) and mouse serum.

One of the problems with using synthetic amyloid seen in recurring studies is that generally the assay is done over a short period of time such as 24 hours and is used at variable concentrations. Based on literature searches it was decided in this present study to initially optimise the use of synthetic amyloid before use in further assays with mouse serum. Ideally,

more refinement of the use of synthetic A β should be carried out to improve future experiments. In this present study it was not confirmed whether the 24-hour incubation of amyloid beta in DMEM resulted in aggregated amyloid (1-42) oligomers. Other studies have confirmed the presence of amyloid oligomers via the use of SDS-PAGE before application to cells (Wickstead et al. 2020). Other methods of amyloid oligomer visualisation could include the use of staining procedures such as Congo Red or Thioflavin S to confirm aggregation and these should be considered in any future work (Klunk et al. 1999, LeVine 1999).

Additionally, in these present assays only one form of amyloid was used (1-42), due to it being the most relevant in AD pathology. A β 1-42 is the dominant isoform of amyloid which is able to conform into the amyloid fibril structure more easily than other isoforms and so makes up the majority of the composition of mature amyloid plaques in AD (Roher et al. 1993, Iwatsubo et al. 1994). However, there are other isoforms that contribute to the deposition of the amyloid plagues. One such isomer is A β 1-40 which although is more biologically available does not conform into the fibril structure as quickly and so does not contribute as dominantly to amyloid plaque pathology in AD (Mori et al. 1992). The ratio between the 1-40 and 1-42 amyloid isoforms found the CSF is sometimes used as a biomarker in AD patient diagnosis, with an increase in the 1-42 plaques suggesting worsening of disease severity and the development of mature plaques (Wiltfang et al. 2007, Kuperstein et al. 2010, Dumurgier et al. 2015). Aβ plaques also exist in different states during AD development such as immature diffuse plaques to mature dense core plaques which may also have different roles in disease progression and the extent of inflammation they cause (Wang et al. 2002, D'Andrea and Nagele 2010). To further highlight the complexity of A β plaque pathology, proteomic studies have shown that AD amyloid plaques have specific protein compositions including a higher volume of complement proteins compared to amyloid plaques found in age matched patients who did not have AD (Xiong et al. 2019).

Therefore, it is difficult to replicate the complexity and diversity of different amyloid plaque structures and protein composition *in vitro* and the sole use of the 1-42 A β isomer may be too simplistic as an approach. Time is another factor to consider when using A β *in vitro*. As mentioned earlier, in the human brain amyloid takes years to aggregate and produce amyloid plaques. To replicate this *in vitro* one study suggested the aggregation of amyloid over a period of days (Hughes et al. 2020). However, other studies deem a 24-hour incubation period to be sufficient for amyloid aggregation under various conditions (Stine et al. 2010).

A final consideration for the use of synthetic amyloid *in vitro* is the concentration of amyloid used. Previous studies suggest the use of around 1-5µM amyloid concentration *in*

vitro (Chiozzi et al. 2019). However, other studies argue a lower concentration in the range of 1 to 10 pM is more useful (Hughes et al. 2020). This is a key consideration as a high concentration of A β *in vitro* m β y induce effects on cells that would not occur *in vivo*, giving rise to false results. However, one study noted that the use of lower amyloid concentrations had mimimal pro-inflammatory effects compared to stimulation with LPS (Wickstead et al. 2020). Therefore, further optimisation to determine an appropriate concentration for *in vitro* experimentation is required.

Consideration of all these factors is important to generate a suitable and reliable *in vitro* model of AD pathology. Nevertheless, this initial *in vitro* work acts as a useful starting point to assess probiotic metabolites on microglial cells in the presence of oligomeric amyloid. Following further *in vitro* investigation, it would be interesting to see whether work *in vivo* using AD mouse models with more biologically complex amyloid pathology such as the 3xTg or APP/PS1 models could help to validate these *in vitro* findings.

5.3 5 Conclusion

Application of mouse serum to BV-2 cells under various conditions did not induce any notable significant changes in cytokine gene expression of the three target genes. While not statistically significant, an interesting preliminary trend observed in this chapter was that when serum derived from Lab4P supplemented mice was applied to BV-2 cells in the presence of synthetic A β (1-42) at 0.05 μ M and 0.5 μ M and incubated for 4 hours, gene expression levels of IL-6 appeared to be reduced by ~3-fold. This observation may suggest that the Lab4P probiotic blend has the potential to improve inflammation associated with AD through down regulation of IL-6, which is thought to be involved in the early stages of disease. However, further work would need to be carried out to statistically validate and strengthen this observed trend before any robust claims could be made. If Lab4P can impact IL-6 gene expression levels in BV-2 cells, it remains yet to be elucidated as to why this is the case. Further work would need to be done to understand the molecular mechanisms such as transcriptional control that may be behind the beneficial properties that probiotics appear to have on microglia in the context of AD.

Ultimately, due to the small panel of inflammatory biomarkers used during this work, it is not possible to make any conclusive comments on the extent of the effect that probiotic metabolites may have on microglial cytokine gene expression and how this impacts inflammation in the context of AD. However, this preliminary work does point in the direction that serum taken from Lab4P treated mice may have a different effect on gene expression by comparison with control serum. These observations warrant further and more extensive study for validation.

Chapter 6

General discussion

6.1 Project summary

The research presented in this thesis focuses on the study of microglial cells and the potential to improve microglial function through modulation of the gut microbiome via the use of probiotics. Microglia have been closely implicated in AD development due to their contribution to brain inflammation seen in conjunction with developing AD pathology. There is now a well-established link between gut dysbiosis and microglial cell health and function. Therefore, the aims of the project were:

- 1) To use *in vitro* models of microglia to test whether probiotic metabolites generated *in vitro* can affect gene expression of key inflammatory markers and microglial cell health.
- 2) To assess the impact of probiotics in vivo in healthy WT mice.
- 3) To use *in vitro* models of microglia to test the ability of probiotic-derived metabolites generated *in vivo* to modulate amyloid-induced inflammatory effects.

To achieve these aims the BV-2 mouse microglial cell line was chosen as an *in vitro* culture model of microglia. This choice was based on the widespread use of this line to study microglial biology in the literature. Initially, BV-2 cells were exposed to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic CM over various time points to measure cell viability and expression of key inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10. After measuring high levels of IL-1 β expression following treatment with probiotic CM, a dose response experiment was completed by stimulating BV-2 cells with a range of CM concentrations to explore this effect further.

Given this data, it was decided to refine the *in vitro* experimental assays by trying to bring them closer to physiological conditions. To this end, WT C57BL/J mice were fed either a control or Lab4P probiotic supplemented diet over a two-week period. The primary aim of this procedure was to generate mouse serum carrying gut absorbed metabolites influenced by a probiotic supplemented microbiome which could then be used in BV-2 cell based assays. A number of other parameters were also measured including mouse body weights, food and water intake, organ weight, behaviour and microglial cell populations in the brain.

Cell assays that had initially been carried out with *in vitro* derived probiotic CM were then repeated, using mouse serum instead of CM and the same gene targets assessed via RT-qPCR. At this time, the BV-2 cell response to synthetic amyloid (1-42) was also tested.

Finally, an experiment was carried out to explore whether serum taken from control and Lab4P probiotic supplemented mice could impact amyloid challenged BV-2 cells.

6.2 Summary of main research findings

Initial research findings from Chapter 3 showed that the two different probiotic consortia CM stimulated pro-inflammatory cytokines to different extents. Lab4b appeared to induce high levels of IL-1 β in comparison with Lab4P at a range of concentrations. This is likely due to the fact that the two consortia have a different strain composition giving rise to different probiotic by-products. The high levels of IL-1 β gene expression in BV-2 cells prompted the need for testing with a physiologically relevant supplement alternative to validate the *in vitro* findings.

The *in vivo* work involved supplementation of WT C57BL/J6 mice with a Lab4P probiotic in their diet over two weeks and showed no significant effects on mouse body weight, organ weights, food and drink intake and exploratory behaviour. There was also no significant difference between microglial populations measured via flow cytometry, however this work was preliminary and requires further investigation and refinement to substantiate the initial findings. This *in vivo* work did allow for the generation of mouse serum for use in work carried out in Chapter 5.

Application of serum obtained from control and Lab4P supplemented mice onto BV-2 cells did not significantly impact changes in cytokine gene expression. However, an interesting observed trend from Chapter 5 was that BV-2 cells appeared to show a decrease in IL-6 gene expression (mean fold change) in response to stimulation with serum taken from Lab4P supplemented mice in the presence of synthetic A β (1-42). While this observation was not statistically significant, likely due to variation in the data, it may be interesting to explore further. If Lab4P is able to impact IL-6 gene expression in microglia, this may suggest that Lab4P could potentially modulate inflammation associated with AD.

6.3 Future work

6.3.1 Further work in vitro

Protein analysis and expansion of genes of interest panel

Investigation of the gene expression changes will need to be confirmed at the protein level as it has been shown that gene expression may not always fully reflect protein functionality due to a plethora of downstream and post-transcriptional mechanisms (Vogel and Marcotte 2012, Maier et al. 2009). While the results suggest that levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 gene expression were stimulated to a high-level using CM it is unclear whether levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 cytokine protein production parallel this finding. This would be interesting to investigate further since evidence suggests that IL-1 β is initially produced by microglia in an inactive form in response to inflammatory stimuli and requires a secondary signal such as ATP to produce the active IL-1 β protein (Chauvet et al. 2001, Ferrari et al. 2006). It is unclear whether *in vitro* the IL-1 β protein has become active and this should be investigated further. Confirmation of IL-6 protein levels in experiments where serum from Lab4P-supplemented mice appeared to show the potential to reduce IL-6 gene expression would also be useful in further identifying any anti-inflammatory potential of Lab4P in microglial cells. Cell culture supernatants from both CM and serum assays still remain from this work and could therefore be assayed for protein by ELISA, western blot or Luminex Multiplex protein assays.

The panel of inflammatory cytokine genes assessed during this project was limited due to time constraints. The key cytokines that were prioritised and focused on during this work were IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10. These genes were all selected due to their roles in the inflammatory response in AD based on extensive literature searches and as a continuation from previous work. While exploration of these three cytokines has generated some interesting results in this present work, in future work it would be necessary to expand the panel of genes of interest further to capture additional changes in BV-2 gene expression after stimulation with probiotic CM or serum. This will help to further elucidate how the Lab4 consortia of probiotics may influence changes in microglial gene expression and how this affects the microglial mediated aspects of the inflammatory response. Other gene targets that should be considered for future investigation due to their relevance in this work are detailed in Table 6.1.

In addition to gene expression assays to explore levels of ROS it would also be useful to measure ROS production more directly. There are kits available such as the Total ROS Assay kit 520nm (Thermofisher, UK) and the ROS-GloTM H₂O₂ Assay (Promega, UK) which are suitable for application to *in vitro* cell cultures and should also be used alongside gene expression analysis to directly measure the production of ROS in BV-2 cells under i*n vitro* experimental conditions.

Gene	Role in AD	References
Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNF-α)	 Pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by microglia. Has been shown to cause apoptosis of neuronal cells via mediation of iNos production. Perpetuates microglial activation via positive feedback loop. Upregulated in AD patients. 	Welser-Alves and Milner 2013 Combs et al. 2001 Kuno et al. 2005 Swardfager et al. 2010
Interleukin 4 (IL- 4)	 Anti-inflammatory cytokine produced by microglia. Has shown ability to decrease activity of pro-inflammatory microglia receptors in the presence of LPS. Has shown potential to reduce levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which may help to improve neuronal survival. 	Lively and Schlichter 2018 Zhao et al. 2006
Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)	 Neurotrophic factor which drives neuronal survival and plasticity in the brain. BDNF expressed by microglia has shown to be neuroprotective due its role in synaptic modulation. BDNF upregulation may reduce microglial activation associated with aging. Lab4 probiotics have neuroprotective effects, possibly due to changes in BDNF expression. 	Parkhurst et al. 2013 Wu et al. 2020 Michael et al. 2019
Reactive oxygen species (ROS)	 ROS are produced by microglia in response to TLR recognition of DAMPs, including Aβ. Chronic activation of microglia results in high levels of ROS which may impact neuronal survival. Genes such as inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNos) and Super oxide dismutase (SOD) could be useful targets. 	Schilling and Eder 2011 Spencer et al. 2016
Cluster of Differentiation 68 (CD68)	 Microglial activation marker. Microglia tend to increase in activation status around Aβ plaques as part of gliosis. 	Frackowiak et al. 1992 Hendrickx et al. 2017
Transmembrane protein 119 (TMEM119)	 Microglial activation marker. Could also be useful for determining microglial activation status and gliosis. 	Satoh et al. 2016
Ki-67	 Proliferation marker. AD pathology results in gliosis, where the numbers of microglial cells increase around Aβ plaques. Useful for assessing increases in microglial proliferation which may correspond to gliosis. 	Frautschy et al. 1998 Gerdes et al. 1983

 Table 6.1 Summary of genes of interest for future work.

Transcriptomic analyses

In order to provide a broader assessment of the effect of probiotic supplementation on microglial gene expression, it would be useful to extend the panel of biomarkers through the use of whole transcriptome profiling. Methodologies of use include well established technologies such as microarray analyses or newer techniques such as RNA sequencing. These approaches can help to pick out multiple genes and gene families of interest that may be upregulated or downregulated. The addition of post experimental bioinformatics would allow for specific signaling pathways to be delineated which are difficult to elucidate from a single gene RT-qPCR approach. These methods could be applied following *in vitro* use of the BV-2 cells line after stimulation with CM or mouse serum. Additionally, this method could also be applied following *in vivo* work, allowing for assessment of gene expression in specific brain regions such as the hippocampus in mice fed a probiotic supplemented diet.

Previous microarray work has been carried out to determine the transcriptomic profiles of microglia in AD and other neurodegenerative disease which has revealed some useful information to date including the effects of gut microbiota on microglia (Erny et al. 2015, Tabassum et al. 2019, Maleszewska et al. 2020). Therefore, these approaches could be extremely useful in helping to decipher microglial cell biology under the influence of probiotic dietary modification.

Microglial phenotypic changes

Microglia are highly flexible in their ability to respond to alterations in their surroundings. At rest they exist in a relaxed, stratified shape with long spindle like processes which extend out to survey their surroundings (Nimmerjahn et al. 2005). In contrast, activated microglia exist in an amoeboid shape and retract in their processes (Davis et al. 1994). These distinctive differences in appearance are an aspect of microglial morphology that in future work could be used to assess the response to microglial cells to Lab4b and Lab4P probiotics.

Phenotypic changes could be captured through the use of immunocytochemistry (ICC) or immunohistochemistry (IHC). Antibodies for site specific markers of microglia such as Iba-1 or markers specifically upregulated in activated microglia such as CD68 and TMEM119 could be useful to assess microglial activation states and levels of gliosis (Ito et al. 1998, Hendrickx et al. 2017, Satoh et al. 2016). Software such as ImageJ (Fiji) and QuPath (GitHub) allow for standardised analysis of cells from images and have been used previously for microglial characterisation and quantification (Young and Morrison 2018, Morriss et al. 2020). Changes in cell surface area, cell length and cell number could help to establish the extent of microglial activation upon stimulation with Lab4b or Lab4P probiotic metabolites. Generating data on the phenotypic changes would also help to validate these gene expression data.

Transwell and TEER assays

The *in vitro* assays at present utilised the BV-2 microglial cell line for cell viability and gene expression assays. While useful as a starting point for initial assessment of the effects of probiotic metabolites on BV-2 cells it may be useful in future experimentation to increase the complexity of the assays. Here BV-2s were monocultured and CM or serum applied directly to the cells diluted in the cell growth medium DMEM.

One way of increasing the complexity and physiological relevance of the assays could be to introduce transwells that could mimic the endothelial BBB. *In vivo*, the probiotic metabolites are unlikely to directly interact with microglial cells at high concentrations. The introduction of transwells could help to mimic endothelial barriers such as the gut wall and the BBB (Czupalla et al. 2014). Endothelial cell lines such as the human cerebral microvascular endothelial cell line (hCMEC/D3) develop tight junctions via Claudin-5 and Occludin and can be used as a BBB model (Weksler et al. 2005, Poller et al. 2008). Cell viability and gene expression assays could also be performed to assess the effects of the probiotic on BV-2s after filtration through the endothelial cell layer in such a cell culture system.

Previous work using BBB models have shown that probiotics may have a beneficial effect by supporting barrier integrity (Hoyles et al. 2018). Barrier integrity could also be measured assessed using transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER) assays which measure electrical resistance and determine the integrity of the cell barrier (Benson et al. 2013). Measurement of tight junction proteins such as Claudin-5 via staining or gene expression could help to determine if the probiotics are also having any effect on BBB function which could also help to elucidate in part the effects that probiotics may have. Typically, in AD the BBB becomes compromised and "leaky" which contributes to inflammation due to the passage of proinflammatory molecules into the brain (Carrano et al. 2011). Therefore, assessment of the ability of probiotics to improve tight junction functionality could also in part help to elucidate the mechanism behind the beneficial role they appear to play in AD.

Co-culture of microglia cells with astrocytes and neurons

Complexity of the *in vitro* experiments could be increased through co-culture. Microglia are in constant cross talk with astrocytes and neurons. Therefore, co-culture of cells could help to introduce further complexity of cellular signaling pathways which may provide a fuller picture of the effects that probiotics may have on inflammation and cell health.

Development of AD pathology around neurons leads to cell damage and death, leading to loss of cognitive function and brain atrophy (Masliah et al. 1994, Scheff et al. 2007). In the brain, microglia and astrocytes reside within the CNS milieu to protect neurons. Therefore, it is unsurprising that to ensure appropriate defence mechanisms the three cells communicate through complex cellular cross talk, much of which is still unclear.

To support normal neuronal functioning astrocytes contribute to the control of synaptic plasticity through the release of factors such as BDNF (Wu et al. 2004). They also play a key role in the mediation of the inflammatory response and evidence suggests that similarly to microglia, astrocytes undergo astrogliosis which has also been linked to the development of AD and cognitive impairment (Orre et al. 2014). Astrogliosis is considered to be a neuroprotective process (Goss et al. 1998, Nakase et al. 2004). However, the neuroprotective properties of astrocytes have been attributed to control via microglia (Chen et al. 2020). The pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by microglial cells in response to A β plaque such as IL-1 β and IL-6 are important for astrocytic regulation and promotion of tissue repair (Shinozaki et al. 2017). One study has also shown that the AD risk gene TREM2 in microglia is an important gene required for communication with astrocytes and provides a means of regulating astrocytic synaptic modulation (Jay et al. 2019). Additionally, another study found that in the EAE mouse model a metabolite produced by gut bacteria had an influence on microglial production of TNF- α which in turn reduced the pro-inflammatory properties of astroglia, promoting neuroprotection (Rothhammer et al. 2018).

Therefore, when considering the possible neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of probiotics in AD, it is key to keep in mind the cellular communication between microglia and astrocytes that play a role in neuronal defence. Previous work carried out shows that co-culture of these cells is possible and may provide useful insights into the cellular crosstalk in the context of neurodegenerative disease (Goshi et al. 2020). Future work should perhaps include co-culture models that allow for more extensive analysis of both cell types in this context or the use of organoids as discussed in Chapter 3.3.4. The effects of probiotics

on the relationship between microglia and astrocytes would be just as important to analyse as the effects on microglia alone.

6.3.2 Further work in vivo

Expansion of two-week in vivo mouse study

As discussed in Chapter 4.3.3, one of the limitations of the *in vivo* work carried out in this study was the duration of the study and the fact that a healthy non-diseased model was used. However, previous work carried out by Dr T. Webberley of Cultech Ltd. and Dr T. Hughes of Cardiff University has shown positive effects of using Lab4b and Lab4P probiotics in mouse models of neurodegeneration. Using the 3xTg mouse model of disease, probiotic formulations appear to improve are able to slow cognitive decline and improve neuroinflammation in these mice (unpublished work). This work has also examined the roles of probiotics in the modulation of metabolism (analysis of liver gene expression) and in modulation of the overall gut microbiota (by 16S sequencing of faecal samples).

Further *in vivo* analysis in this context could involve 16S sequencing of mouse faecal pellets from the work presented in this thesis to (i) align these findings with other work in diseased models already completed, and (ii) provide insight into the role of the gut microbiota and liver metabolites in the modulation of microglia functionality and phenotype. IHC staining used to identify microglial cell markers in brain tissue from these diseased animal models supplemented with the probiotic consortia in previous work could be utilised on samples obtained during in this work. Again, this could be useful to identify protein markers of microglia cell functionality and phenotype such as Iba-1, CD68 or TMEM119 as mentioned above.

During the dissection of the mice in this present study various organs including the brain, the duodenum, the ileum, Peyer's patches and liver were taken, frozen down in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. These tissue samples were intended for further use in the analysis of gene expression through RNA extraction and RT-qPCR to determine changes in gene expression of genes of interest in those tissues but has not yet been completed. It would be interesting to determine if the Lab4P probiotic supplementation over a two-week period induced any changes in gene expression in organs such as the brain and intestines.

Clinical Trials

In the longer term it would be interesting to expand and translate these *in vivo* studies further to include the use of human clinical trials. To date the clinical trials that have been carried out to assess the impact of probiotics on patients with AD have been limited, however some have shown promising results. One preliminary clinical trial where twenty mixed sex AD patients were supplemented with probiotics for four weeks found that the probiotic impacted upon the gut microbiota and resulted in higher serum levels of the gut microbiota metabolites thought to cause an increase in macrophage activity (Leblhuber et al. 2018). Another clinical trial looked at AD patients following 3 months of probiotic supplementation and found that those that received the probiotic scored better in a mini mental state exam, however there was little difference found in inflammation levels (Akbari et al. 2016).

While clinical trials would be informative to pursue in this research context, working with patient cohorts can be very challenging for a number of reasons including (i) the ability to fully consent to participation in a trial, (ii) difficulty in recruiting willing participants, (iii) ethical approval required for such work and (iv) the cost of correctly powered trials. Methods for use in potential future clinical trials should carefully be considered. For example, the use of methods that are comparable between mice and human could be very informative, for example the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB) could be used to directly compare *in vivo* work with mice to clinical trials carried out with humans (Sahakian et al. 1988, Romberg et al. 2013). Using behavioral testing methods such as the CANTAB could be a helpful way of eventually translating the findings from animal work into clinical trials with humans, allowing for translation and validation of *in vivo* findings.

However, at present, although increasing evidence does appear to suggest a beneficial role for probiotics in AD, our knowledge of the mechanisms behind this is still very limited. Perhaps it is therefore more important at this stage to prioritise improving our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the effects that probiotics appear to exert at *in vivo* level before moving work into clinical trials.

6.4 Context and long-term impact of present study

This thesis is a contribution to a larger AD study being carried out at Cardiff University in collaboration with Cultech Ltd. The work presented in this thesis aimed to assess changes in the inflammatory profile of microglial cells upon treatment with the Lab4 family of probiotics based on previous work and will add to work already carried out to create a fuller picture of the beneficial impact that probiotics may have on the onset and progression of dementia.

The main research findings from this present study suggest that Lab4b and Lab4P can modulate levels of cytokine gene expression in BV-2 cells. Additionally, an initial trend was observed when serum taken from mice fed a Lab4P diet was applied to BV-2 cells in the presence of synthetic A β (1-42) as gene expression levels of IL-6 appeared to be reduced, however this was not found to be a statistically significant decrease and warrants further investigation. If statistically confirmed through further work, this may suggest that probiotics may play a beneficial role in impacting upon microglial cell function and the role microglia play in mediating inflammation in the context of AD. However, a great deal of further work needs to be carried out to validate these observations and elucidate the mechanisms behind these findings to understand why this is the case.

Our current knowledge of the potential of probiotics to impact on neurodegenerative diseases is expanding rapidly and to date many studies have shown promising results (Bonfili et al. 2017, Distrutti et al. 2014). Since the deposition of AD pathology occurs years, often decades, before a patient is diagnosed, probiotics would have to be taken early on in the disease if they were to confer protective benefits against AD onset and progression. It is important to keep in mind that probiotic supplementation is not necessarily a therapeutic strategy but an approach that could slow or at least minimise the onset and development of AD pathology, possibly through the improvement of disease associated inflammation. This strategy supports the idea that prevention is better than cure. This approach could also be of economic benefit, saving money and improving the current and anticipated strain on healthcare services that AD imposes.

In recent years the idea of using predictive and personalised medicine to treat patients with a range of ailments has emerged (Hu et al. 2013, Wang et al. 2021). Under these circumstances of discreet patient stratification, probiotics could prove to be beneficial tools for developing a multi-faceted approach to minimising the progression of AD. The gut microbiome of individuals is typically distinctive and is largely influenced by individual dietary habits and environmental factors (Kashtanova et al. 2016, Rothschild et al. 2018). There is potential for probiotic blends to be personalised for those who require supplementation of specific gut bacterial strains or if it transpires that certain strains of probiotic bacteria give rise to specific metabolites that have disease preventing potential. Advances in our understanding of risk genes could also be useful in applying probiotics to impact upon dementia onset and

progression. Alternatively, as one study showed, a prediction of AD development could potentially be made from the gut microbiota of individuals, as gut microbiota composition has also been shown to impaired in patients with MCI (Li et al. 2019). Probiotics could be administered before any substantial AD pathology has had a chance to begin developing or help to lessen increases in levels of inflammation during the development of the disease, which may result in an improved AD prognosis. This could potentially help to improve the outlook for AD patients and alleviate the need for more intensive treatments further down the line.

6. 5 Conclusion

From this work it appears that the Lab4b and Lab4P probiotics have the ability to modulate BV-2 cell cytokine gene expression to some degree. Currently, the extent of the impact and involvement that these probiotic induced immunomodulatory changes may have on the onset and progression of AD are not clear. This work provides preliminary insights into the potential effects probiotics may confer on microglial cells. However, further work is required to improve our understanding of the impact of probiotics on microglial cell function and the mechanisms behind their effects.

At the current rate, AD is projected to affect over 100 million people by 2050, if there is no improvement in current treatment options (Brookmeyer et al. 2007). Evidence suggests that probiotics as an intervention strategy do hold potential to impact upon dementia onset and progression. However, there are still many unanswered questions surrounding this topic. The complexities of the relationship between gut microbiota, microglial cell function and AD pathology are yet to be fully understood. Developing our understanding of this area further could help to change the landscape of how neurodegenerative disease are managed. Particularly, in the early stages of disease before the manifestation of pathology and symptoms to help work towards disease prevention rather than cure.

<u>Appendix</u>

Chapter 3



treatment with 50% (v/v) probiotic conditioned media (CM). BV-2 cells were grown in 24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with Lab4b (**A,B,C**) or Lab4P (**D,E,F**) probiotic CM for 4 hours. Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as Δ Ct values. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included unpaired t-test for all data. * = *P*≤0.05, *** = *P*≤0.001



24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with Lab4b (**A**,**B**,**C**) or Lab4P (**D**,**E**,**F**) probiotic CM for 16 hours. Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as Δ Ct values. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included unpaired t-test for all data. * = *P*≤0.05, ** = *P*≤0.01, **** = *P*≤0.0001



Figure A3. Assessment of BV-2 expression of target genes in response to 4-, 8- and 16-hour treatment with low concentrations of Lab4b and Lab4P probiotic conditioned media. BV-2 cells were grown in 24 well plates at 300,000 cells per well with DMEM and 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with a low range of Lab4b (**A**, **B**, **C**) or Lab4P (**D**, **E**, **F**) probiotic conditioned media concentrations. Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as Δ Ct values. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests were carried out on Δ Ct values and included Ordinary Two-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Post Hoc Test for all graphs. * = *P*≤0.05, ** = *P*≤0.01, *** = *P*≤0.001.

Chapter 5



Figure A4. Effect of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression over a 4 and 16-hour treatment period. BV-2 cells were grown in 48 well plates at 150,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before removal of medium and incubation with either control or Lab4P mouse serum stated concentrations of mouse serum (MS) for 4 hours (A, B & C) or 16 hours (D, E & F). Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as Δ Ct values. N=3 biological repeats for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included Two-Way ANOVA and post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparison testing. * = P≤0.05.



Figure A5. Effects of control and Lab4P mouse serum on BV-2 cytokine gene expression in the presence of amyloid β (1-42) challenge over a 4- and 8-hour treatment period. BV-2 cells were grown in 48 well plates at 150,000 cells per well with DMEM (10% (v/v) FBS, 100 U/mL P/S) for 24 hours before incubation with stated concentrations of synthetic amyloid- β (A β) and either control or Lab4P treated mouse serum for 4 hours (A, B, C) or 8 hours (D, E, F). Expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 were assessed via RT-qPCR. β -Actin was used as a housekeeper gene. Results are shown as Δ Ct values). N=3 for all graphs. Data are expressed as the mean +/- standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical tests included Two-Way ANOVA and post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparisons.

References

Aagaard, K. Ma, J., Antony, K. M., Ganu, R., Petrosino, J. and Versalovic, J. 2014. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Science translational medicine 6(237), pp. 237-265

Abd-Elrahman, K. S. Albaker, A., de Souza, J. M., Ribeiro, F. M., Schlossmacher, M. G., Tiberi, M., Hamilton, A. and Ferguson., S. G. 2020. Aβ oligomers induce pathophysiological mGluR5 signaling in Alzheimer's disease model mice in a sex-selective manner. Science signaling 13(662).

Abraham, D. et al., 2019. Exercise and probiotics attenuate the development of Alzheimer's disease in transgenic mice: Role of microbiome. Experimental gerontology 115, pp. 122-131. Abud, E. M. et al. 2017. iPSC-Derived Human Microglia-like Cells to Study Neurological Diseases. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 94(2), pp. 278-293.

Adan, A., Alizada, G., Kiraz, Y., Baran, Y. and Nalbant, A. 2017. Flow cytometry: basic principles and applications. Critical reviews in biotechnology 37(2), pp. 163-176.

Aggleton, J. P. 1985. One-Trial Object Recognition by Rats. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section B 37(4b), pp. 279-294.

Ajmone-Cat, M. A. Mancini, M., De Simone, R., Cilli, P., Minghetti, L. 2013. Microglial polarization and plasticity: Evidence from organotypic hippocampal slice cultures: Microglial Polarization and Tolerization. Glia 61(10), pp. 1698-1711.

Akagawa, S. et al., 2019. Effect of Delivery Mode and Nutrition on Gut Microbiota in Neonates. Annals of nutrition and metabolism 74(2), pp. 132-139.

Akbari, E. et al. 2016. Effect of probiotic supplementation on cognitive function and metabolic status in Alzheimer's disease: A randomized, double-blind and controlled trial. Frontiers in aging neuroscience 8, pp. 256-256.

Akira, S., Uematsu, S. and Takeuchi, O. 2006. Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity. Cell 124(4), pp. 783-801.

Akter, K. Lanza, E. A., Martin, S. A., Myronyuk, N., Rua, M. and Raffa, R. B. 2011. Diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease: shared pathology and treatment? British journal of clinical pharmacology 71(3), pp. 365-376.

Alexander, G. C., Emerson, S and Kesselheim, A. S. 2021. Evaluation of Aducanumab for Alzheimer Disease: Scientific Evidence and Regulatory Review Involving Efficacy, Safety, and Futility. JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association 325(17), pp. 1717-1718.

Al-Lahham, S. H., Peppelenbosch, M. P., Roelofsen, H., Vonk, R. J. and Venema, K. 2010. Biological effects of propionic acid in humans; metabolism, potential applications and underlying mechanisms. Biochimica et biophysica acta. Molecular and cell biology of lipids 1801(11), pp. 1175-1183.

Alliot, F., Godin, I. and Pessac, B. 1999. Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. Brain research. Developmental brain research 117(2), pp. 145-152.

Al-Salami, H., Butt, G., Fawcett, J. P., Tucker, I. G., Golocorbin-Kon, S. and Mikov, M. 2008. Probiotic treatment reduces blood glucose levels and increases systemic absorption of gliclazide in diabetic rats. European journal of drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics 33(2), pp. 101-106.

Alzheimer's Association 2015. 2015 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 11(3), pp. 332-384.

Alzheimer's Association 2018. 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & dementia 14(3), pp. 367-429.

Alzheimer's Association, 2019. 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 15(3), pp. 321-387.

Amieva, H., Le Goff, M., Millet, X., Orgogozo, J. M., Pérès, K., Barberger-Gateau, P., Jacqmin-Gadda, H. and Dartigues, J. F. 2008. Prodromal Alzheimer's disease: Successive emergence of the clinical symptoms. Annals of neurology 64(5), pp. 492-498.

An, D. et al. 2014. Sphingolipids from a Symbiotic Microbe Regulate Homeostasis of Host Intestinal Natural Killer T Cells. Cell 156(1-2), pp. 123-133.

Andrei, C., Margiocco, P., Poggi, A., Lotti, L. V., Torrisi, M. R. and Rubartelli, A. 2004. Phospholipases C and A2 control lysosome-mediated IL-1β secretion: Implications for inflammatory processes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 101(26), pp. 9745-9750.

Arnold, S. E. et al. 1991. The Topographical and Neuroanatomical Distribution of Neurofibrillary Tangles and Neuritic Plaques in the Cerebral Cortex of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. Cerebral cortex (New York, N.Y. 1991) 1(1), pp. 103-116.

Arnson, Y., Shoenfeld, Y. and Amital, H. 2009. Effects of tobacco smoke on immunity, inflammation and autoimmunity. Journal of autoimmunity 34(3), pp. J258-J265. Ashford, J. W. 2004. APOE genotype effects on alzheimer's disease onset and epidemiology. Journal of molecular neuroscience 23(3), pp. 157-165.

Ayroldi, E., Zollo, O., Cannarile, L., D'Adamio, F., Grohmann, U., Delfino, D. V. and Riccardi, C. 1998. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) prevents activation-induced cell death: IL-2-independent inhibition of Fas/FasL expression and cell death. Blood 92(11), pp. 4212-4219.

Azm, S. A. N. et al. 2018. Lactobacilli and bifidobacteria ameliorate memory and learning deficits and oxidative stress in β -amyloid (1–42) injected rats. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism 43(7), pp. 718-726.

Baker, L. M. et al. 2021. A genome guided evaluation of the Lab4 probiotic consortium. Genomics 113(6), pp. 4028-4038.

Bartosch, S., Fite, A., Macfarlane, G. T. and McMurdo, M. E. T. 2004. Characterization of Bacterial Communities in Feces from Healthy Elderly Volunteers and Hospitalized Elderly Patients by Using Real-Time PCR and Effects of Antibiotic Treatment on the Fecal Microbiota. Applied and environmental microbiology 70(6), pp. 3575-3581.

Baud, D., Dimopoulou Agri, V., Gibson, G. R., Reid, G. and Giannoni, E. 2020. Using Probiotics to Flatten the Curve of Coronavirus Disease COVID-2019 Pandemic. Frontiers in public health 8, pp. 186-186.

Bellono, N. W. et al. 2017. Enterochromaffin Cells Are Gut Chemosensors that Couple to Sensory Neural Pathways. Cell 170(1), pp. 185-198.e116

Belyaev, N. D. et al. 2010. The transcriptionally active amyloid precursor protein (APP) intracellular domain is preferentially produced from the 695 isoform of APP in a {beta}-secretase-dependent pathway. The Journal of biological chemistry 285(53), pp. 41443-41454.

Benson, K., Cramer, S. and Galla, H. 2013. Impedance-based cell monitoring: Barrier properties and beyond. Fluids and barriers of the CNS 10(1), pp. 5-5.

Bergman, E. N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. Physiological Reviews 70(2), pp. 567-590.

Bergstrom, K. S. B. et al. 2010. Muc2 protects against lethal infectious colitis by disassociating pathogenic and commensal bacteria from the colonic mucosa. PLoS pathogens 6(5), pp. e1000902-e1000902.

Bertrand, P. P. 2004. Real-time detection of serotonin release from enterochromaffin cells of the guinea-pig ileum. Neurogastroenterology and motility 16(5), pp. 511-514.

Bettelli, E. et al. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441(7090), pp. 235-238.

Biagi, E. et al., 2016. Gut Microbiota and Extreme Longevity. Current biology 26(11), pp. 1480-1485.

Blasi, E.,Barluzzi, R., Bocchini, V., Mazzolla, R. and Bistoni, F.1990. Immortalization of murine microglial cells by a v- raf / v- myc carrying retrovirus. Journal of neuroimmunology 27(2), pp. 229-237.

Bogunovic, M., Davé, S. H., Tilstra, J. S., Chang, D. T. W., Harpaz, N., Xiong, H., Mayer, L. F., Plevy, S. E. 2007. Enteroendocrine cells express functional Toll-like receptors. American journal of physiology: Gastrointestinal and liver physiology 292(6), pp.1770-1783.

Bonfili, L. et al. 2017. Microbiota modulation counteracts Alzheimer's disease progression influencing neuronal proteolysis and gut hormones plasma levels. Scientific reports 7(1), pp. 2426-2421.

Bonfili, L. et al. 2020. Gut microbiota manipulation through probiotics oral administration restores glucose homeostasis in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging 87, pp. 35-43.

Bordt, E. A., Block, C., Petrozziello, T., Sadri-Vakili, G., Smith, C., Edlow, A. and Bilbo, S. D. 2020. Isolation of Microglia from Mouse or Human Tissue. STAR protocols 1(1), p. 100035.

Braak, H. and Braak, E. 1991. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta neuropathologica 82(4), pp. 239-259.

Brandeis, R., Brandys, Y. and Yehuda, S. 1989. The Use of the Morris Water Maze in the Study of Memory and Learning. International Journal of Neuroscience 48(1-2), pp. 29-69.

Braniste, V. et al., 2014. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Science translational medicine 6(263), pp. 263ra158-263ra158. Brookmeyer, R., Johnson, E., Ziegler-Graham, K. and Arrighi, H. M. 2007. Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia 3(3), pp. 186-191.

Brosseron, F., Krauthausen, M., Kummer, M. and Heneka, M. T. 2014. Body Fluid Cytokine Levels in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: a Comparative Overview. Molecular neurobiology 50(2), pp. 534-544.

Brown, A. J. et al., 2003. The Orphan G Protein-coupled Receptors GPR41 and GPR43 Are Activated by Propionate and Other Short Chain Carboxylic Acids. The Journal of biological chemistry 278(13), pp. 11312-11319.

Browning, K. N. 2015. Role of central vagal 5-HT3 receptors in gastrointestinal physiology and pathophysiology. Frontiers in neuroscience 9, pp. 413-413.

Buccellato, F. R., D'Anca, M., Galimberti, D., Fenoglio, C. and Scarpini, E. 2021. Role of oxidative damage in alzheimer's disease and neurodegeneration: From pathogenic mechanisms to biomarker discovery. Antioxidants 10(9), p. 1353.

Burns, T. C., Li, M. D. Mehta, S., Awad, A. J. and Morgan, A. A. 2015. Mouse models rarely mimic the transcriptome of human neurodegenerative diseases: A systematic bioinformatics-based critique of preclinical models. European Journal of Pharmacology 759, pp. 101-117.

Büttner, R., et al. 2018. Inflammaging impairs peripheral nerve maintenance and regeneration. Aging cell 17(6), pp. e12833

Buxbaum, J. D. et al., 1998. Evidence That Tumor Necrosis Factor α Converting Enzyme Is Involved in Regulated α -Secretase Cleavage of the Alzheimer Amyloid Protein Precursor. The Journal of biological chemistry 273(43), pp. 27765-27767.

Caballero-Franco, C. Keller, K., De Simone, C. and Chadee, K. 2007. The VSL#3 probiotic formula induces mucin gene expression and secretion in colonic epithelial cells. American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 292(1), pp. 315-322.

Cagnin, A., Brooks D., Kennedy, A. M., Gunn, R. N., Myers, R., Turkheimer, F. E., Jones, T., Banati, R. B. 2001. In-vivo measurement of activated microglia in dementia. Lancet (0140-6736 (Print)),

Caldeira, C. et al. 2017. Key aging-associated alterations in primary microglia response to beta-amyloid stimulation. Frontiers in aging neuroscience 9, pp. 277-277.

Campdelacreu, J. 2014. Parkinson disease and Alzheimer disease: environmental risk factors. Neurologia 29(9), pp. 541-549.

Campos-Bedolla, P., Walter, F. R., Veszelka, S. and Deli, M. A. 2015. Role of the Blood– Brain Barrier in the Nutrition of the Central Nervous System. Archives of medical research 45(8), pp. 610-638.

Carabotti, M. Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. and Severi, C. 2015. The gut-brain axis: Interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. Annals of gastroenterology 28(2), pp. 203-209.

Carlos, A. J., Tong, L., Prieto, G. A. and Cotman, C. W. 2017. IL-1β impairs retrograde flow of BDNF signaling by attenuating endosome trafficking. Journal of neuroinflammation 14(1), pp. 29-29.

Carrano, A., Hoozemans, J., van der Vies, S., Rozemuller, A. van Horssen, J. and de Vries, H. 2011. Amyloid Beta Induces Oxidative Stress-Mediated Blood–Brain Barrier Changes in Capillary Amyloid Angiopathy. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 15(5), pp. 1167-1178.

Carroll, J. C., Rosario, E. R., Kreimer, S., Villamagna, A., Gentzschein, E., Stanczyk, F. Z. and Pike, C. J. 2010. Sex differences in β -amyloid accumulation in 3xTg-AD mice: Role of neonatal sex steroid hormone exposure. Brain research 1366, pp. 233-245.

Cattaneo, A. P. et al., 2016. Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. Neurobiology of aging 49, pp. 60-68.

Chakrabarty, P. et al. 2010. Massive gliosis induced by interleukin-6 suppresses A β deposition in vivo: evidence against inflammation as a driving force for amyloid deposition. The FASEB journal. 24(2), pp. 548-559.

Chambers, I., Colby, D., Robertson, M., Nichols, J., Lee, S., Tweedie, S. and Smith, A. 2003. Functional Expression Cloning of Nanog, a Pluripotency Sustaining Factor in Embryonic Stem Cells. Cell 113(5), pp. 643-655.

Chanput, W., Mes, J. J., Vreeburg, R. A. M., Savelkoul, H. F. J. and Wichers, H. J. 2010. Transcription profiles of LPS-stimulated THP-1 monocytes and macrophages: a tool to study inflammation modulating effects of food-derived compounds. Food & function 1(3), pp. 254-261.

Chauvet, N., Palin, K., Verrier, D., Poole, S., Dantzer, R. and Lestage, J. 2001. Rat microglial cells secrete predominantly the precursor of interleukin-1 β in response to lipopolysaccharide. The European journal of neuroscience 14(4), pp. 609-617.

Cheepsunthorn, P., Radov, L., Menzies, S., Reid, J. and Connor, J. R. 2001. Characterization of a novel brain-derived microglial cell line isolated from neonatal rat brain. Glia 35(1), pp. 53-62.

Chen, C. C. Baylor, M. and Bass, D. M. 1993. Murine intestinal mucins inhibit rotavirus infection. Gastroenterology 105(1), pp. 84-92.

Chen, H. S., Pellegrini, J. W., Aggarwal, S. K., Lei, S. Z., Warach, S., Jensen, F. E. and Lipton, S. A. 1992. Open-channel block of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) responses by memantine: therapeutic advantage against NMDA receptor-mediated neurotoxicity. The Journal of neuroscience 12(11), pp. 4427-4436.

Chen, L., Zou, Y., Peng, J., Lu, F.,Yin, Y., Li, F. and Yang, J. 2015. *Lactobacillus acidophilus* Suppresses Colitis-Associated Activation of the IL-23/Th17 Axis. Journal of immunology research 2015, pp. 909514-909514.

Chen, W. et al. 2003. Conversion of Peripheral CD4+CD25- Naive T Cells to CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells by TGF- β Induction of Transcription Factor Foxp3. The Journal of experimental medicine 198(12), pp. 1875-1886.

Chen, W.T. et al. 2020. Spatial Transcriptomics and In Situ Sequencing to Study Alzheimer's Disease. Cell 182(4), pp. 976-991.e919.

Cheng, H. and Leblond, C. P. 1974. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. V. Unitarian Theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. Am J Anat 141(4), pp. 537-561.

Chiang, C. S., Stalder, A., Samimi, A. and Campbell, I. L. 1994. Reactive Gliosis as a Consequence of Interleukin-6 Expression in the Brain: Studies in Transgenic Mice. Developmental Neuroscience 16(3-4), pp. 212-221.

Chiozzi, P. et al. 2019. Amyloid β -dependent mitochondrial toxicity in mouse microglia requires P2X7 receptor expression and is prevented by nimodipine. Scientific reports 9(1), pp. 6475-6475.

Cho, M.H. et al. 2014. Autophagy in microglia degrades extracellular β -amyloid fibrils and regulates the NLRP3 inflammasome. Autophagy 10(10), pp. 1761-1775.

Choi, S. H. et al. 2014. A three-dimensional human neural cell culture model of Alzheimer's disease. Nature (London) 515(7526), pp. 274-278.

Chunchai, T. et al., 2018. Decreased Microglial Activation Through Gut-brain Axis by Prebiotics, Probiotics, or Synbiotics Effectively Restored Cognitive Function in Obese-insulin Resistant Rats. Journal of neuroinflammation 15(1), pp. 11

Chung, Y., Yang, X., Chang, S., Ma, L., Tian, Q. and Dong, C. 2006. Expression and regulation of IL-22 in the IL-17-producing CD4+ T lymphocytes. Cell research 16(11), pp. 902-907.

Cianciulli, A., Dragone, T., Calvello, R., Porro, C., Trotta, T., Lofrumento, D. D., and Panaro, M. 2015. IL-10 plays a pivotal role in anti-inflammatory effects of resveratrol in activated microglia cells. International immunopharmacology 24(2), pp. 369-376.

Čitar, M. et al. 2015. Human intestinal mucosa-associated *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* strains with probiotic properties modulate IL-10, IL-6 and IL-12 gene expression in THP-1 cells. Beneficial Microbes 6(3), pp. 325-336.

Citron, M. et al., 1996. Secreted amyloid β -protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature medicine 2(8), pp. 864-870.

Cohen, S. J. Munchow, A. H., Rios, L. M., Zhang, G., Ásgeirsdóttir, H. N. and Stackman, R. W. 2013. The Rodent Hippocampus Is Essential for Nonspatial Object Memory. Current biology 23(17), pp. 1685-1690.

Cojocaru, I. M., Cojocaru, M., Miu, G. and Sapira, V. 2011. Study of interleukin-6 production in Alzheimer's disease. Rom J Intern Med 49(1), pp. 55-58.

Coley, J. M., Duckworth, M. and Baddiley, J. M. 1972. The occurrence of lipoteichoic acids in the membranes of gram-positive bacteria Journal of general microbiology 73(3), pp. 587-591.

Combs, C. K., Karlo, J. C., Kao, S. C. and Landreth, G. E. 2001. beta-Amyloid stimulation of microglia and monocytes results in TNF alpha-dependent expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and neuronal apoptosis. The Journal of neuroscience 21(4), pp. 1179-1188.

Coon, K. D. et al., 2007. A high-density whole-genome association study reveals that APOE is the major susceptibility gene for sporadic late-onset Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Psychiatry 68(4), pp. 613-618.

Corder, E. H. et al., 1993. Gene Dose of Apolipoprotein E Type 4 Allele and the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease in Late Onset Families. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 261(5123), pp. 921-923.

Corr, S. C., Li, Y., Riedel, C. U., O'Toole, P. W., Hill, C. and Gahan, C. G. M. 2007. Bacteriocin Production as a Mechanism for the Antiinfective Activity of *Lactobacillus salivarius* UCC118. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 104(18), pp. 7617-7621.

Cossarizza, A. et al. 2019. Guidelines for the use of flow cytometry and cell sorting in immunological studies (second edition). European journal of immunology 49(10), pp. 1457-1973.

Costa-Pereira, Ana P. 2014. Regulation of IL-6-type cytokine responses by MAPKs. Biochemical Society Transactions 42(1), pp. 59-62.

Craft, J. M., Watterson, D. M. and Van Eldik, L. J. 2006. Human amyloid β -induced neuroinflammation is an early event in neurodegeneration. Glia 53(5), pp. 484-490.

Crane, P. K. et al., 2013. Glucose Levels and Risk of Dementia. The New England journal of medicine 369(6), pp. 540-548.

Crumeyrolle-Arias, M., Jaglin, M., Bruneau, A., Vancassel, S., Cardona, A., Daugé, V., Naudon, L. and Rabot, S. 2014. Absence of the gut microbiota enhances anxiety-like behavior and neuroendocrine response to acute stress in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 42, pp. 207-217.

Cserép, C. et al., 2020. Microglia monitor and protect neuronal function through specialized somatic purinergic junctions. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 367(6477), pp. 528-537.

Cummings, J. H. et al. 1987. Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. Gut 28(10), pp. 1221-1227.

Czupalla, C. J., Liebner, S. and Devraj, K. 2014. In Vitro Models of the Blood–Brain Barrier. In: Milner, R. ed. Cerebral Angiogenesis: Methods and Protocols. New York, NY: Springer New York, pp. 415-437.

D'Andrea, M. R. and Nagele, R. G. 2010. Morphologically distinct types of amyloid plaques point the way to a better understanding of Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. Biotechnic & Histochemistry 85(2), pp. 133-147.

Dale, H. F. Rasmussen, S., Asiller, Ö. and Lied, G. 2019. Probiotics in irritable bowel syndrome: An up-to-date systematic review. Nutrients 11(9), p. 2048. Damotte, V. et al. 2019. Genetic meta-analysis of diagnosed Alzheimer's disease identifies new risk loci and implicates A β , tau, immunity and lipid processing. Nature genetics 51(3), pp. 414-430.

Daneman, R. and Prat, A. 2015. The blood–brain barrier. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 7(1), pp. a020412-a020412.

Das, A. et al. 2016. Transcriptome sequencing reveals that LPS-triggered transcriptional responses in established microglia BV2 cell lines are poorly representative of primary microglia. Journal of neuroinflammation 13(1), pp. 182-182.

Davidsson, P. Blennow, K., Andreasen, N., Eriksson, B., Minthon, L. and Hesse, C. 2001. Differential increase in cerebrospinal fluid-acetylcholinesterase after treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience letters 300(3), pp. 157-160.

Davis, E. J., Foster, T. D. and Thomas, W. E. 1994. Cellular forms and functions of brain microglia. Brain Research Bulletin 34(1), pp. 73-78.

Decker, T. and Lohmann-Matthes, M. L. 1988. A quick and simple method for the quantitation of lactate dehydrogenase release in measurements of cellular cytotoxicity and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) activity. Journal of immunological methods. 115(1), pp. 61-69.

den Besten, G., van Eunen, K., Groen, A., Venema, K., Reijngoud, D. and Bakker, B. 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. Journal of lipid research 54(9), pp. 2325-2340.

Desai, M. S. et al., 2016. A Dietary Fiber-Deprived Gut Microbiota Degrades the Colonic Mucus Barrier and Enhances Pathogen Susceptibility. Cell 167(5), pp. 1339-1353.e1321.

Dinarello, C. A., Ikejima, T., Warner, S. J., Orencole, S. F., Lonnemann, G., Cannon, J. G. and Libby, P. 1987. Interleukin 1 induces interleukin 1. I. Induction of circulating interleukin 1 in rabbits in vivo and in human mononuclear cells in vitro. The Journal of immunology (1950) 139(6), pp. 1902-1910.

Distrutti, E., O'Reilly, J., McDonald, C., Cipriani, S., Renga, B., Lynch, M. and Fiorucci, S. 2014. Modulation of intestinal microbiota by the probiotic VSL#3 resets brain gene expression and ameliorates the age-related deficit in LTP. PloS one 9(9), p. e106503.

Dominguez-Bello, M. G., Costello, E., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Fierer, N. and Knight, R. 2010. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 107(26), pp. 11971-11975.

Douvaras, P. et al. 2017. Directed Differentiation of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells to Microglia. Stem cell reports 8(6), pp. 1516-1524.

Drake, R. L., Vogl, W., Mitchell, A. W. M. and Gray, H. 2020. Gray's anatomy for students. Fourth edition. ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier.

Driessler, F., Venstrom, K., Sabat, R., Asadullah, K. and Schottelius, A. J. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of interleukin-10-mediated inhibition of NF-kB activity: a role for p50. Clinical and Experimental Immunology 135(1), pp. 64-73.

Duckworth, W. C., Bennett, R. G. and Hamel, F. G. 1998. Insulin degradation: Progress and potential. Endocrine reviews 19(5), pp. 608-624.

Dumurgier, J. et al. 2015. Cerebrospinal fluid amyloid- β 42/40 ratio in clinical setting of memory centers: A multicentric study. Alzheimer's research & therapy 7(1), pp. 30-30.

Dunne, A. and O'Neill, L. A. J. 2003. The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: signal transduction during inflammation and host defense. Sci STKE 2003(171), p. re3.

e Silva, N. M. et al. 2021. Pro-inflammatory interleukin-6 signaling links cognitive impairments and peripheral metabolic alterations in Alzheimer's disease. Translational psychiatry 11(1), pp. 251-251.

Ellis, T. N. and Kuehn, M. J. 2010. Virulence and Immunomodulatory Roles of Bacterial Outer Membrane Vesicles. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 74(1), pp. 81-94.

Ennaceur, A. and Delacour, J. 1988. A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats. 1: Behavioral data. Behavioural brain research 31(1), pp. 47-59.

Erny, D. et al. 2015. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. Nature neuroscience 18(7), pp. 965-977.

Ershler, W. B. et al.,1993. Interleukin-6 and aging: blood levels and mononuclear cell production increase with advancing age and in vitro production is modifiable by dietary restriction. Lymphokine and Cytokine Research 12(4), pp. 225-230.

Eskelinen, M. H., Ngandu, T., Helkala, E., Tuomilehto, J., Nissinen, A., Soininen, H. and Kivipelto, M. 2008. Fat intake at midlife and cognitive impairment later in life: a population-based CAIDE study. International journal of geriatric psychiatry 23(7), pp. 741-747.

Fabersani, E. et al. 2021. Lactic Acid Bacteria Strains Differently Modulate Gut Microbiota and Metabolic and Immunological Parameters in High-Fat Diet-Fed Mice. Frontiers in nutrition (Lausanne) 8, pp. 718564-718564.

Facci, L., Barbierato, M., Marinelli, C., Argentini, C., Skaper, S. D. and Giusti, P. 2014. Tolllike receptors 2, -3 and -4 prime microglia but not astrocytes across central nervous system regions for ATP-dependent interleukin-1β release. Scientific reports 4(1), pp. 6824-6824. Fantini, M. C., Becker, C., Monteleone, G., Pallone, F., Galle, P. R. and Neurath, M. F. 2004. Cutting Edge: TGF-β Induces a Regulatory Phenotype in CD4 +CD25- T Cells through Foxp3 Induction and Down-Regulation of Smad7. The Journal of immunology (1950) 172(9), pp. 5149-5153.

FAO/WHO, 2002. Guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food. *FAO/WHO Working Group*, pp.1-11.

Farris, W., Mansourian, S., Leissring, M., Eckman, E., Bertram, L., Eckman, C., Tanzi, R. and Selkoe, D. 2004. Partial Loss-of-Function Mutations in Insulin-Degrading Enzyme that Induce Diabetes also Impair Degradation of Amyloid β -Protein. The American journal of pathology 164(4), pp. 1425-1434.

Feoktistova, M., Geserick, P. and Leverkus, M. 2016. Crystal violet assay for determining viability of cultured cells. Cold Spring Harbor protocols 2016(4), pp. 343-346.

Ferrari, D. et al. 2006. The P2X7 Receptor: A Key Player in IL-1 Processing and Release. The Journal of immunology (1950) 176(7), pp. 3877-3883.

Ferretti, M. T. et al. 2016. T-cell brain infiltration and immature antigen-presenting cells in transgenic models of Alzheimer's disease-like cerebral amyloidosis. Brain, behavior, and immunity 54, pp. 211-225.

Ferrucci, L., Corsi, A., Lauretani, F., Bandinelli, S., Bartali, B., Taub, D., Guralnik, J. and Longo, D. 2005. The origins of age-related proinflammatory state. Blood 105(6), pp. 2294-2299.

Fischer, H., Gottschlich, R. and Seelig, A. 1998. Blood-Brain Barrier Permeation: Molecular Parameters Governing Passive Diffusion. The Journal of Membrane Biology 165(3), pp. 201-211.

Fisher, D. R., Poulose, S. M., Bielinski, D. F. and Shukitt-Hale, B. 2017. Serum metabolites from walnut-fed aged rats attenuate stress-induced neurotoxicity in BV-2 microglial cells. Nutritional Neuroscience 20(2), pp. 103-109.

Flint, H. J., Scott, K., Duncan, S., Louis, P. and Forano, E. 2012. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. Gut microbes 3(4), pp. 289-306.

Fogg, D. K., Sibon, C., Miled, C., Jung, S., Aucouturier, P., Littman, D. R., Cumano, A. and Geissmann, F. 2006. A Clonogenic Bone Marrow Progenitor Specific for Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 311(5757), pp. 83-87.

Forabosco, P. et al., 2013. Insights into TREM2 biology by network analysis of human brain gene expression data. Neurobiology of aging 34(12), pp. 2699-2714.

Forlenza, O. V., Diniz, B., Talib, L., Mendonça, V., Ojopi, E. Gattaz, W. and Teixeira, A. 2010. Increased Serum IL-1β Level in Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders 28(6), pp. 507-512.

Forster, S. C. et al., 2019. A human gut bacterial genome and culture collection for improved metagenomic analyses. Nature biotechnology 37(2), pp. 186-192.

Fourgeaud, L. et al., 2016. TAM receptors regulate multiple features of microglial physiology. Nature (London) 532(7598), pp. 240-244.

Fox, J. G. 2007. The Mouse in biomedical research. 2nd [upd. and rev.] ed. ed. Amsterdam ;: Academic Press.

Frackowiak, J., Wisniewski, H. M., Wegiel, J., Merz, G. S., Iqbal, K. and Wang, K. C. 1992. Ultrastructure of the microglia that phagocytose amyloid and the microglia that produce β -amyloid fibrils. Acta neuropathologica 84(3), pp. 225-233.

Franceschi, C., Bonafe, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E. and De Benedictis, G. 2000. Inflamm-aging: An Evolutionary Perspective on Immunosenescence. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 908(1), pp. 244-254.

Francis, P. T., Sims, N. R., Procter, A. W. and Bowen, D. M. 1993. Cortical Pyramidal Neurone Loss May Cause Glutamatergic Hypoactivity and Cognitive Impairment in Alzheimer's Disease: Investigative and Therapeutic Perspectives. Journal of neurochemistry 60(5), pp. 1589-1604.

Frank, D., N., St Amand, A., Feldman, R. A., Boedeker, E. C., Harpaz, N. and Pace, N. R. 2007. Molecular-Phylogenetic Characterization of Microbial Community Imbalances in Human Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 104(34), pp. 13780-13785.

Fransen, F. et al., 2017. Aged gut microbiota contributes to systemical inflammaging after transfer to germ-free mice. Frontiers in immunology 8, pp. 1385-1385.

Frautschy, S. A., Yang, F., Irrizarry, M., Hyman, B., Saido, T. C., Hsiao, K. and Cole, G. M. 1998. Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice. The American journal of pathology. 152(1), pp. 307-317.

Friedman, B. A. et al. 2018. Diverse Brain Myeloid Expression Profiles Reveal Distinct Microglial Activation States and Aspects of Alzheimer's Disease Not Evident in Mouse Models. Cell Reports 22(3), pp. 832-847.

Fulda, S., Gorman, A., Hori, O. and Samali, A. 2010. Cellular Stress Responses: Cell Survival and Cell Death. International journal of cell biology 2010, pp. 214074-214023.

Furuse, M., Hirase, T., Itoh, M., Nagafuchi, A., Yonemura, S., Tsukita, S. and Tsukita, S. 1993. Occludin: A Novel Integral Membrane Protein Localizing at Tight Junctions. The Journal of cell biology 123(6), pp. 1777-1788.

Gao, X. and Liu, Y. 2017. A transcriptomic study suggesting human iPSC-derived hepatocytes potentially offer a better in vitro model of hepatotoxicity than most hepatoma cell lines. Cell biology and toxicology 33(4), pp. 407-421.

Gao, Z., Zhu, Q., Zhang, Y., Zhao, Y., Cai, L., Shields, C. and Cai, J. 2013. Reciprocal Modulation Between Microglia and Astrocyte in Reactive Gliosis Following the CNS Injury. Molecular neurobiology 48(3), pp. 690-701.

Garner, K. M., Amin, R., Johnson, R., Scarlett, E. and Burton, M. D. 2018. Microglia priming by interleukin-6 signaling is enhanced in aged mice. Journal of neuroimmunology 324, pp. 90-99.

Gautiar, E. L. et al., 2012. Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. Nature immunology 13(11), pp. 1118-1128.

Geraghty, R. J. et al. 2014. Guidelines for the use of cell lines in biomedical research. British journal of cancer 111(6), pp. 1021-1046.

Gerdes, J., Schwab, U., Lemke, H. and Stein, H. 1983. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. International journal of cancer. 31(1), pp. 13-20.

Giulian, D. and Baker, T. J. 1986. Characterization of ameboid microglia isolated from developing mammalian brain. The journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 6(8), pp. 2163-2178.

Go, J. et al. 2021. Human gut microbiota Agathobaculum butyriciproducens improves cognitive impairment in LPS-induced and APP/PS1 mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition research (New York, N.Y.) 86, pp. 96-108.

Goate, A. et al., 1991. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature (London) 349(6311), pp. 704-706.

Goedert, M., Spillantini, M. G., Jakes, R., Rutherford, D. and Crowther, R. A. 1989. Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 3(4), pp. 519-526.

Golde, T. E., Schneider, L. S. and Koo, E. H. 2011. Anti-Aβ Therapeutics in Alzheimer's Disease: The Need for a Paradigm Shift. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 69(2), pp. 203-213.

Gonçalves, P., Catarino, T., Gregório, I. and Martel, F. 2012. Inhibition of butyrate uptake by the primary bile salt chenodeoxycholic acid in intestinal epithelial cells. Journal of cellular biochemistry 113(9), pp. 2937-2947.

Gorni, D. and Finco, A. 2020. Oxidative stress in elderly population: A prevention screening study. Aging medicine 3(3), pp. 205-213.

Gosche, K. M., Mortimer, J. A., Smith, C. D., Markesbery, W. R. and Snowdon, D. A. 2002. Hippocampal volume as an index of Alzheimer neuropathology: Findings from the Nun study. Neurology 58(10), pp. 1476-1482.

Goshi, N., Morgan, R. K., Lein, P. J. and Seker, E. 2020. A primary neural cell culture model to study neuron, astrocyte, and microglia interactions in neuroinflammation. Journal of neuroinflammation 17(1), pp. 155-155.

Goss, J. R., O'Malley, M., Zou, L., Styren, S., Kochanek, P. and DeKosky, S.1998. Astrocytes Are the Major Source of Nerve Growth Factor Upregulation Following Traumatic Brain Injury in the Rat. Experimental neurology 149(2), pp. 301-309. Goyal, R. K. and Hirano, I. 1996. The Enteric Nervous System. The New England journal of medicine 334(17), pp. 1106-1115.

Grabitske, H. and Slavin, J. 2008. Low-Digestible Carbohydrates in Practice. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 108(10), pp. 1677-1681.

Grayson, B., Leger, M., Piercy, C., Adamson, L., Harte, M. and Neill, J. C. 2015. Assessment of disease-related cognitive impairments using the novel object recognition (NOR) task in rodents. Behavioural brain research 285, pp. 176-193.

Guan, J.S. et al., 2009. HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity. Nature (London) 459(7243), pp. 55-60.

Guerreiro, R. et al. 2013. TREM2 Variants in Alzheimer's Disease. The New England journal of medicine 368(2), pp. 117-127.

Guillot-Sestier, M.-V., Doty, K., Gate, D., Rodriguez, J., Leung, B., Rezai-Zadeh, K. and Town, T. 2015. IL-10 Deficiency Rebalances Innate Immunity to Mitigate Alzheimer-Like Pathology. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 85(3), pp. 534-548.

Guschin, D. et al. 1995. A major role for the protein tyrosine kinase JAK1 in the JAK/STAT signal transduction pathway in response to interleukin-6. The EMBO journal 14(7), pp. 1421-1429.

Haass, C., Kaether, C., Thinakaran, G. and Sisodia, S. 2012. Trafficking and proteolytic processing of APP. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2(5), pp. a006270-a006270.

Haeberlein, S. B. et al., 2020. Emerge and Engage topline results: Phase 3 studies of aducanumab in early Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia 16.

Harach, T. et al., 2017. Reduction of Abeta amyloid pathology in APPPS1 transgenic mice in the absence of gut microbiota. Scientific reports 7(1), pp. 41802-41802.

Hardy, J., A. and Higgins, G., A. 1992. Alzheimer's Disease: The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 256(5054), pp. 184-185.

Hartl, D. et al., 2020. A rare loss-of-function variant of ADAM17 is associated with late-onset familial Alzheimer disease. Molecular psychiatry 25(3), pp. 629-639.

Hasegawa, S. et al., 2015. Intestinal dysbiosis and lowered serum lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in Parkinson's disease. PloS one 10(11), pp. e0142164-e0142164.

Hayashi, F. et al., 2001. The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Tolllike receptor 5. Nature (London) 410(6832), pp. 1099-1103.

Hayflick, L. and Moorhead, P. S. 1961. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Experimental Cell Research 25(3), pp. 585-621.

He, Y., Yao, X., Taylor, N., Bai, Y., Lovenberg, T. and Bhattacharya, A. 2018. RNA sequencing analysis reveals quiescent microglia isolation methods from postnatal mouse brains and limitations of BV2 cells. Journal of neuroinflammation 15(1), pp. 153-153.

Hebert, L. E., Weuve, J., Scherr, P. and Evans, D. 2013. Alzheimer disease in the United States (2010–2050) estimated using the 2010 census. Neurology 80(19), pp. 1778-1783.

Heijtz, R. D. et al., 2011. Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 108(7), pp. 3047-3052.

Heinrich, P. C., Behrmann, I., Haan, S., Hermanns, H., Müller-Newen, G. and Schaper, F. 2003. Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. Biochemical journal 374(1), pp. 1-20.

Hendrickx, D. A. E., van Eden, C., Schuurman, K., Hamann, J. and Huitinga, I. 2017. Staining of HLA-DR, Iba1 and CD68 in human microglia reveals partially overlapping expression depending on cellular morphology and pathology. Journal of neuroimmunology 309, pp. 12-22.

Heneka, M. T. et al., NLRP3 is activated in Alzheimer's disease and contributes to pathology in APP/PS1 mice. Nature (London) 493(7434), pp. 674-678.

Henn, A., Lund, S., Hedtjärn, M., Schrattenholz, A., Pörzgen, P. and Leist, M. 2009. The suitability of BV2 cells as alternative model system for primary microglia cultures or for animal experiments examining brain inflammation. ALTEX, alternatives to animal experimentation 26(2), pp. 83-94.

Herrup, K. 2015. The case for rejecting the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Nature neuroscience 18(6), pp. 794-799.

Hickman, S. E., Kingery, N. D., Ohsumi, T. K., Borowsky, M. L., Wang, L., Means, T. K. and El Khoury, J. 2013. The microglial sensome revealed by direct RNA sequencing. Nature neuroscience 16(12), pp. 1896-1905.

Hill, J. A. et al. 2007. Foxp3 Transcription-Factor-Dependent and -Independent Regulation of the Regulatory T Cell Transcriptional Signature. Immunity (Cambridge, Mass.) 27(5), pp. 786-800.

Hirata-Fukae, C. et al., 2008. Females exhibit more extensive amyloid, but not tau, pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic model. Brain research 1216, pp. 92-103.

Holness, C. L. and Simmons, D. L. 1993. Molecular cloning of CD68, a human macrophage marker related to lysosomal glycoproteins. Blood 81(6), pp. 1607-1613.

Holzapfel, W. H., Haberer, O., Bjoerkroth, J. and Schillinger, U. 2001. Taxonomy and important features of probiotic microorganisms in food and nutrition. The American journal of clinical nutrition 73(2), pp. 365-373.

Hooper, L. V. and Gordon, J. I. 2001. Commensal Host-Bacterial Relationships in the Gut. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 292(5519), pp. 1115-1118. doi: 10.1126/science.1058709

Hoyles, L., Snelling, T., Umlai, U., Nicholson, J., Carding, S., Glen, R. and McArthur, S. 2018. Microbiome–host systems interactions: Protective effects of propionate upon the blood–brain barrier. Microbiome 6(1), pp. 1-13.

Hu, R., Wang, X. and Zhan, X. 2013. Multi-parameter systematic strategies for predictive, preventive and personalised medicine in cancer. The EPMA journal 4(1), pp. 2-2.

Hu, X., Leak, R. K., Shi, Y., Suenaga, J., Gao, Y., Zheng, P. and Chen, J. 2015. Microglial and macrophage polarization - New prospects for brain repair. Nature reviews. Neurology 11(1), pp. 56-64.

Huang, Y., Happonen, K. E., Burrola, P. G., O'Connor, C., Hah, N., Huang, L., Nimmerjahn, A. and Lemke, G. 2021. Microglia use TAM receptors to detect and engulf amyloid β plaques. Nature immunology 22(5), pp. 586-594.

Huell, M., Strauss, S., Volk, B., Berger, M. and Bauer, J. 1995. Interleukin-6 is present in early stages of plaque formation and is restricted to the brains of Alzheimer's disease patients. Acta neuropathologica 89(6), pp. 544-551.

Hughes, C. et al. 2020. Beta amyloid aggregates induce sensitised TLR4 signalling causing long-term potentiation deficit and rat neuronal cell death. Communications biology 3(1), pp. 79-79.

Hunsche, C., Cruces, J. and De la Fuente, M. 2019. Improvement of Redox State and Functions of Immune Cells as Well as of Behavioral Response in Aged Mice After Two-Week Supplementation of Fermented Milk with Probiotics. Current microbiology 76(11), pp. 1278-1289.

Hurd, M. D., Martorell, P., Delavande, A., Mullen, K. J. and Langa, K. M. 2013. Monetary Costs of Dementia in the United States. The New England journal of medicine 368(14), pp. 1326-1334.

Ichinohe, T., Pang, I. K., Kumamoto, Y., Peaper, D. R., Ho, J. H., Murray, T. S. and Iwasaki, A. 2011. Microbiota regulates immune defense against respiratory tract influenza A virus infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 108(13), pp. 5354-5359.

Ito, D., Imai, Y., Ohsawa, K., Nakajima, K., Fukuuchi, Y. and Kohsaka, S. 1998. Microgliaspecific localisation of a novel calcium binding protein, Iba1. Molecular Brain Research 57(1), pp. 1-9.

Iwanaga, T., Takebe, K., Kato, I., Karaki, S. and Kuwahara, A. 2006. Cellular expression of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT) in the digestive tract of the mouse, rat, and humans, with special reference to slc5a8. Biomedical Research 27(5), pp. 243-254.

Iwatsubo, T., Odaka, A., Suzuki, N., Mizusawa, H., Nukina, N. and Ihara, Y. 1994. Visualization of A beta 42(43) and A beta 40 in senile plaques with end-specific A beta monoclonals: evidence that an initially deposited species is A beta 42(43). Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 13(1), pp. 45-53.

Janabi, N., Peudenier, S., Héron, B., Ng, K. and Tardieu, M. 1995. Establishment of human microglial cell lines after transfection of primary cultures of embryonic microglial cells with the SV40 large T antigen. Neuroscience letters 195(2), pp. 105-108.
Janowicz, P. W., Leinenga, G., Götz, J. and Nisbet, R. M. 2019. Ultrasound-mediated bloodbrain barrier opening enhances delivery of therapeutically relevant formats of a tau-specific antibody. Scientific reports 9(1), pp. 9255-9259.

Janssens, Y. et al. 2021. PapRIV, a BV-2 microglial cell activating quorum sensing peptide. Scientific reports 11(1), pp. 10723-10723.

Jay, T. R., Saucken, V. E. Muñoz, B. Codocedo, J. F. Atwood, B. K. Lamb, B. T. and Landreth, Gary E. 2019. TREM2 is required for microglial instruction of astrocytic synaptic engulfment in neurodevelopment. Glia 67(10), pp. 1873-1892.

Jensen, G. S., Cash, H. A., Farmer, S. and Keller, D. 2017. Inactivated probiotic Bacillus coagulans GBI-30 induces complex immune activating, anti-inflammatory, and regenerative markers in vitro. Journal of inflammation research 10, pp. 107-117.

Jerndal, P., Ringström, G., Agerforz, P., Karpefors, M., Akkermans, L. M., Bayati, A. and Simrén, M. 2010. Gastrointestinal-specific anxiety: an important factor for severity of GI symptoms and quality of life in IBS. Neurogastroenterology and motility 22(6), pp. 646-e179.

Jimenez, S. et al. 2008. Inflammatory Response in the Hippocampus of PS1M146L/APP751SL Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease: Age-Dependent Switch in the Microglial Phenotype from Alternative to Classic. The Journal of neuroscience 28(45), pp. 11650-11661.

Jin, J.J., Kim, H., Maxwell, J. A., Li, L. and Fukuchi, K. 2008. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent upregulation of cytokines in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Journal of neuroinflammation 5(1), pp. 23-23.

Johansen, F. E., Pekna, M., Norderhaug, I., Haneberg, B., Hietala, M., Krajci, P., Betsholtz, C. and Brandtzaeg, P. 1999. Absence of epithelial immunoglobulin a transport, with increased mucosal leakiness, in polymeric immunoglobulin receptor/secretory component-deficient mice. The Journal of experimental medicine 190(7), pp. 915-921.

Johansson, M. E. V., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L. and Hansson, G. C. 2008. The Inner of the Two Muc2 Mucin-Dependent Mucus Layers in Colon Is Devoid of Bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 105(39), pp. 15064-15069.

Johnson, V. E., Stewart, W. and Smith, D. H. 2012. Widespread Tau and Amyloid-Beta Pathology Many Years After a Single Traumatic Brain Injury in Humans. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland) 22(2), pp. 142-149.

Julio-Pieper, M., O'Connor, R. M., Dinan, T. G. and Cryan, J. F. 2013. Regulation of the brain– gut axis by group III metabotropic glutamate receptors. European journal of pharmacology 698(1-3), pp. 19-30.

Kamboh, M. I. et al. 2012. Genome-wide association study of Alzheimer's disease. Translational psychiatry 2(5), pp. e117-e117.

Kamphuis, W., Orre, M., Kooijman, L., Dahmen, M. and Hol, E. 2012. Differential cell proliferation in the cortex of the appsweps1de9 alzheimer's disease mouse model. Glia 60(4), pp. 615-629.

Kang, S.H., Brown, D. A., Kitajima, I., Xu, X., Heidenreich, O., Gryaznov, S. and Nerenberg, M. 1996. Binding and Functional Effects of Transcriptional Factor Sp1 on the Murine Interleukin-6 Promotor (*). The Journal of biological chemistry 271(13), pp. 7330-7335.

Kantarci, A.. et al., 2018. Combined administration of resolvin E1 and lipoxin A4 resolves inflammation in a murine model of Alzheimer's disease. Experimental neurology 300, pp. 111-120.

Karthick, C., Nithiyanandan, S., Essa, Musthafa M., Guillemin, G., Jayachandran, S. and Anusuyadevi, M. 2019. Time-dependent effect of oligomeric amyloid- β (1-42)-induced hippocampal neurodegeneration in rat model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurological research (New York) 41(2), pp. 139-150.

Karthikeyan, T., Pravin, M., Muthusamy, V., Bharathi Raja, R. and Lakshmi, B. 2012. In Vitro Investigation of the Immunomodulatory Potential of Probiotic *Lactobacillus casei*. Probiotics and antimicrobial proteins 5(1), pp. 51-58.

Kashtanova, D. A., Popenko, A. S., Tkacheva, O., Tyakht, A. B., Alexeev, D. G. and Boytsov, S. A. 2016. Association between the gut microbiota and diet: Fetal life, early childhood, and further life. Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif.) 32(6), pp. 620-627.

Kassinen, A. et al., 2007. The Fecal Microbiota of Irritable Bowel Syndrome Patients Differs Significantly From That of Healthy Subjects. Gastroenterology (New York, N.Y. 1943) 133(1), pp. 24-33.

Kaur, H., Nagamoto-Combs, K., Golovko, S., Golovko, M. Y., Klug, M. G. and Combs, C. 2020. Probiotics ameliorate intestinal pathophysiology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging 92, pp. 114-134.

Kawai, T. and Akira, S. 2007. Signaling to NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptors. Trends in molecular medicine 13(11), pp. 460-469.

Keren-Shaul, H. et al., 2017. A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. Cell (Cambridge) 169(7), pp. 1276-1290.e1217.

Kern, P. A., Ranganathan, S., Li, C., Wood, L. and Ranganathan, G. 2001. Adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 expression in human obesity and insulin resistance. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism 280(5), pp. 745-751.

Kettenmann, H. and Hanisch, U.K. 2007. Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. Nature neuroscience 10(11), pp. 1387-1394.

Kiialainen, A., Hovanes, K., Paloneva, J., Kopra, O. and Peltonen, L. 2005. Dap12 and Trem2, molecules involved in innate immunity and neurodegeneration, are co-expressed in the CNS. Neurobiology of disease 18(2), pp. 314-322.

Kim, S. F., Baek, S. J. and Pack, M. Y. 1991. Cloning and nucleotide sequence of the *Lactobacillus casei* lactate dehydrogenase gene. Applied and environmental microbiology : AEM. 57(8), pp. 2413-2417.

Kinney, J. W., Bemiller, S. M., Murtishaw, A. S., Leisgang, A. M., Salazar, A. M. and Lamb, B. T. 2018. Inflammation as a central mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia: translational research & clinical interventions 4(1), pp. 575-590.

Kleinberger, G. et al. 2014. TREM2 mutations implicated in neurodegeneration impair cell surface transport and phagocytosis. Science translational medicine 6(243), pp. 243-286.

Klunk, W. E., Jacob, R. F. and Mason, R. P. 1999. Quantifying amyloid by congo red spectral shift assay. Methods Enzymol 309, pp. 285-305.

Kmonickova, E., Kverka, M., Tlaskalová-Hogenová, H., Kostecka, P. and Zidek, Z. 2012. Stimulation of nitric oxide, cytokine and prostaglandin production by low-molecular weight fractions of probiotic *Lactobacillus casei* lysate. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 33 Suppl 3, pp. 166-172.

Knopman, D. S., Jones, D. T. and Greicius, M. D. 2021. Failure to demonstrate efficacy of aducanumab: An analysis of the EMERGE and ENGAGE trials as reported by Biogen, December 2019. Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 17(4), pp. 696-701.

Kondo, T. et al. 2013. Modeling Alzheimer's Disease with iPSCs Reveals Stress Phenotypes Associated with Intracellular A β and Differential Drug Responsiveness. Cell stem cell 12(4), pp. 487-496.

Koppel, J. et al., 2014. Psychotic Alzheimer's disease is associated with gender-specific tau phosphorylation abnormalities. Neurobiology of aging 35(9), pp. 2021-2028.

Korn, T. et al. 2007. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory TH17 cells. Nature (London) 448(7152), pp. 484-487.

Korpela, K. et al., 2020. Maternal Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Cesarean-Born Infants Rapidly Restores Normal Gut Microbial Development: A Proof-of-Concept Study. Cell 183(2), pp. 324-334.

Krause, G., Winkler, L., Mueller, S. L., Haseloff, R. F., Piontek, J. and Blasig, I. E. 2008. Structure and function of claudins. Biochimica et biophysica acta. Biomembranes 1778(3), pp. 631-645.

Kreutzberg, G. W. 1996. Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. Trends in neurosciences (Regular ed.) 19(8), pp. 312-318.

Kumar, A. Singh, A. and Ekavali, 2015. A review on Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology and its management: an update. Pharmacological reports 67(2), pp. 195-203.

Kumar, R., Sood, U., Gupta, V., Singh, M., Scaria, J. and Lal, R. 2020. Recent Advancements in the Development of Modern Probiotics for Restoring Human Gut Microbiome Dysbiosis. Indian journal of microbiology. 60(1), pp. 12-25.

Kumbhare, S. V., Patangia, D. V., Patil, R. H., Shouche, Y. S. and Patil, N. P. 2019. Factors influencing the gut microbiome in children: from infancy to childhood. Journal of biosciences 44(2), pp. 1-19.

Kuno, R., Wang, J., Kawanokuchi, J., Takeuchi, H., Mizuno, T. and Suzumura, A. 2005. Autocrine activation of microglia by tumor necrosis factor-α. Journal of neuroimmunology 162(1), pp. 89-96.

Kuperstein, I. et al. 2010. Neurotoxicity of Alzheimer's disease A β peptides is induced by small changes in the A β 42 to A β 40 ratio. The EMBO journal 29(19), pp. 3408-3420.

Kurochkin, I. V. and Goto, S. 1994. Alzheimer's β -amyloid peptide specifically interacts with and is degraded by insulin degrading enzyme. FEBS letters 345(1), pp. 33-37.

Lace, G. et al., 2009. Hippocampal tau pathology is related to neuroanatomical connections: an ageing population-based study. Brain (London, England: 1878) 132(5), pp. 1324-1334.

LaFerla, F. M. and Oddo, S. 2005. Alzheimer's disease: Aβ, tau and synaptic dysfunction. Trends in molecular medicine 11(4), pp. 170-176.

Landskron, G., De la Fuente, M., Thuwajit, P., Thuwajit, C. and Hermoso, M. A. 2014. Chronic Inflammation and Cytokines in the Tumor Microenvironment. Journal of immunology research 2014, pp. 149185-149119.

Leblhuber, F., Steiner, K. Schuetz, B. Fuchs, D. and Gostner, J. 2018. Probiotic Supplementation in Patients with Alzheimer's Dementia - An Explorative Intervention Study. Current Alzheimer research 15(12), pp. 1106-1113.

Ledeboer, A. et al. 2002. Expression and regulation of interleukin-10 and interleukin-10 receptor in rat astroglial and microglial cells. The European journal of neuroscience 16(7), pp. 1175-1185.

Lee, J.K. and Tansey, M. G. 2013. Microglia Isolation from Adult Mouse Brain. In: Joseph, B. and Venero, J.L. eds. Microglia: Methods and Protocols. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, pp. 17-23.

Leger, M., Quiedeville, A., Bouet, V., Haelewyn, B., Boulouard, M., Schumann-Bard, P. and Freret, T. 2013. Object recognition test in mice. Nature protocols 8(12), pp. 2531-2537.

LeVine, H., 3rd. 1999. Quantification of beta-sheet amyloid fibril structures with thioflavin T. Methods Enzymol 309, pp. 274-284.

Li, B., He, Y., Ma, J., Huang, P., Du, J., Cao, L., Wang, Y., Xiao, Q., Tang, H. and Chen, S. 2019. Mild cognitive impairment has similar alterations as Alzheimer's disease in gut microbiota. Alzheimer's & dementia 15(10), pp. 1357-1366.

Li, H., Qiu, T., Huang, G. and Cao, Y. 2010. Production of gamma-aminobutyric acid by *Lactobacillus brevis* NCL912 using fed-batch fermentation. Microbial cell factories 9(1), pp. 85-85.

Li, Y., Du, X., Liu, C., Wen, Z. and Du, J. 2012. Reciprocal Regulation between Resting Microglial Dynamics and Neuronal Activity In Vivo. Developmental cell 23(6), pp. 1189-1202.

Lim, E. S., Rodriguez, C. and Holtz, L. R. 2018. Amniotic fluid from healthy term pregnancies does not harbor a detectable microbial community. Microbiome 6(1), pp. 87-87.

Lipkind, D., Sakov, A., Kafkafi, N., Elmer, G. I., Benjamini, Y. and Golani, I. 2004. New replicable anxiety-related measures of wall vs. center behavior of mice in the open field. Journal of Applied Physiology 97(1), pp. 347-359.

Lipsman, N. et al., 2018. Blood-brain barrier opening in Alzheimer's disease using MR-guided focused ultrasound. Nature communications 9(1), pp. 2336-2336.

Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D. and Sun, S. 2017. NF-kB signaling in inflammation. Signal transduction and targeted therapy 2(1).

Lively, S. and Schlichter, L. C. 2018. Microglia responses to pro-inflammatory stimuli (LPS, IFN γ +TNF α) and reprogramming by resolving cytokines (IL-4, IL-10). Frontiers in cellular neuroscience 12, pp. 215-215.

Lobos, P. et al., 2016. Astaxanthin Protects Primary Hippocampal Neurons against Noxious Effects of Aβ-Oligomers. Journal of neural transplantation & plasticity 2016, pp. 3456783-3456713.

Lovell, R. M. and Ford, A. C. 2012. Global Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Meta-analysis. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology 10(7), pp. 712-721.e714.

Lozupone, C. A., Stombaugh, J. I., Gordon, J. I., Jansson, J. K. and Knight, R. 2012. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. Nature (London) 489(7415), pp. 220-230.

Lü, L., Zhang, L., Wai, M., Yew, D. and Xu, J. 2012. Exocytosis of MTT formazan could exacerbate cell injury. Toxicology in Vitro 26(4), pp. 636-644.

Ma, J., Jiang, T., Tan, L. and Yu, J. 2014. TYROBP in Alzheimer's Disease. Molecular neurobiology 51(2), pp. 820-826.

Ma, Y., Ajnakina, O., Steptoe, A. and Cadar, D. 2020. Higher risk of dementia in English older individuals who are overweight or obese. International journal of epidemiology 49(4), pp. 1353-1365.

Mackenzie, I. R. et al., 2006. Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature (London) 442(7105), pp. 916-919.

Maes, M. et al., 2010. The gut-brain barrier in major depression. Pharmacological reports 62, pp. 52-52.

Maier, T., Güell, M. and Serrano, L. 2009. Correlation of mRNA and protein in complex biological samples. FEBS letters 583(24), pp. 3966-3973.

Maleszewska, M., Steranka, A., Smiech, M., Kaza, B., Pilanc, P., Dabrowski, M. and Kaminska, B. 2021. Sequential changes in histone modifications shape transcriptional responses underlying microglia polarization by glioma. Glia 69(1), pp. 109-123.

Márquez, E. J., Chung, C., Marches, R.,Rossi, R. J., Nehar-Belaid, D., Eroglu, A., Mellert, D., Kuchel, G., Banchereau, J. and Ucar, D. 2020. Sexual dimorphism in human immune system aging. Nature communications 11(1), pp. 751-751.

Martin, E., Boucher, C., Fontaine, B. and Delarasse, C. 2017. Distinct inflammatory phenotypes of microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages in Alzheimer's disease models: effects of aging and amyloid pathology. Aging cell 16(1), pp. 27-38.

Martins, C. A. R., Oulhaj, A., De Jager, C. A. and Williams, J. H., 2005. APOE alleles predict the rate of cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease: A nonlinear model. Neurology 65(12), pp. 1888-1893.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Hansen, L., Richard, D., Alford, M. and Terry, R. 1994. Synaptic and neuritic alterations during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience letters 174(1), pp. 67-72.

Masters, C. L., Bateman, R., Blennow, K., Rowe, C. C., Sperling, R. A. and Cummings, J. L. 2015. Alzheimer's disease. Nature Reviews Disease Primers 1(1), p. 15056.

Matuskova, Z., Anzenbacherova, E., Vecera, R., Tlaskalova-Hogenova, H., Kolar, M. and Anzenbacher, P. 2014. Administration of a probiotic can change drug pharmacokinetics: Effect of E. coli Nissle 1917 on amidarone absorption in rats. PloS one 9(2), pp. e87150-e87150.

McClure, R. E. S., Barha, C. K. and Galea, L. A. M. 2013. 17β -Estradiol, but not estrone, increases the survival and activation of new neurons in the hippocampus in response to spatial memory in adult female rats. Hormones and behavior 63(1), pp. 144-157.

Medzhitov, R. and Janeway, C. A. 1997. Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. Current opinion in immunology 9(1), pp. 4-9.

Mehrabadi, S. and Sadr, S. S. 2020. Assessment of probiotics mixture on memory function, inflammation markers, and oxidative stress in an Alzheimer's disease model of rats. Iranian biomedical journal 24(4), pp. 220-228.

Meybodi, N. M., Mortazavian, A., Sohrabvandi, S., da Cruz, A. G. and Mohammadi, R. 2017. Probiotic supplements and food products: Comparison for different targets. Applied food biotechnology 4(3), pp. 123-132.

Michael, D. R. et al. 2020. A randomised controlled study shows supplementation of overweight and obese adults with lactobacilli and bifidobacteria reduces bodyweight and improves well-being. Scientific reports 10(1), pp. 4183-4183.

Michael, D. R. et al. 2021. Daily supplementation with the Lab4P probiotic consortium induces significant weight loss in overweight adults. Scientific reports 11(1), pp. 5-5.

Michael, D. R., Davies, T. S., Loxley, K. E., Allen, M. D., Good, M. A., Hughes, T. R. and Plummer, S. F. 2019. In vitro neuroprotective activities of two distinct probiotic consortia. Beneficial Microbes 10 (4), pp.437-447

Michael, D. R., Davies, T. S., Moss, J. W. E., Lama Calvente, D., Ramji, D. P., Marchesi, J. R., Pechlivanis, A., Plummer, S. F. and Hughes, T. R. 2017. The anti-cholesterolaemic effect of a consortium of probiotics: An acute study in C57BL/6J mice. Scientific reports 7(1), pp. 2883-2810.

Miedel, C. J., Patton, J. M., Miedel, A. N., Miedel, E. S. and Levenson, J. M. 2017. Assessment of Spontaneous Alternation, Novel Object Recognition and Limb Clasping in Transgenic Mouse Models of Amyloid- β and Tau Neuropathology. Journal of Visualized Experiments 2017(123).

Miller, T. L. and Wolin, M. J. 1996. Pathways of acetate, propionate, and butyrate formation by the human fecal microbial flora. Applied and environmental microbiology 62(5), pp. 1589-1592.

Minter, M. R. et al., 2016. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in gut microbial diversity influences neuro-inflammation and amyloidosis in a murine model of Alzheimer's disease. Scientific reports 6(1), pp. 30028-30028.

Mitsui, K. et al. 2003. The Homeoprotein Nanog Is Required for Maintenance of Pluripotency in Mouse Epiblast and ES Cells. Cell 113(5), pp. 631-642.

Miyazawa, K., Mori, A. Yamamoto, K. and Okudaira, H. 1998. Transcriptional roles of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein- β , nuclear factor- κ B, and C-promoter binding factor 1 in interleukin (IL)-1 β -induced IL-6 synthesis by human rheumatoid fibroblast-like synoviocytes. The Journal of biological chemistry 273(13), pp. 7620-7627.

Mizee, M. R. et al. 2017. Isolation of primary microglia from the human post-mortem brain: effects of ante- and post-mortem variables. Acta neuropathologica communications 5(1), pp. 16-16.

Moonga, I., Niccolini, F., Wilson, H., Pagano, G. and Politis, M. 2017. Hypertension is associated with worse cognitive function and hippocampal hypometabolism in Alzheimer's disease. European journal of neurology 24(9), pp. 1173-1182.

Mori, H. et al. Takio, K., Ogawara, M. and Selkoel, Dennis J. 1992. Mass spectrometry of purified amyloid beta protein in Alzheimer's disease. The Journal of biological chemistry 267(24), pp. 17082-17086.

Morihara, T. et al. 2005. Ibuprofen Suppresses Interleukin-1 β Induction of Pro-Amyloidogenic α 1-Antichymotrypsin to Ameliorate β -Amyloid (A β) Pathology in Alzheimer's Models. Neuropsychopharmacology (New York, N.Y.) 30(6), pp. 1111-1120.

Morimoto, K., Horio, J., Satoh, H., Sue, L., Beach, T., Arita, S., Tooyama, I. and Konishi, Y. 2011. Expression profiles of cytokines in the brains of Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients compared to the brains of non-demented patients with and without increasing AD pathology. Journal of Alzheimer's disease 25(1), pp. 59-76.

Morris, M. J., Mahgoub, M., Na, E., Pranav, H. and Monteggia, L. 2013. Loss of histone deacetylase 2 improves working memory and accelerates extinction learning. The Journal of neuroscience 33(15), pp. 6401-6411.

Morriss, N. J., Conley, G. M. Ospina, S. M. Meehan Iii, W. P. Qiu, J. and Mannix, R. 2020. Automated Quantification of Immunohistochemical Staining of Large Animal Brain Tissue Using QuPath Software. Neuroscience 429, pp. 235-244.

Mosmann, T. 1983. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. Journal of Immunological Methods 65(1), pp. 55-63.

Mowat, A. M. and Agace, W. W. 2014. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. Nature reviews. Immunology 14(10), pp. 667-685.

Muffat, J. et al. 2016. Efficient derivation of microglia-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nature medicine 22(11), pp. 1358-1367.

Nabeshima, T. and Nitta, A. 1994. Memory Impairment and Neuronal Dysfunction Induced by β-Amyloid Protein in Rats. The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine 174(3), pp. 241-249.

Nakase, T., Söhl, G., Theis, M., Willecke, K. and Naus, C. C. G. 2004. Increased Apoptosis and Inflammation after Focal Brain Ischemia in Mice Lacking Connexin43 in Astrocytes. The American journal of pathology 164(6), pp. 2067-2075.

Naslund, J., Jensen, M., Tjernberg, L. O., Thyberg, J., Terenius, L. and Nordstedt, C. 1994. The Metabolic Pathway Generating p3, an A β -Peptide Fragment, Is Probably Non-Amyloidogenic. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 204(2), pp. 780-787.

Nemetz, P. N., Leibson, C. Naessens, J., Beard, M., Kokmen, E., Annegers, J. and Kurland, L. 1999. Traumatic Brain Injury and Time to Onset of Alzheimer's Disease: A Population-based Study. American journal of epidemiology 149(1), pp. 32-40.

Neuman, H., Forsythe, P., Uzan, A., Avni, O. and Koren, O. 2018. Antibiotics in early life: dysbiosis and the damage done. FEMS microbiology reviews 42(4), pp. 489-499.

Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F. and Helmchen, F. 2005. Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants of Brain Parenchyma in vivo. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 308(5726), pp. 1314-1318.

Noldus, L. P. J. J., Spink, A. J. and Tegelenbosch, R. A. J. 2001. EthoVision: A versatile tracking system for automation of behavioral experiments. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers 33(3), pp. 398-414.

Oakley, H. et al. 2006. Intraneuronal beta-Amyloid Aggregates, Neurodegeneration, and Neuron Loss in Transgenic Mice with Five Familial Alzheimer's Disease Mutations: Potential Factors in Amyloid Plaque Formation. The Journal of neuroscience 26(40), pp. 10129-10140.

Obanla, T. O., Hayek, S. A., Gyawali, R. and Ibrahim, S. A. 2016. Interaction Between Bifidobacterium and Medical Drugs. Proceedings of the 2013 National Conference on Advances in Environmental Science and Technology. Cham, 2016//. Springer International Publishing. P171-178

Oberstein, T. J., Taha, L., Spitzer, P., Hellstern, J., Herrmann, M., Kornhuber, J. and Maler, J. 2018. Imbalance of circulating Th17 and regulatory T cells in Alzheimer's disease: A case control study. Frontiers in immunology 9, pp. 1213-1213.

Oddo, S. et al. 2003. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 39(3), pp. 409-421.

Ohtani, T. et al. 2000. Dissection of signaling cascades through gp130 in vivo: Reciprocal roles for STAT3- and SHP2-mediated signals in immune responses. Immunity (Cambridge, Mass.) 12(1), pp. 95-105.

Olsen, R. W. and Sieghart, W. 2008. International Union of Pharmacology. LXX. Subtypes of γ -aminobutyric acidA receptors: Classification on the basis of subunit composition, pharmacology, and function. Update. Pharmacological reviews 60(3), pp. 243-260.

O'Morain, V. et al., 2021. The Lab4P Consortium of Probiotics Attenuates Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor Deficient Mice Fed a High Fat Diet and Causes Plaque Stabilization by Inhibiting Inflammation and Several Pro-Atherogenic Processes. Molecular nutrition & food research 65(17), pp. 2100214

Orre, M., Kamphuis, W., Osborn, L., Jansen, A., Kooijman, L., Bossers, K., Hol, E., 2014. Isolation of glia from Alzheimer's mice reveals inflammation and dysfunction. Neurobiology of aging 35(12), pp. 2746-2760.

O'Shea, E. F., Cotter, P. D., Stanton, C., Ross, R. P. and Hill, C. 2012. Production of bioactive substances by intestinal bacteria as a basis for explaining probiotic mechanisms: Bacteriocins and conjugated linoleic acid. International journal of food microbiology 152(3), pp. 189-205.

Ou, Z. et al., 2018. Metformin treatment prevents amyloid plaque deposition and memory impairment in APP/PS1 mice. Brain, behavior, and immunity 69, pp. 351-363.

Ouchi, N., Parker, J. L., Lugus, J. J. and Walsh, K. 2011. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. Nature reviews. Immunology 11(2), pp. 85-97.

Ouyang, W., Kolls, J. and Zheng, Y. 2008. The Biological Functions of T Helper 17 Cell Effector Cytokines in Inflammation. Immunity (Cambridge, Mass.) 28(4), pp. 454-467.

Parkhurst, C. N. et al. 2013. Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through BDNF. Cell 155(7), pp. 1596-1609.

Peng, L., Li, Z., Green, R., Holzman, I. and Lin, J. 2009. Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. The Journal of nutrition 139(9), pp. 1619-1625.

Peschon, J. J. et al., 1998. An Essential Role for Ectodomain Shedding in Mammalian Development. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 282(5392), pp. 1281-1284.

Peters, M., Müller, A. and Rose-John, S.1998. Interleukin-6 and soluble interleukin-6 receptor: Direct stimulation of gp130 and hematopoiesis. Blood 92(10), pp. 3495-3504.

Pitman, R. S. and Blumberg, R. S. 2000. First line of defense: the role of the intestinal epithelium as an active component of the mucosal immune system. Journal of gastroenterology 35(11), pp. 805-814.

Poller, B. et al. 2008. The human brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3 as a human bloodbrain barrier model for drug transport studies. Journal of neurochemistry 107(5), pp. 1358-1368.

Ponomarev, E. D., Maresz, K., Tan, Y. and Dittel, B. N. 2007. CNS-Derived Interleukin-4 Is Essential for the Regulation of Autoimmune Inflammation and Induces a State of Alternative Activation in Microglial Cells. The Journal of neuroscience 27(40), pp. 10714-10721.

Postina, R. et al., 2004. A disintegrin-metalloproteinase prevents amyloid plaque formation and hippocampal defects in an Alzheimer disease mouse model. The Journal of clinical investigation 113(10), pp. 1456-1464.

Pou, K. M. et al., 2007. Visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue volumes are crosssectionally related to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress: The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation (New York, N.Y.) 116(11), pp. 1234-1241.

Prattichizzo, F., De Nigris, V., La Sala, L., Procopio, A., Olivieri, F. and Ceriello, A. 2016. "Inflammaging" as a Druggable Target: A Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype— Centered View of Type 2 Diabetes. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2016, pp. 1810327-1810310.

Proctor, L. M. et al., 2019. The Integrative Human Microbiome Project. Nature (London) 569(7758), pp. 641-648.

Pryde, S. E., Duncan, S. H., Hold, G. L., Stewart, C. S. and Flint, H. J. 2002. The microbiology of butyrate formation in the human colon. FEMS Microbiology Letters 217(2), pp. 133-139.

Pulido-Salgado, M., Vidal-Taboada, J., Barriga, G., Solà, C. and Saura, J. 2018. RNA-Seq transcriptomic profiling of primary murine microglia treated with LPS or LPS + IFNγ. Scientific reports 8(1), p. 16096.

Qin, J., Li, R., Raes, J., Arumugam, M., Tims, S., Vos, de W. M., Zoetendal, E. G. and Kleerebezem, M. 2010. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature (London) 464(7285), pp. 59-65.

Querol-Vilaseca, M. et al., 2019. Nanoscale structure of amyloid- β plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Scientific reports 9(1), p. 5181.

Quintanilla, R. A., Orellana, D. I., González-Billault, C. and Maccioni, R. B. 2004. Interleukin-6 induces Alzheimer-type phosphorylation of tau protein by deregulating the cdk5/p35 pathway. Experimental cell research 295(1), pp. 245-257.

Radde, R. et al. 2006. A β 42-driven cerebral amyloidosis in transgenic mice reveals early and robust pathology. EMBO reports 7(9), pp. 940-946.

Rae, E. A. and Brown, R. E. 2015. The problem of genotype and sex differences in life expectancy in transgenic AD mice. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 57, pp. 238-251.

Raji, C. A. et al., 2010. Brain structure and obesity. Human brain mapping 31(3), pp. 353-364.

Rangaraju, S. et al. 2018. Differential phagocytic properties of CD45low microglia and CD45high brain mononuclear phagocytes-activation and age-related effects. Frontiers in immunology 9, pp. 405-405.

Ransohoff, R. M. 2016. A polarizing question: Do M1 and M2 microglia exist. Nature neuroscience 19(8), pp. 987-991.

Rao, J. N. and Wang, J. Y. 2011. Regulation of gastrointestinal mucosal growth. San Rafael, Calif. (1537 Fourth Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 USA): Morgan & Claypool.

Rasley, A., Tranguch, S., Rati, D. and Marriott, I. 2006. Murine glia express the immunosuppressive cytokine, interleukin-10, following exposure to Borrelia burgdorferi or Neisseria meningitidis. Glia 53(6), pp. 583-592.

Raygan, F. et al., 2018. The effects of probiotic supplementation on metabolic status in type 2 diabetic patients with coronary heart disease. Diabetology and metabolic syndrome 10(1), pp. 51-51.

Recasens, M., Almolda, B., Pérez-Clausell, J., Campbell, I., González, B. and Castellano, B. 2021. Chronic exposure to IL-6 induces a desensitized phenotype of the microglia. Journal of neuroinflammation 18(1), pp. 31-31.

Reigstad, C. S., Salmonson, C. E., Rainey, J. F., Szurszewski, J. H., Linden, D. R., Sonnenburg, J. L., Farrugia, G. and Kashyap, P. C., 2015. Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. The FASEB journal 29(4), pp. 1395-1403.

Reisberg, B., Doody, R., Stöffler, A., Schmitt, F., Ferris, S. and Möbius, H., 2003. Memantine in Moderate-to-Severe Alzheimer's Disease. The New England journal of medicine 348(14), pp. 1333-1341.

Reunanen, J., Kainulainen, V., Huuskonen, L., Ottman, N. A., Belzer, C., Huhtinen, H., Vos, de W. M. and Satokari, R. M., 2015. Akkermansia muciniphila Adheres to Enterocytes and Strengthens the Integrity of the Epithelial Cell Layer. Applied and environmental microbiology 81(11), pp. 3655-3662.

Rhee, S. H., Pothoulakis, C. and Mayer, E. A. 2009. Principles and clinical implications of the brain-gut-enteric microbiota axis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 6(5), pp. 306-314.

Righi, M. et al. 1989. Monokine production by microglial cell clones. European journal of immunology 19(8), pp. 1443-1448.

Rodríguez, J. M. et al., 2015. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. Microbial ecology in health and disease 26(1), pp. 26050-26050.

Rogaev, E. I. et al., 1995. Familial Alzheimer's disease in kindreds with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer's disease type 3 gene. Nature (London) 376(6543), pp. 775-778.

Roher, A. E., Lowenson, J., Clarke, S., Woods, A., Cotter, R., Gowing, E. and Ball, M. 1993. β -Amyloid-(1-42) is a Major Component of Cerebrovascular Amyloid Deposits: Implications for the Pathology of Alzheimer Disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences -PNAS 90(22), pp. 10836-10840.

Rojas, O. L. et al. 2019. Recirculating Intestinal IgA-Producing Cells Regulate Neuroinflammation via IL-10. Cell 177(2), pp. 492-493.

Romano-Keeler, J. et al., 2014. Early life establishment of site-specific microbial communities in the gut. Gut microbes 5(2), pp. 192-201.

Romberg, C., Horner, A., Bussey, T. and Saksida, L. 2013. A touch screen-automated cognitive test battery reveals impaired attention, memory abnormalities, and increased response inhibition in the TgCRND8 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging 34(3), pp. 731-744.

Rosario, E. R., Chang, L., Head, E. H., Stanczyk, F. Z. and Pike, C. J. 2009. Brain levels of sex steroid hormones in men and women during normal aging and in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging 32(4), pp. 604-613.

Rossi, F. M. V., Ajami, B., Bennett, J., Krieger, C. and Tetzlaff, W. 2007. Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. Nature neuroscience 10(12), pp. 1538-1543.

Roth, K. A., Hertz, J. M. and Gordon, J. I. 1990. Mapping Enteroendocrine Cell Populations in Transgenic Mice Reveals an Unexpected Degree of Complexity in Cellular Differentiation within the Gastrointestinal Tract. The Journal of cell biology 110(5), pp. 1791-1801.

Rothhammer, V. et al. 2018. Microglial control of astrocytes in response to microbial metabolites. Nature (London) 557(7707), pp. 724-728.

Rothschild, D. et al. 2018. Environment dominates over host genetics in shaping human gut microbiota. Nature (London) 555(7695), pp. 210-228.

Sahakian, B. J., Morris, R. G. Evenden, J. L. Heald, A. Levy, R. Philpot, M. and Robbins, T. W. 1988. A Comparative Study of Visuospatial Memory and Learning in Alzheimer-Type Dementia and Parkinson's Disease. Brain (London, England : 1878) 111(3), pp. 695-718.

Salloway, S. et al., 2009. A phase 2 multiple ascending dose trial of bapineuzumab in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Neurology 73(24), pp. 2061-2070.

Salminen, S., Gibson, G. R., McCartney, A. L. and Isolauri, E. 2004. Influence of mode of delivery on gut microbiota composition in seven year old children. Gut 53(9), pp. 1388-1389.

Saresella, M. et al. 2010. Increased activity of Th-17 and Th-9 lymphocytes and a skewing of the post-thymic differentiation pathway are seen in Alzheimer's disease. Brain, behavior, and immunity 25(3), pp. 539-547.

Satoh, J., Kino, Y., Asahina, N., Takitani, M., Miyoshi, J., Ishida, T. and Saito, Y. 2016. TMEM119 marks a subset of microglia in the human brain: Human microglial marker TMEM119. Neuropathology 36(1), pp. 39-49.

Schafer, D. P. et al., 2012. Microglia Sculpt Postnatal Neural Circuits in an Activity and Complement-Dependent Manner. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 74(4), pp. 691-705.

Scheff, S. W., Price, D. A., Schmitt, F. A., Dekosky, S. T. and Mufson, E. J., 2007. Synaptic alterations in CA1 in mild Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. Neurology 68(18), pp. 1501-1508.

Scheller, J., Chalaris, A., Garbers, C. and Rose-John, S. 2011. ADAM17: a molecular switch to control inflammation and tissue regeneration. Trends in immunology 32(8), pp. 380-387.

Schilling, T. and Eder, C. 2011. Amyloid-β-induced reactive oxygen species production and priming are differentially regulated by ion channels in microglia. Journal of cellular physiology 226(12), pp. 3295-3302.

Schindler, R., Ghezzi, P. and Dinarello, C. A. 1990. IL-1 induces IL-1. IV. IFN-gamma suppresses IL-1 but not lipopolysaccharide-induced transcription of IL-1. The Journal of immunology (1950) 144(6), pp. 2216-2222.

Schousboe, A. 1981. Transport and Metabolism of Glutamate and Gaba in Neurons and Glial Cells. International Review of Neurobiology 22, pp. 1-45.

Schröder, N. W. J. et al. 2003. Lipoteichoic Acid (LTA) of Streptococcus pneumoniaeand Staphylococcus aureus Activates Immune Cells via Toll-like Receptor (TLR)-2, Lipopolysaccharide-binding Protein (LBP), and CD14, whereas TLR-4 and MD-2 Are Not Involved. The Journal of biological chemistry 278(18), pp. 15587-15594.

Schultz, C., Del Tredici, K. and Braak, H. 2004. Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease. In: Richter, R.W. and Richter, B.Z. eds. Alzheimer's Disease: A Physician's Guide to Practical Management. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, pp. 21-31.

Seenappanahalli Nanjundaiah, Y., Wright, D. A., Baydoun, A. R., O'Hare, W. T., Ali, Z., Khaled, Z. and Sarker, M. 2016. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG conditioned media modulates acute reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in J774 murine macrophages. Biochemistry and biophysics reports 6, pp. 68-75.

Segain, J. P. et al., 2000. Butyrate inhibits inflammatory responses through NFkappaB inhibition: implications for Crohn's disease. Gut 47(3), pp. 397-403.

Selkoe, D. J. and Wolfe, M. S. 2007. Presenilin: Running with Scissors in the Membrane. Cell (Cambridge) 131(2), pp. 215-221.

Sender, R., Fuchs, S. and Milo, R. 2016. Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS biology 14(8), pp. e1002533-e1002533.

Seubert, P. et al., 2008. Antibody capture of soluble Abeta does not reduce cortical Abeta amyloidosis in the PDAPP mouse. Neuro-degenerative diseases 5(2), pp. 65-71.

Sevigny, J. et al. 2016. The antibody aducanumab reduces A β plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Nature (London) 537(7618), pp. 50-56.

Shaftel, S. S., Kyrkanides, S., Olschowka, J., Miller, J., Johnson, R., and O'Banion, M. K. 2007. Sustained hippocampal IL-1 β overexpression mediates chronic neuroinflammation and ameliorates Alzheimer plaque pathology. The Journal of clinical investigation 117(6), pp. 1595-1604.

Sherrington, R. et al. 1995. Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature (London) 375(6534), pp. 754-760.

Shinozaki, Y. et al. 2017. Transformation of Astrocytes to a Neuroprotective Phenotype by Microglia via P2Y(1) Receptor Downregulation. Cell reports (Cambridge) 19(6), pp. 1151-1164.

Silva, Y. P., Bernardi, A. and Frozza, R. 2020. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids From Gut Microbiota in Gut-Brain Communication. Frontiers in endocrinology (Lausanne) 11, pp. 25-25.

Sirenko, O., Hesley, J., Rusyn, I. and Cromwell, E. 2014. High-Content High-Throughput Assays for Characterizing the Viability and Morphology of Human iPSC-Derived Neuronal Cultures. ASSAY and Drug Development Technologies 12(9-10), pp. 536-547.

Smith, A. J., Chappell, A. E., Buret, A. G., Barrett, K. E. and Dong, H. 2006. 5-Hydroxytryptamine contributes significantly to a reflex pathway by which the duodenal mucosa protects itself from gastric acid injury. The FASEB journal 20(14), pp. 2486-2495.

Smith, J. A., Das, A., Ray, S. K. and Banik, N. L. 2011. Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. Brain research bulletin 87(1), pp. 10-20.

Song, W., Hooli, B., Mullin, K., Jin, S., Cella, M., Ulland, T. K., Wang, Y., Tanzi, R. E. and Colonna, M. 2017. Alzheimer's disease-associated TREM2 variants exhibit either decreased or increased ligand-dependent activation. Alzheimer's & dementia 13(4), pp. 381-387.

Spangenberg, E. E. et al. 2016. Eliminating microglia in Alzheimer's mice prevents neuronal loss without modulating amyloid-β pathology. Brain 139(4), pp. 1265-1281.

Spencer, J., Finn, T. and Isaacson, P. G. 1986. Human Peyer's patches: an immunohistochemical study. Gut 27(4), pp. 405-410.

Spencer, N. G., Schilling, T., Miralles, F. and Eder, C. 2016. Mechanisms underlying interferon-γ-induced priming of microglial reactive oxygen species production. PloS one 11(9), p. e0162497.

Stadlbauer, V. et al., 2020. Dysbiosis, gut barrier dysfunction and inflammation in dementia: A pilot study. BMC geriatrics 20(1), pp. 248-248.

Stansley, B., Post, J. and Hensley, K. 2012. A comparative review of cell culture systems for the study of microglial biology in Alzheimer's disease. Journal of neuroinflammation 9(1), pp. 115-115.

Stargardt, A. et al., 2013. Reduced amyloid- β degradation in early Alzheimer's disease but not in the APPswePS1dE9 and 3xTg-AD mouse models. Aging cell 12(3), pp. 499-507.

Steen, E. et al., 2005. Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease - Is this type 3 diabetes? Journal of Alzheimer's disease 7(1), pp. 63-80.

Sterniczuk, R., Antle, M. C., LaFerla, F. M. and Dyck, R. H. 2010. Characterization of the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: Part 2. Behavioral and cognitive changes. Brain research 1348, pp. 149-155.

Stiles, J. and Jernigan, T. L. 2010. The Basics of Brain Development. Neuropsychology review 20(4), pp. 327-348.

Stine, W. B., Jungbauer, L., Yu, C. and LaDu, M. 2010. Preparing Synthetic Aβ in Different Aggregation States. Alzheimer's Disease and Frontotemporal Dementia 670, pp. 13-32.

Stoddart, M. J. 2011. Cell Viability Assays: Introduction. In: Stoddart, M.J. ed. Mammalian Cell Viability: Methods and Protocols. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, pp. 1-6.

Suárez-Calvet, M. et al., 2018. CSF progranulin increases in the course of Alzheimer's disease and is associated with sTREM2, neurodegeneration and cognitive decline. EMBO molecular medicine 10(12).

Sun, M. et al. 2018. Microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids promote Th1 cell IL-10 production to maintain intestinal homeostasis. Nature communications 9(1), pp. 3555-3555.

Swardfager, W., Lanctôt, K., Rothenburg, L., Wong, A., Cappell, J. and Herrmann, N. 2010. A Meta-Analysis of Cytokines in Alzheimer's Disease. Biological psychiatry (1969) 68(10), pp. 930-941.

Taapken, S. M., Nisler, B., Newton, M., Sampsell-Barron, T., Leonhard, K., McIntire, E. and Montgomery, K. 2011. Karyotypic abnormalities in human induced pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells. Nature biotechnology 29(4), pp. 313-314.

Tabassum, R., Jeong, N. and Chung, H. 2019. Big data differential analysis of microglial cell responses in neurodegenerative diseases. Anatomy & cell biology 52(4), pp. 469-477.

Tachida, Y. et al. 2008. Interleukin-1 β up-regulates TACE to enhance α -cleavage of APP in neurons: resulting decrease in A β production. Journal of neurochemistry 104(5), pp. 1387-1393.

Takeda, K. and Akira, S. 2005. Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. International Immunology 17(1), pp. 1-14.

Tanaka, S., Ide, M., Shibutani, T., Ohtaki, H., Numazawa, S., Shioda, S. and Yoshida, T. 2006. Lipopolysaccharide-induced microglial activation induces learning and memory deficits without neuronal cell death in rats. Journal of neuroscience research 83(4), pp. 557-566.

Tang, C.H., Hsu, C., Yang, W. and Fong, Y. 2010. Lipoteichoic acid enhances IL-6 production in human synovial fibroblasts via TLR2 receptor, PKCdelta and c-Src dependent pathways. Biochemical pharmacology 79(11), pp. 1648-1657.

Tang, Y. and Le, W. 2016. Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Molecular neurobiology. 53(2), pp. 1181-1194.

Tariot, P. N., Farlow, M. R., Grossberg, G. T., Graham, S. M., McDonald, S. and Gergel, I. 2004. Memantine Treatment in Patients With Moderate to Severe Alzheimer Disease Already Receiving Donepezil: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association 291(3), pp. 317-324.

Taverniti, V. et al. 2021. Probiotics Modulate Mouse Gut Microbiota and Influence Intestinal Immune and Serotonergic Gene Expression in a Site-Specific Fashion. Frontiers in microbiology 12, pp. 706135-706135.

Taylor, P. R., Martinez-Pomares, L., Stacey, M., Lin, H. H., Brown, G. D. and Gordon, S. 2005. Macrophage receptors and immune recognition. Annual review of immunology 23(1), pp. 901-944.

Thinakaran, G. and Koo, E. H. 2008. Amyloid Precursor Protein Trafficking, Processing, and Function. The Journal of biological chemistry 283(44), pp. 29615-29619.

Timmerman, R., Burm, S. M. and Bajramovic, J. J. 2018. An overview of in vitro methods to study microglia. Frontiers in cellular neuroscience 12, pp. 242-242.

Topping, D. L. and Clifton, P. M. 2001. Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Human Colonic Function: Roles of Resistant Starch and Nonstarch Polysaccharides. Physiological Reviews 81(3), pp. 1031-1064.

Tseng, B. P. et al. 1999. Deposition of Monomeric, Not Oligomeric, Aβ Mediates Growth of Alzheimer's Disease Amyloid Plaques in Human Brain Preparations. Biochemistry (Easton) 38(32), pp. 10424-10431.

Tulkens, J. et al., 2020. Increased levels of systemic LPS-positive bacterial extracellular vesicles in patients with intestinal barrier dysfunction. Gut 69(1), pp. 191-193.

Tundo, G., Ciaccio, C., Sbardella, D., Boraso, M., Viviani, B., Coletta, M. and Marini, S. 2012. Somatostatin modulates insulin-degrading-enzyme metabolism: Implications for the regulation of microglia activity in AD. PloS one 7(4), p. e34376.

Turner, J. R. 2009. Intestinal mucosal barrier function in health and disease. Nature reviews. Immunology 9(11), pp. 799-809.

Uematsu, S. et al., 2006. Detection of pathogenic intestinal bacteria by Toll-like receptor 5 on intestinal CD11c+ lamina propria cells. Nature immunology 7(8), pp. 868-874.

Uhlen, M. et al. 2015. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science) 347(6220),

Van der Sluis, M. et al., 2006. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That MUC2 Is Critical for Colonic Protection. Gastroenterology (New York, N.Y.) 131(1), pp. 117-129.

Veldhoen, M., Hocking, R. J. Atkins, C. J. Locksley, R. M. and Stockinger, B. 2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity (Cambridge, Mass.) 24(2), pp. 179-189.

Vogel, C. and Marcotte, E. M. 2012. Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. Nature reviews. Genetics 13(4), pp. 227-232.

Vogt, N. M. et al., 2017. Gut microbiome alterations in Alzheimer's disease. Scientific reports 7(1), pp. 13537-13511.

Waldecker, M., Kautenburger, T., Daumann, H., Busch, C. and Schrenk, D., 2008. Inhibition of histone-deacetylase activity by short-chain fatty acids and some polyphenol metabolites formed in the colon. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 19(9), pp. 587-593.

Wampach, L. et al., 2017. Colonization and Succession within the Human Gut Microbiome by Archaea, Bacteria, and Microeukaryotes during the First Year of Life. Frontiers in microbiology 8, pp. 738-738.

Wang, H.Y., D'Andrea, M. and Nagele, R. 2002. Cerebellar diffuse amyloid plaques are derived from dendritic A β 42 accumulations in Purkinje cells. Neurobiology of aging 23(2), pp. 213-223.

Wang, N., Liang, H. and Zen, K. 2014. Molecular mechanisms that influence the macrophage M1-M2 polarization balance. Frontiers in immunology 5, pp. 614-614.

Wang, W. et al. 2021. All around suboptimal health — a joint position paper of the Suboptimal Health Study Consortium and European Association for Predictive, Preventive and Personalised Medicine. The EPMA journal 12(4), pp. 403-433.

Watanabe, T. et al., 2008. Decreased acetylcholine release is correlated to memory impairment in the Tg2576 transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Brain research 1249, pp. 222-228.

Weingarten, M., D., Lockwood, A. H. Hwo, S. and Kirschner, M. W. 1975. A Protein Factor Essential for Microtubule Assembly. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 72(5), pp. 1858-1862.

Weksler, B. B. et al. 2005. Blood-brain barrier-specific properties of a human adult brain endothelial cell line. The FASEB journal 19(13), pp. 1872-1874.

Welser-Alves, J. V. and Milner, R. 2013. Microglia are the major source of TNF- α and TGF- β 1 in postnatal glial cultures; regulation by cytokines, lipopolysaccharide, and vitronectin. Neurochemistry international 63(1), pp. 47-53.

Wenzel, T. J., Gates, E. J. Ranger, A. L. and Klegeris, A. 2020. Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) alone or in combination regulate select immune functions of microglia-like cells. Molecular and cellular neurosciences 105, pp. 103493-103493.

Whitmer, R. A., Gustafson, D. R., Barrett-Connor, E., Haan, M. N., Gunderson, E. P. and Yaffe, K. 2008. Central obesity and increased risk of dementia more than three decades later. Neurology 71(14), pp. 1057-1064.

Wickstead, E. S., Karim, H. A., Manuel, R. E., Biggs, C. S., Getting, S. J. and McArthur, S. 2020. Reversal of β -Amyloid-Induced Microglial Toxicity In Vitro by Activation of Fpr2/3. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2020, pp. 2139192-2139113.

Wightman, D. P. et al. 2021. A genome-wide association study with 1,126,563 individuals identifies new risk loci for Alzheimer's disease. Nature genetics 53(9), pp. 1276-1282.

Wikoff, W. R., Anfora, A. T., Liu, J., Schultz, P. G., Lesley, S. A., Peters, E. C. and Siuzdak, G. 2009. Metabolomics Analysis Reveals Large Effects of Gut Microflora on Mammalian Blood Metabolites. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS 106(10), pp. 3698-3703.

Wilcock, G. K., Ballard, C. G., Cooper, J. A. and Loft, H. 2008. Memantine for agitation/aggression and psychosis in moderately severe to severe Alzheimer's disease: a pooled analysis of 3 studies. J Clin Psychiatry 69(3), pp. 341-348.

Wilkinson, D. G., Francis, P. T., Schwam, E. and Payne-Parrish, J., 2004. Cholinesterase Inhibitors Used in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease: The Relationship Between Pharmacological Effects and Clinical Efficacy. Drugs & Aging 21(7), pp. 453-478.

Wiltfang, J. et al. 2007. Amyloid beta peptide ratio 42/40 but not A beta 42 correlates with phospho-Tau in patients with low- and high-CSF A beta 40 load. Journal of neurochemistry 101(4), pp. 1053-1059.

Woitowich, N. C., Beery, A. K. and Woodruff, T. 2020. A 10-year follow-up study of sex inclusion in the biological sciences. eLife 9, pp. 1-8.

Woolf, Z. et al. 2021. Isolation of adult mouse microglia using their in vitro adherent properties. STAR protocols 2(2), pp. 100518-100518.

Wu, A., Ying, Z. and Gomez-Pinilla, F. 2004. The interplay between oxidative stress and brain-derived neurotrophic factor modulates the outcome of a saturated fat diet on synaptic plasticity and cognition. The European journal of neuroscience 19(7), pp. 1699-1707.

Wu, S.Y., Pan, B., Tsai, S., Chiang, Y., Huang, B., Mo, F. and Kuo, Y. 2020. BDNF reverses aging-related microglial activation. Journal of neuroinflammation 17(1), pp. 210-218.

Xiong, F., Ge, W. and Ma, C. 2019. Quantitative proteomics reveals distinct composition of amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia 15(3), pp. 429-440.

Xu, H. et al., 2003. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. The Journal of clinical investigation 112(12), pp. 1821-1830.

Yamamoto, M., Kiyota, T., Horiba, M., Buescher, J., Walsh, S., Gendelman, H. and Ikezu, T. 2007. Interferon- γ and Tumor Necrosis Factor- α Regulate Amyloid- β Plaque Deposition and β -Secretase Expression in Swedish Mutant APP Transgenic Mice. The American journal of pathology 170(2), pp. 680-692.

Yan, Y., Cheng, L., Chen, X., Wang, Q., Duan, M., Ma, J., Zhao, L., Jiang, X. and Ai, J. 2017. Estrogen deficiency is associated with hippocampal morphological remodeling of early postmenopausal mice. Oncotarget 8(13), pp. 21892-21902.

Yang, I., Corwin, E. J., Brennan, P. A., Jordan, S., Murphy, J. R. and Dunlop, A. 2016. The Infant Microbiome: Implications for Infant Health and Neurocognitive Development. Nursing research 65(1), pp. 76-88.

Yano, J. M. et al., 2015. Indigenous Bacteria from the Gut Microbiota Regulate Host Serotonin Biosynthesis. Cell 163(1), pp. 258-258.

Yong, S. J., Tong, T., Chew, J. and Lim, W. 2020. Antidepressive Mechanisms of Probiotics and Their Therapeutic Potential. Frontiers in neuroscience 13, pp. 1361-1361.

Young, K. and Morrison, H. 2018. Quantifying Microglia Morphology from Photomicrographs of Immunohistochemistry Prepared Tissue Using ImageJ. Journal of Visualized Experiments 2018(136).

Zeng, J., Liu, J., Qu, Q., Zhao, X. and Zhang, J. 2021. JKAP, Th1 cells, and Th17 cells are dysregulated and inter-correlated, among them JKAP and Th17 cells relate to cognitive impairment progression in Alzheimer's disease patients. Irish journal of medical science.

Zhang, J.-X. et al. 2019. Rescue of cognitive deficits in APP/PS1 mice by accelerating the aggregation of β -amyloid peptide. Alzheimer's research & therapy 11(1), pp. 106-106.

Zhang, L. et al. 2017. Altered Gut Microbiota in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Alzheimer's disease 60(4), pp. 1241-1257.

Zhang, R., Xue, G., Wang, S., Zhang, L., Shi, C. and Xie, X. 2012. Novel object recognition as a facile behavior test for evaluating drug effects in AβPP/PS1 Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Journal of Alzheimer's disease 31(4), pp. 801-812.

Zhang, Y.Y., Dong, L., Bao, H., Liu, Y., An, F. and Zhang, G. 2021. Inhibition of interleukin-1β plays a protective role in Alzheimer's disease by promoting microRNA-9-5p and downregulating targeting protein for xenopus kinesin-like protein 2. International immunopharmacology 97, pp. 107578-107578.

Zhao, W., Xie, W., Xiao, Q., Beers, D. and Appel, S. H. 2006. Protective effects of an antiinflammatory cytokine, interleukin-4, on motoneuron toxicity induced by activated microglia. Journal of neurochemistry 99(4), pp. 1176-1187.

Ziv, E. and Bendayan, M. 2000. Intestinal absorption of peptides through the enterocytes. Microscopy research and technique 49(4), pp. 346-352.